Examination of the effects of fever and anti-pyrectics on goldfish thrombocytes

by

Reema Joshi

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Physiology, Cell and Developmental Biology

Department of Biological Sciences University of Alberta

© Reema Joshi, 2024

ABSTRACT

Ancient philosophers observed and documented fever as an increased body temperature in response to infection. Nowadays, fever is regarded as a symptom of infection and inflammation and therefore is often supressed by NSAID drugs. A common hypothesis for the benefits of a fever is that the rise in temperature hinders a pathogen's virulence and acts as a switch to activate the body's immune response. However, in literature, there is ongoing debate about the exact effect of fever on host health and host response to immune challenge, therefore, begging the question: does fever have net-positive or net-negative effects on host health? To answer this question, early studies utilized endothermic models placed in higher or lower temperature environments than their average core body temperature. This however, added the confound heat induced stress responses which also impacted host health and immune responses. Interestingly, fever has been conserved for millions of years, and in ectothermic species, a raise in core body temperature is achieved by relocation to warmer environments. Ectotherms such as reptiles, amphibians, fish and insects display behavioral thermoregulation. The conservation of febrile responses spans over more than 550 million years of evolution, further procuring the question about the potential benefits of fever for host health.

Previous studies using teleost models have shown that behavioral fever can upregulate proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory gene expression at different timepoints in acute inflammation. Our lab has previously characterized enhanced immune responses in febrile conditions showing faster recruitment kinetics, altered anti-microbial profiles of effector cells and a more efficient switch from pro-inflammation to pro-resolution. While some leukocyte subsets have been examined, no teleost studies have shown the impact of fever on thrombocytes. Thrombocytes are considered "ancient platelets" and platelets in mammals have been shown to

ii

play critical roles in immune responses and possess immunomodulator capacities. While platelets were first thought to only have a role in hemostasis, they are now regarded as a dynamic cell population with versatile interactions and functions throughout the body. Thrombocytes have been observed in many ectothermic species including amphibians, reptiles, avians and fish with a high degree of conservation in cell morphology. However, aside from morphology and some studies on functional capacities of goldfish thrombocytes, little is known about thrombocyte functions within immune responses. Furthermore, while some studies have highlighted conserved functions in thrombocytes, the quantification of thrombocytes participating in the site of immune challenge is limited. While mammalian studies have long demonstrated that NSAIDs like aspirin impact platelet function, the impact of NSAID induced fever-inhibition on thrombocytes has not been explored. To examine the impact of fever-inhibition I used an established cutaneous infection model for tissue repair. Tissue repair is a tightly regulated process that relies on stages such as inflammation for pathogen clearance after tissue injury. Platelets have been long demonstrated to be crucial in tissue repair and therefore the quantification of thrombocytes in febrile and fever-inhibited conditions may highlight a potential benefit of a febrile response.

Overall, my results show that fever alters the kinetics of leukocytes and thrombocytes in the peritoneum in both a natural fever and fixed temperature conditions. Febrile responses were associated with an earlier recruitment of leukocytes consisting primarily of neutrophils, followed by macrophages. Leukocytes in febrile conditions demonstrated a significant reduction in ROS and increase in NO for pathogen clearance. Furthermore, lymphocyte involvement was increased in natural fever conditions. Thrombocyte populations and proliferation was significantly reduced in the peritoneum of fish in febrile conditions compared to fixed temperature conditions. The

iii

disparity in thrombocyte population was even greater in the tissue repair model between febrile and fever-inhibited conditions. Furthermore, thrombocyte upregulation was sustained in feverinhibited conditions compared to febrile conditions, and key pro-inflammatory and antiinflammatory cytokines involved in tissue repair were dysregulated in fever-inhibited conditions. Finally, histological staining revealed the delay in tissue repair in fever-inhibited conditions. Taken together the data suggests a dysregulation of acute inflammatory processes by ketorolac fever-inhibition.

PREFACE

This thesis is an original work by Reema N. Joshi. My research project received ethical approval from the University of Alberta Ethics Board. Animal use and care protocols for this project can be found under Protocol #706 entitled "Comparative biology of fish phagocytic antimicrobial responses." This research was funded through the National Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) grant awarded to Dr. Barreda.

Some of the research conducted during my thesis have been apart of collaborations, published (or are in the process of publication) in peer-reviewed journals as follows:

- Joshi RN, Soliman AM, Haddad F, Barreda DR. Precise evaluation of cell death through a modified annexin V/propidium iodide apoptosis protocol using Flow Cytometry. Submitted to Methods in Molecular Biology.
- Michnik ML, Semple SL, Joshi RN, Whittaker P., Barreda D.R. The use of salmonid epithelial cells to characterize the toxicity of *Tenacibaculum maritimum*-soluble extracellular products. Journal of Applied Microbiology.: lxae049. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/jambio/lxae049. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/38409849/.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The journey of my Master's degree has been both rewarding and transformative to my growth as a student and person. Many factors contributed to how this journey played out and how it felt. With research, or really anything in life, there are always ups and downs, challenges we don't predict, failures we don't foresee, and best of all, blessings we never expected.

Firstly, I'd like to thank my family for their unwavering support and constant belief in me as a person. Thank you to my grandparents, Vishnubhai and Padmaben Joshi and Madhukanta Yagnik, for putting dreams in my heart and establishing my core values well before my time. There were times when my values were all I had to fall back on. Thank you to my mom, Sangita, for listening to me talk about my experiments and findings for hours even though I know your *thing* is economics. I'm sure it wasn't easy, watching me get knocked down when I failed at some things, but I'm grateful that every time, I had you to tell me that I could do it and to have faith in God. From you, came my resilience. Thank you to my dad, Nirmal, for having more confidence in me than I had in myself, for standing by me, and for watching my back. From you, came my safety and security. Thank you to my brother, Udit, for being half of my beating heart, and steadying me when my half beat a little too fast. From you, came my drive, and with you is the other half of my heart.

Thank you to Utsavee and Mansi for figuratively and *literally* dragging me out of the bad times, and to Fatemeh and Conrad, for giving me the best conversations and laughs in my worst moments. Your love and contributions in my life have saved me in more ways than you know, more than I could express.

Next, I'd like to thank Dr. Dan Barreda, for providing me with the opportunity of being in his lab and allowing me to explore all the ideas I had. My experience in your lab has taught me so much more than just science inquiry. Most of all, I'd like to thank you for hand-picking some of the best individuals from all over the world and putting them all in a lab for me to learn from and laugh with.

To those handpicked individuals, you all are more than what I could even imagine asking for. Better than the best, funnier than the rest. Thank you, Dr. Amro Soliman, for teaching me everything from cell culture to patience. Thank you, Farah Haddad, for guidance, empathy and

vi

love you have shown me constantly. Matt Michnik, you absolute meme king, thank you for being one of my realest friends, hearing me out when I needed, and constantly being an example of outstanding work ethic. Thank you to Ethan Proctor, for the millions of times you validated me, for supporting and participating in adventures like Bingo, and most of all, thank you for Batman. To Dr. Shawna Semple, thank you for re-defining my experience in science, being the one source of light in my darkest moments, sharing a cup of chai and *tea*, for being one of the most wholesome friends I have, for every deep conversation, for being the sole reason I came to lab some days, and for George. Thank you, Dale Archer, you champion of R, for being the best listener, being supportive and guiding me through any crazy statistical adventure I wanted to go on.

Thank you to Dr. Carla Starchuk and Dr. Torah Hunt, for providing me with amazing teaching opportunities throughout my degree.

A special thanks to my committee members: Dr. Stafford and Dr. Hannington. Thank you for guiding me throughout my thesis writing process/project and being so great with my 3 AM emailing habits. Thank you to Dr. Kieth Tierney for being my acting supervisor. I'd like to extend a special thanks to my first PI in research, Dr. Debbie McKenzie, for providing a safe and engaging learning environment where I caught the research bug!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
1.2 THESIS OBJECTIVES	3
1.3 ACUTE INFLAMMATION AND FEVER	3
1.3.1 Acute inflammation	3
1.3.2 Fever	4
1.4 CARASSIUS AURATUS AS A MODEL ORGANISM	5
1.5 INDUCTION OF THE FEBRILE RESPONSE	6
1.5.1 Aeromonas Veronii	6
1.5.1.1 Overview of the Aeromonas genus	6
1.5.1.2 Mechanisms of virulence in Aeromonas	7
1.5.1.3 Aeromonas infections in fish	7
1.5.2 Zymosan	8
1.5.2.1 Recognition of Zymosan by Host Immune System	8
1.5.2.2 Zymosan Induction of Acute Inflammatory Responses	9
1.5.3 Other Pyrogens Encountered by Fish	9
1.5.3.1 Exogenous fungal species	9
1.5.3.2 Exogenous bacterial species	10
1.5.3.3 Exogenous parasitic species	10
1.5.3.4 Exogenous virus infections	.11
1.6 CELLULAR COMPONENTS OF ACUTE INFLAMMATION	.11
1.6.1 Innate Immune cells	.11
1.6.1.1 Neutrophils	12
1.6.1.2 Macrophages and Monocytes	13
1.6.1.3 Lymphocytes	15
1.6.1.4 Platelets and Thrombocytes	16
1.7 SOLUBLE FACTORS IN ACUTE INFLAMMATION	21
1.7.1 Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)	21
1.7.2 Nitric Oxide Species (NO)	21
1.7.3 Cytokines and Chemokines in Acute Inflammation	22
1.7.3.1 Pro-Inflammatory Cytokines	22
1.7.3.1.1 TNFα	22
1.7.3.1.2 IL1β	23
1.7.3.2 Anti-inflammatory mediators	24
1.7.3.2.1 TGF-β	24
1.7.3.2.2 IL-10	25
1.8 THE ROLE OF ACUTE INFLAMMATION IN TISSUE REPAIR	26
1.8.1 The tissue repair process	26
1.8.2 Stages of Tissue Repair	26
1.8.2.1 Hemostasis	26
1.8.2.2 Inflammation	27

1.8.2.3 Proliferation	27
1.8.2.4 Tissue remodelling	28
1.8.2.4.1 Collagen	28
1.8.3 Cells involved in tissue repair	28
1.8.3.1 Fibroblasts	29
1.8.3.2 Platelets	29
1.9 THE ROLE OF THERMOREGULATION ON THROMBOCYTES AND TISSUE	
REPAIR	29
1.9.1 The role of temperature on platelet and thrombocyte activation and function	29
1.9.2 The role of temperature on tissue repair	30
1.9.3 Inhibition of the febrile response using anti-pyretics	30
1.9.3.1 Development of NSAIDs	30
1.9.3.2 Current Understanding of NSAID mechanism of action	31
1.9.3.3 Ketorolac as the representative NSAID	32
1.9.3.4 Known effects of antipyretics on immune system and wound healing	32
1.9.4 Summary	33
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS	36
2.1 ANIMALS	36
2.1 ANIMALS 2.1.1 Goldfish	30 36
2.1.1 Oolajish	36
2.2 Immone Challendes	36
2.2.1 Intrupertioned injections with Lymosan	36
2.2.2.1 Culturing Aeromonas veronii	36
2.2.2.2.1 Cutating reforming veronities veronities infected wound site	37
2.3 TEMPERATURE CONDITIONS	37
2.3 1 Static Temperature Tank	37
2 3 2 Annular Thermal Preference Tank	37
2.3 ADMINISTRATION OF KETOROLAC	37
2.3.1 Intraperitoneal Injection with Ketorolac	37
2.4 Isolation of Peritoneal Leukocytes	
2.4.1 Intraperitoneal Lavage Using Heparinized PBS	38
2.4.2 Enumerating peritoneal leukocytes	38
2.5 LEUKOCYTE BIOASSAYS FOR IMAGING FLOW CYTOMETRY	38
2.5.1 Reactive Oxygen Species and Nitric Oxide Assay	38
2.5.2 Monoclonal Anti-Thrombocyte Antibody Assay	39
2.6 HISTOLOGICAL STAINING	39
2.6.1 Cytochemical Staining	39
2.6.1.1 Sudan Black B Staining	39
2.6.1.2 Hema 3	40
2.6.1.3 Periodic Acid Schiff (PAS) Stain	40
2.6.2 Histological Staining of Tissues	40
2.6.2.1 Fixing and Paraffinizing	40

2.6.2.2 Masson's Trichrome stain	
2.6.2.3 Hematoxylin and Eosin Stain	
2.7 QUANTITATIVE PCR	
2.7.1 RNA Extraction	41
2.7.2 cDNA generation	42
2.7.3 Primers	42
2.7.4 qPCR Assembly	43
2.8 MEDIAS	
2.8.1 Phosphate Buffered Saline (10X)	43
2.8.2 Resuspension media	43
2.9 OVERALL EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN	
CHAPTER 3: BEHAVIORAL FEVER IS A ROBUST REGULATOR OF FUNCTI	ONAL
INNATE IMMUNE RESPONSES.	
3.0 Introduction	
3.1 FEVER ALTERS THE RECRUITMENT KINETICS OF LEUKOCYTES IN GOLDFISH CHALLEN	GED WITH
ZYMOSAN	50
3.2 FEVER ALTERS THE KINETICS OF NEUTROPHILS, MACROPHAGE/MONOCYTES AND	
LYMPHOCYTES IN ACUTE INFLAMMATION.	51
3.3 IDENTIFICATION OF THROMBOCYTES USING CYTOCHEMICAL STAINING, FLOW CYTOM	ETRY,
AND GENE EXPRESSION	53
3.3.1 Cytochemical Staining of Thrombocytes	53
3.3.2 Goldfish thrombocytes can be detected using imaging cytometry after staining	g with a
monoclonal antibody	54
3.3.3 Alterations in peritoneal thrombocytes are reflected in the hematopoietic com	partment
by molecular quantification of c-mpl	55
3.4 DISCUSSION	
CHAPTER 4: INHIBITION OF FEVER DYSREGULATES THROMBOCYTES A	ND
OVERALL TISSUE REPAIR PROCESSES.	
4.0 Introduction	
4.1 INHIBITION OF BEHAVIORAL FEVER WITH KETOROLAC DELAYS TISSUE REPAIR	
4.1.1 Histological analysis	
4.2 KETOROLAC TREATMENT DYSREGULATES EXPRESSION OF THROMBOPOIETIN RECEPT	OR IN
FURUNCLE AND HEMATOPOIETIC SITE.	
4.3 TREATMENT WITH KETOROLAC RESULTS IN DYSREGULATED CYTOKINE GENE EXPRES	sion 72
4.3.1 TNFα	72
4.3.2 IL-1β	72
4.3.3 TGF-β	73
4.3.4 IL-10	
4.4 DISCUSSION	73
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	
5.1 Discussion	85

5.2 Future Directions and Limitations	89
5.2.1 Assessing thrombocyte function in the site of immune challenge	89
5.2.2 Assessment of leukocyte function in response to fever-inhibition	
5.2.3 Assessment of thrombocyte function within tissue repair	
5.3 Relevance	
5.3.1 Teleost Health	
5.3.2 Strategies in Mitigating Inflammation	
REFERENCES	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.6 Functional and phenotypic attributes of mammalian platelets and teleost thrombocytes

- Table 2.1 Composition of RT Mastermix for cDNA
- Table 2.2 PCR Thermal Cycler Specifications
- Table 2.3: Components of Ponceau-Acid-Fuchsin Solution
- Table 2.4: Components of Acetic Aniline Blue

Table 2.5: Components of 10X Phosphate Buffered Saline

 Table 2.6: Components of MGFL-15 Medium (Serum-free)

- **Table 2.7:** Components of 10X Hanks Solution (HBSS)
- Table 2.8: Components of Nucleic Acid Precursor Solution

 Table 2.9 Primer Sequences for Quantitative PCR

 Table 2.10 qPCR Master Mix Ratio per well

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.9.1 Methods Summary for Characterization of Thrombocytes

Figure 3.2.1 Total leukocyte infiltration throughout acute inflammation in static and dynamic temperature conditions.

Figure 3.2.2 Behavioral fever altered recruitment kinetics of specific innate immune cell subpopulations.

Figure 3.2.3 Behavioral fever allows for the selectivity in ROS and NO antimicrobial responses of leukocytes.

Figure 3.3.1 Behavioral thermoregulation altered recruitment kinetics of goldfish thrombocytes in-vivo.

Figure 3.3.2 Specialized mucosal immunoglobulins allow for isolation and detection of thrombocytes within the peritoneum during acute inflammation.

Figure 3.3.3 Molecular detection of thrombocyte proliferation in the kidney of goldfish post zymosan challenge

Figure 4.1 Histopathology of goldfish furuncles in static, dynamic and fever-inhibited conditions

Figure 4.2 Thrombocyte proliferation and activation is dysregulated at furuncle and hematopoietic site with fever inhibition

Figure 4.3 Quantitative PCR of furuncle tissue demonstrating the dysregulation of common proand anti-inflammatory cytokines of fish placed in three conditions: Static (16°C), Dynamic, and Ketorolac-inhibited.

List of Abbreviations

2-AG 2-arachidonicglycerol

AA arachidonic acid

ACP acid phosphatase

ADP adenosine diphosphate

ANEA A-napthyl acetate esterase

APC antigen presenting cells

ATPT annular thermal preference tank

CCL2 chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2

CCL7 chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 7

c-mpl thrombopoietin receptor

COX2 cyclooxygenase 2

CSF-1R colony stimulating factor receptor 1

CSR class switch recombination

CXCL8 Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 8

DAMP damage associated molecular pattern

DNA deoxyribonucleic acid

dpi says post infection

ECM extracellular matrix

EGF epidermal growth factor

ETC electron transport chain

FGF fibroblast growth factor

G-CSF granulocyte colony stimulating factor

HMGB1 high mobility group box 1 protein

hpi hours post injection

HSP heat shock protein

IFNγ interferon gamma

Ig immunoglubulin

IL-1 Interleukin 1

IL-10 interleukin 10

IL10R1 interleukin 10 receptor subunit 1 IL10R2 interleukin 10 receptor subunit 2 IL1β Interleukin 1 beta IL-6 Interleukin 6 IL-8 Interleukin 8 IM intramuscular iNOS inducible nitric oxide synthase enzyme IV intravenous JAK Janus kinase LPS lipopolysaccharide mAb monoclonal antibody MAF macrophage activating factors MCSF-R macrophage colony stimulating factor receptor MGF macrophage growth factor MMR macrophage mannose receptor MPO myeloperoxidase NET neutrophil extracellular trap NFκB nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells NK natural killer NO nitric oxide NSAID non steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs PAF platelet activating factor PAMP pathogen associated molecular pattern PAS periodic acid schiff PCR polymerase chain reaction PGE2 Prostaglandin E2 PKM primary kidney macrophages PLA2 phospholipase A 2 PRR pattern recognition receptor qPCR quantitative polymerase chain reaction

RNA ribonucleic acid RNI reactive nitrogen intermediates ROS reactive oxygen species SOCS3 supressor of cytokine signalling 3 STAT3 signal transducer and activator of transcription SYK spleen tyrosine kinase T1R type 1 taste receptor T2R type 2 taste receptor TCR T cell receptor TD dynamic temperature TGFβ transforming growth factor beta Tket ketorolac conditions TLR toll-like receptor TLR2 toll-like receptor 2 TLR6 toll like receptor 6 TMS tricane mesylate TNF Tumor necrosis factor TNFR-1 tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 TNFR-2 tumor necrosis factor receptor 2 TNFa Tumor necrosis factor alpha TS static temperature VEGF vascular endothelial growth factor *v-mpl* myeloproliferative leukemia virus oncogene

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Fever is the physiological increase in the core body temperature of an organism, often in response to an infection. Fever has been conserved through million years of evolution. The earliest definitions of fever arise from ancient Greek physicians such as Hippocrates in 400 BC and Galen 200 AD, in which a systemic increase in temperature was qualitatively observed. Furthermore, these ancient physicians categorized various fevers, indicating that patients often did not recover from ongoing high fevers, but a short febrile period allowed for enhanced healing capacity (Sajadi et al. 2012). Therefore, the debate of if fever had a net-negative or net-positive effect was ongoing. To complicate matters even further, in efforts to replicate a physiological fever, several models increase external temperature of an endothermic animal. This in turn causes physiological stress, resulting in systemic changes throughout the body, which cannot be directly correlated to having a fever.

Fever in endotherms is initiated through the detection of damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) on myeloid cells which triggers a cascade of molecular pathways that make up the pro-inflammatory response (Evans et al. 2015). Innate immune cells that detect PAMPs will release prostaglandin E₂ (PGE2) and pyrogenic cytokines (cytokines that can initiate the febrile response) such as Interleukin-1 (IL-1), Interleukin-6 (IL-6) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF). IL-6 acts on the median preoptic nucleus region of the hypothalamus and stimulates the synthesis of cyclooxygenase 2 (COX2), an enzyme that generates additional PGE₂ (Coceani et al. 1986). This prostaglandin will bind to EP3 receptors and trigger the sympathetic nervous system to release noradrenaline. Noradrenaline will increase thermogenesis in brown adipose tissue and induce vasoconstriction to reduce passive heat loss (Evans et al. 2015). Up until the 1970s it was thought that only endotherms had fevers, however, in the 1970s several research groups reported that ectothermic animals displayed a behavioral relocation to warmer temperature environments to increase core body temperature (Reynolds 1977; Kluger 1979). Soon after, it was discovered that both endotherms and ectotherms utilize PGE₂ and their central nervous systems to induce febrile responses (Evans et al. 2015). Since then, behavioral thermoregulation by ectotherms has been a powerful tool in examining the febrile response as ectotherms re-locate to warmer

temperatures, thereby bypassing the thermal stress effects caused by increasing environmental temperatures in endotherms.

Fever is a hallmark of acute inflammation, and concurrent with studies exploring the conservation of fever, several other aspects of acute inflammation are also conserved throughout evolution (Hurley 1972; Evans et al. 2015). The numerous examples of the conservation of the components of acute inflammation point to acute inflammation being a necessary process in host defense against the external environment to restore homeostasis. A fundamental pathway in the restoration of homeostasis is the tissue repair pathway. The tissue repair pathway is a complex biological process that involves interaction between connective cells at the site of tissue injury and various populations of immune cells. It consists of four tightly regulated phases including: hemostasis, inflammation, proliferation, and tissue remodeling (Gonzalez et al. 2016; Schultz et al. 2011). Upon detection of tissue injury, pathways to reduce blood loss are activated, and a hemostatic plug is formed via platelet and erythrocyte interaction (Periavah et al. 2017). Several leukocytes are recruited by activation of hemostasis pathways to clear any pathogens that entered the host. Concurrently, there is an increase in several pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines such as IL1 β , TNF α , and IL-8 for the recruitment of leukocytes and promotion of acute inflammation (Chen et al. 2018). Recruited innate immune cells carry out various antimicrobial effector functions such as pathogen capture, phagocytosis, and release of antimicrobial molecules such as reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen intermediates (RNI) (Underhill et al. 2005). After pathogen clearance, several other cytokines are upregulated for the resolution of acute inflammation including IL-10, and TGF-β (Iyer and Cheng 2012; Chen et al. 2018). The resolution of acute inflammation leads to the initiation of the proliferative phase of tissue repair in which leukocytes such as macrophages, neutrophils and platelets release several growth factors such as epidermal growth factor (EGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) (Schultz et al. 2011). The upregulation of growth factor release is supported by cytokines such as IL-10 and TGFβ, and the proliferation of epidermal cells, vascular cells and fibroblasts results in the rebuilding of damaged tissue. The proliferating cells in turn create various components of tissue structure such as collagen (Gonzalez et al. 2016).

In this thesis, I utilized a teleost fish model to examine the contributions of fever in a fundamental process of restoring homeostasis, tissue repair. Furthermore, I examined the impact of fever inhibition on a dynamic but under-characterized cell population, thrombocytes (platelet ancestor). With the use of a self resolving zymosan induction of acute inflammation, I was able to identify and enumerate thrombocytes within the peritoneum throughout the acute inflammatory window. With the use of a self resolving cutaneous infection with *Aeromonas veronii*, I was able to examine impact of and anti-pyretic (fever inhibiting drug) ketorolac on tissue repair. Over the years my lab has contributed various investigations that exemplify the immune enhancing feature of a natural febrile response. I hypothesized that the inhibition of fever would subdue the immune enhancement effect of fever, and lead to pathophysiological states in tissue repair.

1.2 THESIS OBJECTIVES

The main objective of my thesis was to characterize the potential contributions of fever in acute inflammation by assessing the impact of fever on leukocytes and thrombocytes after immune challenge. The two immune challenge models I utilized to represent restoration of homeostasis were a self resolving zymosan induced peritonitis, and a cutaneous epidermal infection with a gram-negative bacterium. To dissect the impact of fever on leukocyte and thrombocyte kinetics, fish after immune challenge were placed in either fixed static temperature tanks or allowed to exhibit thermal preference in a dynamic temperature gradient (ATPT). My specific cell of focus was thrombocytes, often referred to as ancient platelets. My research focussed on assessing the contributions of a dynamic behavioral fever on thrombocyte kinetics and restoration of homeostasis in tissue repair. Specific aims were (1) characterization of goldfish thrombocytes using histology, flow cytometry and qPCR, (2) assessing thrombocyte kinetics in static and dynamic temperature conditions, (3) assessing the impact of fever-inhibition on overall tissue repair.

1.3 ACUTE INFLAMMATION AND FEVER

1.3.1 Acute inflammation

Inflammation is a conserved process in vertebrate immunity that is tightly regulated using an array of cellular and protein cascades, which occurs in response to tissue injury and/or pathogenic entry into the host organism. The five cardinal signs of inflammation were

characterized by ancient Roman philosophers between 30 B.C. and 200 A.D., which are: rubor (redness), tumour (swelling), calor (heat), dolor (pain), and functio laesa (loss of function) (Hurley 1972). Although these signs of acute inflammation are currently viewed as symptoms that require treatment, the requirement of inflammation in tissue healing and restoration of homeostasis have been known since the 19th century contributions of Metchnikoff (Medzhitov 2010). The duration of the upregulation of pro-inflammatory mediators and subsequent effector cells allows us to categorize inflammation as acute or chronic. Acute inflammation is observed to have a rapid onset and a short-lived duration lasting from days to weeks while chronic inflammation can have either a slow or rapid onset and a longer duration lasting from several months to years. The goal of acute inflammation is pathogen clearance, promotion of tissue repair and return to homeostasis (John Victor Hurley 1972; Medzhitov 2010; Tauber 2003). When acute inflammation is not resolved at a particular site, it becomes chronic inflammation and pathophysiological phenotypes become prevalent (Tauber 2003; Nathan and Ding 2010). Multiple cellular and molecular components in the inflammation timeline can trigger a switch to resolving the inflammation, such that it does not become chronic (Sugimoto et al. 2016). These interacting multi-level pathways can be amalgamated into the following phases: induction (using endogenous or exogenous pyrogens), cellular and protein mediation, transition to resolution of inflammation, resolution, and finally return to homeostasis (Serhan et al. 2020).

1.3.2 Fever

Fever, or pyrexia in endotherms is defined as an increase in core body temperature from basal temperatures that are predetermined by the thermoregulatory center in the organism's hypothalamus (Balli et al. 2022). For example, in humans, a low-grade fever is between 37.3-38.0°C, a moderate grade fever is between 38.1-39°C and a high-grade fever is between 39.1-41°C (Balli et al. 2022). There are multiple factors that determine an organism's core body temperature such as metabolic rate, body mass, and several ecological factors (Clarke and Rothery 2007). Interestingly fever has been conserved for over 550 million years in both endothermic and exothermic vertebrates (Kluger 1979). Endothermic organisms internally produce heat to elevate core body temperature, whereas endotherms rely on the environment to elevate core body temperature(Labocha and Hayes 2008). Endothermic regulation of body temperature can occur through generation of mechanical heat via shivering and evaporative cooling or transpiration (Balli et al. 2022). In addition to behavioral fever, endotherms utilize

metabolic processes that are altered in febrile conditions for thermogenesis, and prevention of additional heat loss (Terrien et al. 2011; Garami et al. 2018). Endothermic fever is classically initiated after the detection of DAMPs or PAMPs by PRRs on circulating or tissue resident cells that trigger a pro-inflammatory and antimicrobial response. Cytokines such as TNFa and IL1β act as potent pyrogenic cytokines that reach the pre-optic nucleus of the hypothalamus and induce an increase in prostaglandins such as PGE2. PGE2 plays a significant role in the nervous system resulting in vasoconstriction of peripheral blood vessels (to reduce heat loss), shivering of large muscles and thermogenesis (Roth and Blatteis 2014). In comparison, ectothermic vertebrates include fishes, amphibians and reptiles that physically relocate to warmer areas to cause an increase in body temperature (Evans et al. 2015; Kluger 1979). While fever is well known to be associated as a response to infection, there are still limited studies that examine the contributions of fever to host defence and survivability. Furthermore, to induce an increase in core body temperature, a fish swims to warmer waters often closer to the surface of a water body or the shore of a water body. In swimming to warmer waters, the fish increases its risk of predation and capture (Rakus et al. 2017). However, regulation of body temperature and induction of behavioral fever has been shown to enhance immune response to pathogens in multiple ectothermic organisms (Rakus et al. 2017; Evans et al 2015). Although fever is associated with potential benefits to host defense, an uncontrolled increase in temperature, termed hyperpyrexia, is implicated in multiple pathologies and mortalities in organisms (Balli et al. 2022; Walter et al. 2016). This has led to the development and administration of anti-pyretic drugs for the reduction of fever (Prajitha et al. 2019). However, the widespread use of antipyrectics throughout clinical and household settings is not sufficiently supported by scientific studies and potential benefits of thermoregulation may be attenuated in the suppression of fever (El-Radhi 2012). This may be because mammalian studies often utilize an increase in exogenous temperature to simulate a fever. However, exogenous mechanical temperature increases elicit physiological stress responses in endotherms and therefore fails to replicate an organism's internal thermoregulatory machinery.

1.4 CARASSIUS AURATUS AS A MODEL ORGANISM

Fever was first characterized in goldfish in 1977 in which the fever provided goldfish with a specific survival advantage (Covert and Reynolds 1977). After the initial characterization of fever in goldfish came the identification of fever in other teleosts (Bly and Clem 1992;Flajnik

1996;Köllner and Kotterba 2002). Unlike endotherms, ectotherms such as goldfish lack the certain metabolic pathways utilized by endotherms for generating or dissipating bodily heat, therefore the behavioral thermal preference of goldfish is a strong indicator of the febrile response (Kluger 1979; Hasday et al. 2014). Even amongst teleost, many species vary in their tolerated thermal range. Goldfish have a thermal tolerance from 0°C to 43°C and can be acclimated in water temperatures anywhere between 15°C and 25°C (Scharsack and Franke 2022). Due to the high range of thermal tolerance, goldfish are an ideal organism to examine fever without the risk of thermal stress.

1.5 INDUCTION OF THE FEBRILE RESPONSE

1.5.1 Aeromonas Veronii

1.5.1.1 Overview of the Aeromonas genus

Species within the Aeromonas genus are ubiquitously present and known to cause disease in many aquatic and mammalian species (Janda and Abbott 2010). During the mid-1970s, gramnegative aeromonads were organized into two major groups separated by growth characteristics and biochemical features (Fernández-Bravo and Figueras 2020; Janda and Abbott 201). A mesophilic group contained motile species with an optimal growth range between 35-37°C, and a psychrophilic group containing non-motile species with an optimal growth range between 22-25°C. Some species within the mesophilic group are associated with infections in humans while some species in the psychrophilic group caused diseases in fish and other aquatic animals (Janda and Duffey 1988; Joseph and Carnahan 1994). Using 16sRNA gene sequencing, multiple species and strains within the genus have been characterized, and phylogenetic studies continue to provide evidence for the biochemical distinctiveness between species and strains (Janda and Abbott 2010).

Aeromonas veronii was first distinguished from other members in the genus in 1988 and is a genomospecies with *Aeromonas hydrophilia* and *Aeromonas caviae* (Janda and Abbott 2010). These three genomospecies are responsible for greater than 85% of human infections and environmental isolations (Janda and Abbott 1998). Total bacterial isolation from infection and freshwater shows that *A. salmonicida* is more prevalent in infection of vertebrates and in freshwater, and *A. veronii* is more prevalent in vertebrates and invertebrates such as arthropods, as well as in both fresh and saltwater environments (Janda and Abbott 2010).

1.5.1.2 Mechanisms of virulence in Aeromonas

The complex virulence factors of Aeromonads contribute to immune evasion and infection of the host. Numerous virulence genes are associated with the pathogenicity of *Aeromonas* including aerolysin *(aer)* and hemolysin *(haem)*, which aid in extracellular secretions, heat liable and head stable cytotoxic genes (*alt, ast*), polar flagellum (*fla*), lateral flagellum (*laf*), and others (Fujii et al. 2003; Bernheimer and Avigad 1974; Kirov et al. 2002; Tomás 2012;Beaz-Hidalgo and Figueras 2013). Additionally, *Aeromonads* utilize four secretion systems to excrete cellular products into the environment and host. The extracellular products aerolysin and hemolysin are potent hemolytic agents that aid *Aeromonas* in disrupting host membranes. The presence of both polar and lateral flagella aid in bacterial adhesion to host and overall motility in the environment, and both heat-liable and heat-stable cytotonic enterotoxin play immunomodulatory roles in the host's immune system (Sha et al. 2002 Tomás 2012;Beaz-Hidalgo and Figueras 2013). These common mechanisms are prevalent in most of the *Aeromonas* in the overall virulence of *Aeromonas* i.

1.5.1.3 Aeromonas infections in fish

Being opportunistic pathogens, Aeromonas infection breakouts in freshwater and saltwater settings often occur in response to environmental changes (Chaix et al. 2017). In aquatic species, Aeromonas infection occurs through direct contact with the infected animal. Members of both the mesophilic and psychrophilic group can cause infections (Janda and Duffey 1988) (Søren Saxmose Nielsen et al. 2023). A. salmonicida is the primary causative agent of furunculosis in salmonids (Kaattari and Piganelli 1996). Acute furunculosis can involve septicemia with hemorrhages at the base of the fins, altered or reduced feeding behavior, and melanosis, while subacute furunculosis consists of lethargy, exophthalmia, and hemorrhaging in muscles and organs (Austin et al. 2007) (Søren Saxmose Nielsen et al. 2023). Mesophilic species such as A. veronii and A. hydrophilia were shown to cause hemorrhagic septicemia in freshwater crayfish (Pacifastacus leniusculus), carp (Cyprinus carpio), cod (Gadus morhua), and goldfish (Carassius auratus) (Søren Saxmose Nielsen et al. 2023). Goldfish furunculosis was first described in 1969 after lesions containing A. salmonicida were identified (Mawdesley-Thomas 1969; Igbinosa et al. 2017; Janda and Abbott 2010). Early cutaneous infections involved the appearance of white proliferation on the epithelium, followed by peripheral hemorrhage beneath scales, lesion development, loss of scales, necrosis of dermis and degeneration of underlying

muscle (Mawdesley-Thomas 1969). Septicemia occurs in larger and deeper legions if the infection is left untreated (Mawdesley-Thomas 1969; Adams and Adams 1996). Untreated infections cause histological changes such as decreased hemocyte aggregation in the digestive system, and increased hemocyte aggregation and necrotic cells in the gills of infected Catfish (Mulia et al. 2023). The damage of the cutaneous layer results in immune responses, marked by the infiltration of leukocytes to the site of infection, consisting primarily of macrophages and neutrophils, followed by lymphocytes. These leukocytes remain at higher than baseline levels until up to 21 days post infection (Mulia et al. 2023).

In response to *Aeromonas* infection, many teleost fish will increase pro-inflammatory cytokines for the recruitment and increased function of leukocytes (Zou and Secombes 2016). Key cytokines induced by bacterial infection include TNF α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 (Zou and Secombes 2016; Soliman and Barreda 2023). The induction of pro-inflammatory cytokine production is followed by a phagocytic response. Pathogen clearance often occurs within the first week of a subcutaneous infection. Following pathogen clearance, the underlying damaged tissue layers are repaired (Guo and DiPietro 2020).

1.5.2 Zymosan

1.5.2.1 Recognition of Zymosan by Host Immune System

Zymosan is an insoluble β -1,3-glucan polysaccharide that contributes to the structure of the cell wall of yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) and it is commonly used in immune-challenge experiments as a pathogen mimic, specifically, a fungal mimic (Ohno 2007). In mammals, zymosan detection primarily occurs via Toll-like receptor TLR2 and TLR6 heterodimers (Sato et al. 2003; Arya et al. 2023). TLR2 and 6, along with dectin-1, are receptors found on the surface of mammalian macrophage and neutrophils (Arya et al. 2023). Dectin-1 functions to phagocytose zymosan and other β -glucans, and the TLRs function to trigger an inflammatory response. Binding of zymosan by Dectin-1 is followed by SYK (spleen tyrosine kinases) recruitment and activation that facilitates phagocytosis and the respiratory burst response of macrophages and neutrophils (Underhill et al. 2005). Binding of zymosan to TLR2 and TLR6 induces intracellular signalling through the MyD88 pathway that promotes cytokine secretion for a subsequent proinflammatory response mediated by AP1 and NF κ B (Sato et al. 2003; Colleselli et al. 2023).

1.5.2.2 Zymosan Induction of Acute Inflammatory Responses

In goldfish, several studies using intraperitoneal injection of zymosan have shown that fish had robust and quick responses when compared to mammals (Rieger et al. 2012). Specifically, fish exhibit an earlier recruitment of leukocytes, both myeloid and lymphoid populations. In carp and goldfish, zymosan injection induced oxidative burst and nitric oxide responses, and secretion of TNF α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-11 suggesting conserved responses to certain PAMPs (Pietretti et al. 2013; Rieger et al. 2012). Furthermore, it is now evident that carp amongst other teleost can detect β -glucan through TLR and non-TLR receptors, and β -glucan immune challenge results in increased ROS and NO production (Pietretti et al. 2013). Through similar pathways, immune challenge with zymosan in fish results in upregulation of key cytokines including: TNF α , IL-1B, and IFN γ along with an increase in phagocytic uptake and respiratory burst (Haddad et al. 2023).

1.5.3 Other Pyrogens Encountered by Fish

While zymosan is widely used in the induction of acute inflammation in many mammalian and non-mammalian vertebrates, there are other pathogens that a goldfish can encounter in their natural environments that are not explored within the scope of my project. Although *A. veronii* is a common freshwater pathogen encountered by fish in natural settings, there are other bacterial species that infect fish. The classes of pathogens that a fish may encounter in natural settings include fungi, bacteria, parasites, and viruses. The following subsections include general information about some pathogens that aforementioned fish populations may be exposed to and infected with.

1.5.3.1 Exogenous fungal species

Infection by fungal and fungal like pathogens in animals has been on the rise, and most of these species infect and cause disease in fish from multiple different families (Gozlan et al. 2014). For example, *Sphareothecum destruens* (a fungal like pathogen) infects *Oncorhynchus mykiss* and *Salmo salar* and causes up to 90% mortality in fish populations after 20-30 days of infection (Mendonca and Arkush 2004). Unfortunately, there are no visible external symptoms of this infection and currently the only method to confidently identify this pathogen is through PCR after mortality (Mendonca and Arkush 2004). With increased monitoring in aquaculture settings, there are new hosts for fungal and fungal-like pathogens being discovered daily(Gozlan et al. 2014; Fisher et al. 2020). For example, *Saprolegina ferax* infects *Carassius auratus* and

Oncorhynchus mykiss eggs, and *Saprolegina diclina* infects *Oncorhynchus mykiss*, and the eggs of *Salmo salar*. Many of these infections can be chronic and have no external symptoms and rather are identified after mortality of the fish. Fungal and fungal-like pathogens result in significant mortality of fish in both natural and aquaculture settings (Fisher et al. 2020).

1.5.3.2 Exogenous bacterial species

Many *Aeromonads* such as *Aeromonas hydrophila* and *Aermonas salmonicida* are known to cause furunculosis, septicemia and ulcerative diseases in fish populations including trout, salmon and goldfish (Irshath et al. 2023). As these bacteria thrive in both freshwater and saltwater, infections with this bacterium are frequently observed. Another prevalent bacterial pathology is vibriosis caused by bacterial species such as *Vibrio anguillarum, Vibrio salmonicida*, and *Vibrio carchariae* (Irshath et al. 2023). Vibriosis causes major decreases in aquaculture settings resulting in massive reductions in farmed fish such as salmon and rainbow trout. Interestingly, these massive die offs have promoted increased research around the world in fish vaccination against certain bacteria for the preservation of fish populations in aquaculture and farming settings.

1.5.3.3 Exogenous parasitic species

Parasitic species often alter the hosts' eating, mating, social behavior, and migration patterns to advance infection (Ezenwa 2004). Specifically in fish, some parasitic species have been reported to alter secretory functions, metabolism which are not easily observed, but external signs of parasitic infections can include damage of the skin and extensive furunculosis (Merck & Co 2024). Goldfish and koi carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) can be infected by parasitic fish lice (*Argulus japonicus*) (Wafer et al. 2015). These fish lice belong to a large group of crustaceans that cause diseases in fish. Additionally, parasitic fish lice also serve as a vehicle for other pathogens such as *Rhabdovirus carpio*, larval nematodes and the *Saprolegina* fungus. Symptoms of infection with fish lice include hemorrhaging, anemia, fin loss, lethargy, and loss of body integrity. Another common parasite in fish is the anisakis roundworm, which has been demonstrated to be enzootic and can impact humans if consumed (Aibinu et al. 2019). Anisakis roundworm species include *Anisakis simplex, Anisakis pegreffii* and *Anisakis physeteris*. Herring (*Clupea harengus*), cod (*Gadus morhua*), anchovy (*Engraulis encrasicolus*), Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) and sea trout (*Salmo trutta*) are fish populations in which Anisakis roundworm is prevalent.

1.5.3.4 Exogenous virus infections

Fish can also contract viral infections often carried by parasites or from horizontal transfer from other infected fish. Viruses that can infect fish are classified in main categories including: rhabdoviruses, herpesviruses, reoviruses, retroviruses, iridoviruses, birnaviruses and orthomyxoviruses (Kim and Leong 1999). Infection with viruses can result in symptoms such as: necrosis of internal organs, tumors, and anemia. Viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus is a rhabdovirus that fish are often infected with. Susceptible species include Atlantic salmon, rainbow trout, goldfish, Chinook salmon and more. Viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus was first identified in Europe and results in significant loss of rainbow trout populations in fish farms (Faisal et al. 2012). Signs of infection include exophthalmia, pale gills, hemorrhaging at the fin base and internal organs and ultimately, mortality. In primary cell culture studies and cell line studies, this virus grows in fish cells optimally in temperatures between 10-15°C and the virus loses infectivity at temoeratures above 20°C. Horizontal transmission of the virus occurs at temperatures between 1-12°C and there is little transmission observed above 15°C.

1.6 CELLULAR COMPONENTS OF ACUTE INFLAMMATION

1.6.1 Innate Immune cells

In mammalian systems, upon tissue insult, macrophages are the primary professional phagocytes that arrive first at the site of insult and partake in phagocytosis of the pathogen, along with releasing pro-inflammatory cytokines. In goldfish (*Carassius auratus*), neutrophils are the most abundant phagocyte in response to tissue insult. Phagocytes are key to the detection and clearance of pathogens, activation of other immune cells, induction and resolution of inflammation, initiation and execution of tissue repair, and maintenance of tissue homeostasis in an organism (Chen et al. 2018). Even in non- mammalian vertebrate systems (trout, zebrafish, goldfish, and catfish) professional phagocytes are responsible the bulk of pathogen clearance (Uribe et al. 2011; Kordon et al. 2018). While many immune cells contain the basic cellular machinery to phagocytose, professional phagocytes have the capacity to remove the pathogens and present relevant antigens to lymphocytes with significantly greater speed and efficiency. To detect pathogens, the cells of the innate immune system recognize a variety of surface moieties on viruses, bacteria, and fungi by germline-encoded receptors on these cells called pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) (Thompson et al. 2011). These receptors can recognize conserved

domains of the pathogen moieties called pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). Common PAMPs include cell wall components of microbes, sugars and flagellin. Leukocytes such as macrophages, neutrophils, and monocytes ubiquitously express PRRs for detection of PAMPs, the binding of which initiates leukocytic anti-microbial responses. These antimicrobial responses include respiratory burst, release of reactive oxygen species (ROS), release of nitric oxide species (NO), fusion of the phagolysosome, neutrophil degranulation, and neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) (Gierlikowska et al. 2021; Havixbeck et al. 2015). The antimicrobial response in acute inflammation is executed by a significant influx of leukocytes, a response that is primarily regulated through the release of cytokines that recruit and activate more leukocytes <u>executed</u> by the earliest responding leukocytes. Overall, these findings demonstrate the dynamic role of leukocytes and other cells in inflammation and the ever-evolving diverse roles of these cells (Rieger et al. 2012)

1.6.1.1 Neutrophils

Neutrophils are a leukocyte subset that are polymorphonuclear granulocytes that execute anti-microbial functions such as phagocytosis, pathogen capture, and release of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs). Neutrophils are recruited by CXCL8, platelet activating factor (PAF), and lipid mediator B4 (LTB₄) (Sadik et al. 2011). In vertebrate studies, leukocyte populations are often distinguished by cell surface ligands. In mammals, neutrophil identification is oachieved using flow cytometric gating for cells positive for CD16 (FCyRIII) and CD62L (Lselectin) (van Staveren et al. 2018). However, due to the lack of annotated neutrophil specific markers in the goldfish genome, early characterizations involved separation of neutrophils from other hematopoietic subpopulations. As neutrophils are denser than macrophages, monocytes and lymphocytes, gravimetric centrifugation was utilized to separate "neutrophil like" cells. These cell fractions allowed for the development of flow cytometric parameters of neutrophil size and internal complexity (Katzenback and Belosevic 2009). Furthermore, authors established that goldfish neutrophils were capable of degranulation in response to pathogen detection, a critical step of NETosis in neutrophils for pathogen capture. Like mammalian neutrophils, goldfish neutrophils were capable of potent respiratory burst responses. Due to their granular enzymatic activities, goldfish neutrophils stained positive for Sudan Black-B and myeloperoxidase cytochemical stains (Katzenback and Belosevic 2009). In mammals, neutrophils are recruited from peripheral blood, whereas in goldfish they are recruited from circulation and the kidney, the

hematopoietic organ of fish (Katzenback et al. 2012; Havixbeck et al. 2015). Since these foundational characterizations, many other aspects of neutrophil functions and kinetics have been established in goldfish. Interestingly, unlike what is observed in mammals, teleost neutrophils make up less than 5% of circulating leukocytes at homeostasis (Havixbeck et al. 2015). The study of whole organism response to zymosan (fungal mimic) has allowed for the measurement of cell migration into the site of immune challenge. The peak of neutrophil infiltration has been identified at 16 hours post zymosan challenge in goldfish (Haddad et al. 2023). Once the neutrophils arrive at the site of challenge, they exert robust intracellular and extracellular antimicrobial responses required for pathogen clearance (Havixbeck et al. 2015). These responses include release of ROS/NO, NETs, and degranulation of granules containing cytotoxic enzymes such as myeloperoxidase, metalloproteinase, acid hydrolases, elastase, and proteinase-3 (Chen et al. 2021; Morel et al. 1991). Another key activity of neutrophils is phagocytosis, resulting in increased O₂ consumptions and eventual respiratory burst (Gierlikowska et al. 2021). Interestingly, in addition to promoting inflammation, goldfish neutrophils have been shown to play a critical role in the resolution of acute inflammation. This is accomplished via a transition from LTB₄ production to LXA₄ production (Havixbeck et al. 2015). Due to the high presence and activity of neutrophil granules, we can identify neutrophils using staining techniques such as the SUDAN Black-B stain (Blumenreich 2011). This stain adheres to acidic components, and therefore make a neutrophil appear a cloudy grey color due to the staining of acidic granules.

1.6.1.2 Macrophages and Monocytes

In mammals, monocytes are classically known to be a circulating leukocyte subset that can differentiate further into macrophages and dendritic cells. These migrating cells can preform specific immune functions such as phagocytosis, ROS release, immune cell recruitment and promotion of tissue repair (Parihar et al. 2010; Lu and Chen 2019)). Chemokines such as CCL2 and CCL7 are key in monocyte recruitment during inflammation (Shi and Pamer 2011). While most cells can respond to an inflammatory site and release CCL2, neutrophils hold the greatest contribution in recruiting monocytes (Shi and Pamer 2011). To differentiate mammalian monocytes from other leukocyte cell subpopulations, flow cytometry gating for cell-surface antigens is utilized. Classical monocytes are often identified by a high expression of CD14, and no expression of CD16 (CD14+/CD16-) (Italiani and Boraschi 2014). Macrophages are a specialized leukocyte subset that is involved in the detection, capture, and clearance of

pathogens. In addition to being an important effector cell within the innate immune system, mammalian macrophages are antigen presenting cells, often communicating with the cells of the adaptive immune system. CD14 is a surface lipopolysaccharide-binding protein highly expressed on monocytes and tissue resident macrophages (Naeim et al. 2018) (Cutler and Davies 1998). CD16 is type I transmembrane receptor containing 2 Ig -like domains which are involved in mediating an antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (Naeim et al. 2018).

The classically known function of macrophages was phagocytosis and release of inflammatory cytokines, however, the current paradigm indicates that macrophages can be differentiated and polarized from monocytes to various phenotypes by a variety of stimulants often resulting in either pro-inflammatory or pro-resolving phenotypes (Watanabe et al. 2019; Austermann et al. 2022) (Rieger et al. 2014). This determines whether the macrophage will execute its antimicrobial function and release cytokines such as TNFα, IL1β, IL-6 or execute tissue repair and pro-resolution functions and release cytokines such as TGFB and IL-10 (Arango Duque and Descoteaux 2014). Macrophages in mammalian studies are often identified via flow cytometry by high expression of CD115, the macrophage colony stimulating factor receptor (MCSF-R), macrophage mannose receptors (MMR) and CD14 present in tissue resident macrophages. However, unlike mammals, in teleost, CD14 is not in the genome making it increasingly difficult to identify and distinguish macrophage and monocyte populations (Novoa et al. 2009). Many mammalian cell surface markers are not identified or annotated on the goldfish genome, posing a significant challenge in distinguishing leukocyte subpopulations. Early studies in the field aiming to characterize goldfish macrophages used macrophage growth factors (MGF) from a goldfish macrophage cell line to stimulate cells in the hematopoietic organ (kidney) to differentiate into primary kidney macrophages (PKM) (Neumann et al. 1998) (Neumann et al. 2000). Despite the lack of antibodies binding to proteins on the surface of PKMs, authors were able to distinguish distinct macrophage populations via flow cytometry by gating for size and internal complexity. Furthermore, the greatest proportion of PKMs were found in two clusters termed region (R)2 and R3. R2 and R3 PKMs were stimulated with macrophage activating factors (MAF) and LPS and were able to produce a robust antimicrobial respiratory burst response. After cytochemical staining of these populations, authors deduced that the R2 subpopulation was capable of potent non-specific-esterase activity and potent NO responses after stimulation, which differs from mammalian macrophages that lose non-specific

esterase activity. Morphologically these R2 cells appeared similar to tissue macrophages with irregular shapes, extensive vacuolization and a substantial cytoplasm. The R3 subpopulation morphologically and cytochemically appeared as monocytes, and functionally had a comparatively weaker respiratory burst response than the R2 subpopulations. The separation of monocytes from macrophages allowed for the isolation of macrophages and the identification of a receptor found on macrophages and monocytes in fish, the colony stimulating factor receptor 1 (CSF-1R) and a soluble form of CSF-1R expressed by early progenitor cells and macrophages in PKM cultures to modulate proliferation and self-renewal (Barreda et al. 2005; Hanington et al. 2007). While many others have tried to identify the two cell subpopulations using surface markers, the simplest technique remains histological staining and enumeration. Due to macrophages and monocytes lack of granular enzymes, they appear clear on Sudan Black B stain (Blumenreich 2011). In the Wright-Geimsa stain, macrophages are smaller and contain smaller nuclei than monocytes (Cornbleet 1998; Haddad et al. 2023). Post immune challenge with zymosan, macrophages and monocytes also peak at 16 hours, but do not make up as great of a portion of the infiltrating leukocytes as neutrophils (Haddad et al. 2023).

1.6.1.3 Lymphocytes

While innate immune responses are critical in pathogen clearance, communication with the adaptive immune system allows faster host responses in subsequent attacks by the same pathogen. Lymphocytes are integral to the adaptive immune response and contain subpopulations such as B cells, NK cells and T cells (Alberts et al. 2015). While T cells are primarily responsible for cell mediated immunity, B cells contribute to humoral immunity via their production of antibody proteins (Elena and Lopera 2013). Higher vertebrates, such as humans have B cells with the capacity of robust memory responses and highly specialized B and T cell subsets, while lower vertebrates have a more rudimentary adaptive immune system (Flajnik 2018). For example, germinal centres (structures where B cells can generate high-affinity antibodies) are believed to have been present in evolution for the last 250 million years, and have not been identified in reptiles, amphibians, or fish (Klein and Dalla-Favera 2008; Flajnik 2018). Furthermore, class switch recombination (CSR) allows a B cell to generate immunoglobulin of another class while retaining the same affinity to an antigen, allowing for interaction with different effector cells. CSR systems are not present in fish and first appeared in amphibians around 350 million years ago (Flajnik 2018. Lymphocytes in vertebrates and mammals are also

characterized using surface receptors for high-throughput analysis such as CD35 (C3b/C4b receptor), CD30 (tumor necrosis factor receptor involved in TCR-mediated cell death), CD223 (lymphocyte activation gene 3) are a few examples. In teleost, cytotoxic cells such as NK cells and T cells have been identified in several species in the 1990's in carp, rainbow trout, zebrafish, and catfish. The creation of multiple leukocyte cell lines from channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*) and crucian carp (*Carassius auratus langsdorfii*) allowed for the identification of lymphoid cell populations in teleost (Hogan et al. 1996;Hasegawa et al. 1998). Due to lack of specific antibodies targeting lymphocytes, the next best reliable method for detection of lymphocytes was using Wright-Geimsa staining in which they appear to have very little cytoplasm and are small in size relative to macrophages and neutrophils (Witeska et al. 2022). After immune challenge with zymosan, lymphocytes steadily increase 20 hours post injection and remain relatively high throughout the 48-hour observation window (Haddad et al. 2023.

1.6.1.4 Platelets and Thrombocytes

One of the first reports of platelets was done by Giulio Bizzozero in 1882 where he described small translucent spherules that formed granular masses when they passed by small arterial punctures (Ribatti and Crivellato 2007). After carefully studying platelet function microscopically, he determined the role of platelets in coagulation, aggregation, and subsequent fibrin formation (Ribatti and Crivellato 2007). Since then, countless studies have contributed to the understanding of the classical function of platelets: hemostasis. Hemostasis is delineated into distinct cellular and molecular events involving tethering to the site of injury, activation and recruitment of other platelets, aggregation and subsequent fibrin formation (Tomaiuolo et al. 2017). Platelet activation occurs through multiple triggers, one of which includes the interaction of platelet receptors GP_{1b}/V/IX to subendothelial extracellular matrix (ECM) components binding to von Willebrand Factor (vWF) (Nieswandt et al. 2011; (Lam et al. 2015)). Another trigger is GPVI and $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ binding to collagen in the ECM (Bergmeier and Hynes 2012). After the initial tethering of platelets to the site of injury, there is a morphological change in platelets going from a round shape to a flattened shape (Rumbaut and Thiagarajan 2010 Tomaiuolo et al. 2017). This flattened shape allows for a stronger adhesion after which a greater population of platelet is recruited through the integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ receptor (Sorrentino et al. 2016).

Prior to the 1950's, platelets were known to be non-nucleated cells that were fragments of megakaryocytes, but the metabolic or cellular triggers to increase production of platelets was unknown. In 1958, in a simple experiment where the blood of rats with thrombocytopenia (low thrombocyte count) was transfused into healthy control rats, resulting in these control rats producing more platelets hinted at a regulator of thrombopoiesis (formation of thrombocytes) (Kelemen et al. 1958). However, a purified substance was not produced despite strenuous efforts. While scientists were still working to identify the regulating cytokine or protein for thrombopoiesis, other platelet functions were coming to light (Kaushansky 2005). It wasn't until 1990, in a completely different field of study of a myeloproliferative leukemia virus, where abnormalities in an oncogene *v-mpl* and a cellular *c-mpl* were observed (Michèle Souyri et al. 1990; Vigon et al. 1992). In subsequent years, this *c-mpl* receptor was identified to have a key role in maintaining thrombocyte populations and its corresponding ligand, thrombopoietin was subsequently characterized (Kaushansky 2005).

The identification and characterization of thrombocytes in teleost fish was initially reported in zebrafish (Jagadeeswaran et al. 1999). The authors concluded that the zebrafish thrombocyte was a hemostatic homologue of the mammalian platelet in addition to morphological and functional similarities (Jagadeeswaran et al. 1999). Since then, thrombocytes have been identified in other teleost species such as carp, rainbow trout, goldfish, catfish, and many others (Stosik et al. 2019; Grant 2015; Tavares-Dias and Ruas 2007; Katzenback et al. 2016). Concurrent with identification of fish thrombocytes, there has been an expansion of our understanding of avian and amphibian thrombocytes, which also show similar conserved morphology to teleost thrombocytes (Ferdous and Scott 2023; Ferdous 2014). While there are some functional similarities between mammalian platelets and fish thrombocytes, some key differences exist. Thrombopoiesis processes, cell morphology, activation stimuli, interactions with immune cells and effects of antipyretics of thrombocytes and platelets show some degree of conservation highlighted in **Table 1.6**.

 Table 1.6 Functional and phenotypic attributes of mammalian platelets and teleost

 thrombocytes

Function or phenotype	Mammalian (Human)	Fish
Progenitors	Fragments of megakaryocytes	• Myeloid early progenitors (Katzenback et al. 2016)
Site of Development	 Megakaryocytes (Levin 2019) Site of differentiation: bone marrow (Levin 2019) 	Hematopoietic compartment: kidney (Katzenback et al. 2016)
Organelles	 Platelet-specific granules: α-granules, lysosomal granules, dense granules (Lam et al. 2015) Non-nucleated Contain main organelles of megakaryocytes. Change shape when activated and engaged in clot (Rumbaut and Thiagarajan 2010; Tomaiuolo et al. 2017) 	 Nucleus: oval or spindle shaped, can change shape when activated (Claver and Quaglia 2009) Carbohydrate-rich cytoplasm Acidophilic granules in the cytoplasm (Watson et al. 1963) Lysosomal granules with lysozyme and inducible iNOS (Nagasawa et al. 2014) Intracellular vacuoles (Stosik et al. 2019)
Identification methods	 PAS stain (Pogorelov et al. 2011) Giemsa Stain (Prasad et al. 2012) Leishman's staining (Umashankar et al. 2014) Flow Cytometry: P-selectin, α_{IIb}β₃ receptor, GP_{1b}/V/IX receptors (Bergmeier and Hynes 2012; Sorrentino et al. 2016) 	 MPO stain (Ksenija Aksentijević et al. 2023) PAS stain (Ksenija Aksentijević et al. 2023) Giemsa Stain Test for acid phosphatase (ACP) (Wang et al. 2021) Test of a-naphthyl acetate esterase (ANEA) (Wang et al. 2021) Flow Cytometry: Dil+, GB10 mAb (Nagasawa et al. 2014)

	• Functional responses such as adherence, recruitment and apoptosis measured through sandwich ELISA, aggregation assays, and transcriptomics (Gowert et al. 2014; Burkhart et al. 2012))	 C-mpl and CD41 ligand gene expression (Stosik et al. 2019) Activation: <i>tpo</i> upregulation in different tissues in response to stimuli
Recruitment/Proliferation events	 Injury and damage to vasculature cells Activated platelets recruit other activated platelets through integrin α_{IIb}β₃ receptor (Bergmeier and Hynes 2012; Sorrentino et al. 2016) 	 GpIIb/IIIa and GpIb receptors responding to agonists such as ADP and collagen (Thattaliyath et al. 2005) Loss of blood causing <i>gata</i> 1 and <i>epo</i> upregulation (Jagadeeswaran et al. 2010; Katakura et al. 2015)
Activation events	 Soluble agonists: ADP, TXA₂, Thrombin (Tomaiuolo et al. 2017) Exposed collagen in ECM binding to GP_{1b}/V/IX and α_{IIb}β₃ receptors (Bergmeier and Hynes 2012; Sorrentino et al. 2016) 	 Release of Ca²⁺ in response to ADP agonist (Thattaliyath et al. 2005) Annexin-V binding (apoptosis) (Khandekar et al. 2012) P-selectin binding to recruit other cells and roll between endothelium cells (Thattaliyath et al. 2005) Release of microparticles (micro-vessicles) for recruitment and further activation (Khandekar et al. 2012)
Classical Functional Responses	 Hemostasis Aggregation and multi- layer thrombus formation (Tomaiuolo et al. 2017) Promotion of wound repair 	 Hemostasis via <i>gata</i>1, <i>lmo</i>2, <i>epo</i> Multi-layered thrombus formation (Tavares-Dias and Ragonha 2009)

Non-classical functions	 Autophagy (Banerjee et al. 2019) Release microparticles and microRNAs that allow to alter function of other cells in the(Lam et al. 2015) 	 Phagocytosis (Nagasawa et al. 2014) Apoptosis to release microparticles for further thrombocyte activation (Khandekar et al. 2012)
Innate Interactions	 Interaction with neutrophils and monocytes once activated using P-selectin and PSGL-1 cross linking(Zarbock et al. 2007). Increase GpIba interaction with PSGL-1 and LFA1 to increase neutrophil NETosis(Kral et al. 2016) Release CXCL4 from α- granules to recruit neutrophils(Lievens et al. 2014). CXCL1, PF4, CXCL5 CLCL7 and IL8 and CXCL12, and MIP1a and RANTES(Lam et al. 2015) 	 IL-1β, IL-6, TNF-α transcripts, role in pro- inflammation (Stosik et al. 2019) CXCL8 and CXCAL1 release of chemokines to recruit neutrophils. (Stosik et al. 2019) IL-10, SOCS3-1,2, SOCS3- 3,4 genes, role in anti- inflammation (Stosik et al. 2019)
Adaptive Immune interactions	 Communicate with lymphocytes once activated (Pitchford et al. 2003). Release CD40L acting on B and T cells (Lam et al. 2015). Release PF4 and RANTES to increase interaction and activation of T cells 	 MHCII –the mRNA for this can increase which means they can function as APCs that present antigen to T lymphocytes (Stosik et al. 2019). Many TLRs for recognition of PAMPs and specific responses to antigens (Stosik et al. 2019)
Interaction with antipyretics	• Ibuprofen inhibits thromboxane levels and	• Unknown
platelet functions(Kaehler et al. 2007)		
--	--	
• Multiple NSAIDs result in decreased thromboxane levels resulting in increased hemorrhage in surgery(Raineri-Gerber and von Felten 1991)		
• Ibuprofen causing life threatening thrombocytopenia in rare cases(Sanjay Kumar Jain 1994)		

1.7 Soluble Factors in Acute Inflammation

1.7.1 Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are defined as semi-reduced metabolites of oxygen with a potent capacity to oxidize cellular lipid components, proteins, and DNA (Ryter et al. 2007). At high concentrations, ROS can be very damaging leading to oxidation of cellular macromolecules and subsequent loss of cell viability, whereas at low concentrations they can act as signalling molecules in complex pathways with functions such as protein phosphorylation, and regulation of growth factors and transcription factors (Cai et al. 2003). ROS are generated endogenously in response to various stimuli such as cytokines and growth factors. The two main sources of ROS production are through cytochrome P450 in the ETC of mitochondria, and NADPH and Dual oxidases (Nox)(Duox), which are present in professional phagocytes and endothelial cells (Pendyala and Natarajan 2010). The increased and sustained production of ROS has been linked to chronic inflammatory pathophysiology, indicating the importance of a proper resolution of the ROS response in returning to homeostasis (Lambeth et al. 2007).

1.7.2 Nitric Oxide Species (NO)

In immunity, Nitric oxide (NO) is generated by the inducible nitric oxide synthase enzyme (iNOS). The release of NO by immune cells can induce damage to critical cellular components of both host and pathogen cells, namely fragmentation of DNA and deamination of nucleotides in proteins (Weitzman and Weitzman 2014). Therefore, NO release is an antimicrobial response mainly used in the inflammatory process by neutrophils and macrophages.

In addition to its role in inflammation, NO plays various roles in tissue repair, particularly in the proliferation and tissue remodeling phases (Luo and Chen 2005). NO released through the iNOS enzyme regulates collagen deposition, cell proliferation and wound contraction within the tissue repair process (Witte and Barbul 2002).

1.7.3 Cytokines and Chemokines in Acute Inflammation

While many cytokines are involved in acute inflammation and throughout all phases of tissue repair, I selected TNF α , TGF β , IL-1 β and IL-10 as representative pro- and antiinflammatory cytokines to examine throughout the study.

1.7.3.1 Pro-Inflammatory Cytokines

1.7.3.1.1 TNFα

Tumor necrosis factor alpha is soluble protein first identified in 1975, demonstrating at certain concentrations to cause regression of tumors while having cytotoxic effects at higher concentrations (Cechin and Buchwald 2014). Later, in the 1990's, another structural and functional related protein, lymphotoxin, was further characterized and coined TNF β . These pear-shaped trimers bind to TNFR-1 and TNFR-2 receptors to execute an inflammatory response in immunity (Parameswaran and Patial 2010). In mammals, TNF α is predominantly produced by macrophages, however other cells such as NK cells, fibroblasts, cytotoxic T cells and B cells have the ability to release smaller quantities of this proinflammatory protein. Functionally, TNF α triggers the release of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines that affect the function, proliferation, and recruitment of other leukocyte subsets, making it an ideal representative pro-inflammatory cytokine. The binding of TNF α to the mammalian predominant TNFR-1 results in TRADD binding and the formation of various complexes (I, IIa, IIb, IIc). Downstream of complex I signalling pathway is induction of inflammation, tissue degeneration, cell proliferation and survival, and host defence responses. Complex IIb and IIc result in activation of caspase 8, a critical component of the apoptotic pathway (Jang et al. 2021). Due to roles in both promotion of inflammation and tissue

degeneration, chronic upregulation of TNF α often results in chronic inflammatory pathophysiology in humans such as rheumatoid arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease (Chen et al. 2018). TNFR-1 receptors are expressed on the surface of most cells within the body and therefore TNF α has varying functions, rendering it a potent pleiotropic inflammatory mediator (Gough and Myles 2020).

In teleost fish, the first identification of TNF α was reported in Oliver flounder (Ikuo Hirono et al. 2000). Since then, many other members of the TNF superfamily have been characterized in multiple teleost species (Hong et al. 2013). Numerous isoforms of the TNF α genes have been identified in species such as common carp, rainbow trout and blue fin tuna (Saeij et al. 2003; Laing et al. 2001). In goldfish, two isoforms of TNF α have been identified at the gene and protein levels, that are phylogenetically most homologous to carp TNF α -1 (Grayfer et al. 2008). When macrophages are activated, a significant upregulation of both isoforms is observed (Grayfer et al. 2008). The recombinant TNF α 2 molecule instigates dose dependent responses in primary goldfish macrophages. Recombinant-TNF α -2 has been shown to prime respiratory burst of monocytes and induce NO production in primary macrophages. TNF α in goldfish is a central effector cytokine that regulates inflammatory and antimicrobial responses. Due to the potent capacity of TNF α to not only regulate leukocyte recruitment but also effector functions at multiple levels of inflammatory signalling pathways, TNF α is an ideal candidate for determining pro-inflammatory upregulation in the site of immune challenge (ie. furuncle).

1.7.3.1.2 IL1β

Interleukin 1 β is a potent mediator of inflammatory responses and host resistance to pathogens. It is involved in essential tissue repair processes and can exacerbate damage during tissue injury in both acute and chronic wounds (Lopez-Castejon and Brough 2011). Multiple mammalian cells produce and release IL1 β , particularly circulating sensors that detect PAMPs. In mammalian systems, mature IL1 β is produced when pro- IL1 β is cleaved by Caspase-1, which is activated by inflammasome formation (Franchi et al. 2009). IL1 β is also secreted via microvesicles, and lysosome exocytosis during pyroptosis (a significantly faster variation of apoptotic cell death often activated in response to DAMPs and PAMPs) (Piccioli and Rubartelli 2013). Many have suggested that the mechanisms of IL1 β release can be best understood as a

continuum of release depending on the strength and duration of the inflammatory stimulus, type of effector cell, and the tissue microenvironment (Lopez-Castejon and Brough 2011; Piccioli and Rubartelli 2013). Due to the predominance of IL1 β receptors, macrophages and monocytes are most sensitive to IL1 β release.

In goldfish IL1 β was the first characterized cytokine from the interleukin family (Grayfer et al. 2018). Recently two isoforms of IL1 β have been classified into IL1 β type 1 and IL1 β type 2 (Zou and Secombes 2016). Like mammalian systems, both Caspase 1 and Caspase 8 can sleave pro-IL1 β to mature IL1 β (Angosto et al. 2012). Responding cells have a heterodimeric receptor protein that binds to IL1 β resulting in activation of pathways for phagocyte recruitment and activation of lysozyme mobilization in activated phagocytes (Zou and Secombes 2016). While IL1 β release directly allows for recruitment and antimicrobial mechanism activation in macrophages, IL1 β release can also augment chemokine production in cells at the infection site, such as CXCL8 recruitment of neutrophils (Peddie et al. 2001). Furthermore, this potent cytokine has been shown to regulate the inflammatory process by consistently antagonizing potent anti-inflammatory molecules such as TGF- β (Wang et al. 2016). Therefore, IL1 β release impacts essential processes such as the resolution of inflammation along with the transitions through the different phases of tissue repair, making it an ideal candidate for the measurement of inflammatory agendas and progression through phases of tissue repair in sites of immune challenge (Soliman et al. 2021).

1.7.3.2 Anti-inflammatory mediators

1.7.3.2.1 TGF-β

Members of the transforming growth factor superfamily can display various roles within immunity and overall homeostasis within the body. Transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) is a pleiotropic anti-inflammatory polypeptide growth factor released and sensed by many leukocytes making it an ideal marker of pro-resolution in sites of immune challenge (Zou and Secombes 2016). The TGF- β molecule binds to T2R receptors resulting in the phosphorylation and subsequent activation of the T1R receptor (Wrana et al. 1994). The activation of both receptors results in signalling cascades and downstream activation of regulator proteins integral to cell differentiation, and the chemotaxis and activation of leukocytes involved in the resolution of inflammation (Tzavlaki and Moustakas 2020). TGF- β in mammals can have an overall antiinflammatory effect by inhibiting cytotoxic cell activation. TGF- β primarily inhibits M1-like macrophages while activating M2-like macrophages (Gong et al. 2012). Within essential processes such as tissue repair, TGF- β promotes angiogenesis to support proliferating cells (Soliman et al. 2021).

TGF- β is highly conserved in avian, fish and mammalian organisms with avian and fish species exhibiting similar patterns of production, release, and effects on immune cells (Zheng et al. 2018). In fish, recombinant TGF- β was shown to inhibit the antimicrobial NO response of activated macrophages and in carp, TGF- β antagonized pro-inflammation via inhibition of TNF α and IL1 β (Wang et al. 2016). In processes such as tissue repair, TGF- β increased cell viability of peripheral blood leukocytes and differentiation of fibroblasts, concurrent with suppression of erythropoiesis (Yang et al. 2012). Increased fibroblast proliferation has been demonstrated to result in increased collagen production in multiple models including fish, thereby exhibiting a conserved function in tissue repair (Haddad et al. 2008). Thus assessment of TGF- β allows for not only measurement of pro-resolution agendas within sites of immune challenge but can be an indicator of successful tissue repair.

1.7.3.2.2 IL-10

Interleukin 10 (IL-10) belongs to the type 2 α -helical cytokine denomination. IL-10 acts as an inflammatory suppressor in mammals and fish and is regarded as an anti-inflammatory cytokine (Voßhenrich and Di Santo 2002; Grayfer et al. 2011). IL-10 is produced by multiple cell types including T-cells, B-cells, epithelial cells, monocytes/macrophages, and NK cells in mammals. Following IL-10 release, this protein binds to the IL-10 receptor complex consisting of the IL10R1 and IL10R2 subunits (Shouval et al. 2014). The primary targets of IL-10 production are of macrophage/monocyte lineage while an indirect byproduct is the inhibition of lymphocyte function (Shouval et al. 2014). The inhibition of macrophage/monocyte cells results in an overall downregulation of ROS production and NO intermediate production, achieved by inhibition of TNF α synthesis.

In fish, IL10 has been shown to supress immune responses, inhibit inflammation, and antagonize multiple pro-inflammatory chemokines and cytokines. While IL-10 has been identified in multiple fish species, the functional consequence of IL-10 release have not been examined in

all species. Expression of IL-10 mRNA in goldfish is highest in the spleen, peripheral blood leukocytes and granulocytes (Grayfer et al. 2011). The addition of recombinant IL-10 reduces the expression of pro-inflammatory mediators such as TNF α , IL-1 β and CXCL8 (Grayfer et al. 2011). Some of the central mechanisms of IL-10 in mammals is the binding of SOCS3 to JAK kinase thereby inhibiting STAT3 production and subsequent inhibition of cell differentiation (Carow and Rottenberg 2014). The potent anti-inflammatory effects and antagonism of pro-inflammatory cytokines accomplished by IL-10 makes it an ideal candidate for assessing activation and maintenance of anti-inflammatory resolution pathways throughout the tissue repair timeline.

1.8 THE ROLE OF ACUTE INFLAMMATION IN TISSUE REPAIR

1.8.1 The tissue repair process

Tissue repair is a fundamental process amongst multicellular organisms and consists of highly programmed phases (Gurtner et al. 2008). These phases are hemostasis, inflammation, proliferation, and tissue remodeling (Guo and DiPietro 2020). For precise tissue repair, all four phases must occur in sequence and within a specific time frame. Each phase of tissue repair involves the recruitment and function of various cell types, proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines, along with the production and deposition of important biomolecules (Guo and DiPietro 2020). The site of injury itself is host to a dynamic array of cells, cytokines, and biomolecules, balanced and regulated by host driven tissue repair mechanisms. As multiple stages are involved in tissue repair, the dysregulation of a single phase can result in improper wound closure, and chronic tissue pathology.

1.8.2 Stages of Tissue Repair

1.8.2.1 Hemostasis

Immediately following an injury, the first step of tissue repair is hemostasis. To prevent excessive blood loss and further pathogen entry, the host body generates a hemostatic plug. Hemostasis or cessation of blood loss in mammals is primarily accomplished by platelets after the detection of subendothelial elements of the host. Upon activation, platelets change shape, degranulate, release proteins and growth factors, and cytokines for the recruitment of other innate

immune cells alongside initiating thrombogenesis and coagulation pathways to reduce blood loss (Periayah et al. 2017). With detection of PAMPs and/or DAMPs, leukocytes are rapidly recruited to the site of injury (Gurtner et al. 2008). The presence of a clot and recruitment of immune cells by cytokines originating from platelets allows for the transition from the hemostatic phase to the inflammatory phase in tissue repair (Gonzalez et al. 2016).

1.8.2.2 Inflammation

Concurrently with the recruitment of leukocytes by both platelets and PAMP detecting cells is the induction of acute inflammation (Gurtner et al. 2008). This involves the recruitment of phagocytes for pathogen clearance accomplished by an array of pro-inflammatory mediators (Grose and Werner 2004). Succeeding pathogen clearance, multiple pathways are employed to regulate the resolution of inflammation. The tight regulation of acute inflammation, and timed shift to resolving inflammation is required to avoid defective tissue repair, and chronic inflammatory pathologies (Soliman et al. 2021). An increase in bodily temperature is observed in this phase of tissue repair and temperature has previously been demonstrated to impact the outcomes and efficiency of the acute inflammatory response (Haddad et al. 2023). Once the resolution of inflammation is nearly complete, the next phase of tissue repair begins.

1.8.2.3 Proliferation

The proliferation phase of tissue repair overlaps with the end of the inflammatory phase and this is primarily due to the pleiotropic activities of certain pro-resolving cytokines that also play a role in promotion of cell proliferation (Landén et al. 2016). To compensate for the loss of host cells in pathogen clearance in the inflammatory phase, the proliferation phase involves the regeneration of the hematopoietic pool. Furthermore, the proliferative phase stimulates the proliferation of epithelial cells to repair the epithelial layers damaged in the course of the infection (Schultz et al. 2011). Proliferation is accomplished by key cytokines such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and endothelial growth factor (EGF) (Landén et al. 2016). Further, other anti-inflammatory cytokines such as TGF- β and IL-10 are upregulated for promotion of proliferation and to limit the upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Landén et al. 2016). After repairing the epithelial layer, the tissue remodelling phase begins.

1.8.2.4 Tissue remodelling

In contrast to the proliferation phase of tissue repair that involves robust proliferation and synthesis of extracellular matrix proteins which can take roughly 4-7 days on minor injuries in humans, full tissue remodelling can take months (Schultz et al. 2011). The aim of tissue remodelling is to repair the layers and architecture of the tissue with synthesized ECM such that it can be comparable to pre-injury conditions (Krafts 2010). A key molecule involved in tissue remodelling is collagen.

1.8.2.4.1 Collagen

Collagens are a group of proteins found throughout the body and in the context of a healing wound, collagen is produced by fibroblasts (Mathew-Steiner et al. 2021). Throughout tissue repair, collagen is deposited in and around the wound, however, for complete tissue remodelling, multiple rounds of collagen turnover are required (Mathew-Steiner et al. 2021). The initial deposition of collagen occurs in the proliferation phase by fibroblasts. These immature collagen molecules slowly begin to form covalent cross-links which allows for maturation of collagen into complex structures that can contribute to the strength and architecture of the tissue (Xue and Jackson 2015). Immature collagen examined under the microscope in tissue cross sections stained with Masson's Trichrome can appear as a thin layer, while mature collagen appears as stacked layers (Fang et al. 2019). Multiple factors can impact collagen deposition and maturation such as fibroblast inactivation due to sustained inflammation and cytokine interference of collagen maturation (Guo and DiPietro 2020).

1.8.3 Cells involved in tissue repair

There are numerous cell subpopulations involved in tissue repair. Within mammalian tissue repair models, tissue repair involves innate immune cell pathogen clearance along with adaptive immune cell recruitment to allow for earlier recognition in subsequent infections. In fish, our lab and others have identified the critical role of macrophages/monocytes and neutrophils in pathogen clearance against both fungal mimics and bacterial infections.

1.8.3.1 Fibroblasts

Fibroblasts are diverse mesenchymal cells with versatile roles throughout the host body mainly, contributing to connective tissue formation (Plikus et al. 2021). Activated fibroblasts in humans have been shown to contribute to ECM homeostasis, generate mechanical force within muscles, regulate tissue metabolism, participate in tissue regeneration, and play an immunomodulatory role with the cells in the innate immune system (Castillo-Briceño et al. 2011). While there are no current studies that have isolated primary fibroblasts in teleost, numerous investigations on fish fibroblast cell lines have led to the identification of fibroblast growth factors, collagen motifs in tissue repair, and fibroblast interaction with innate immune cells (Castillo-Briceño et al. 2011).

1.8.3.2 Platelets

Platelets are the primary instigators of the hemostatic plug and one of the first chemoattractant to recruit innate immune cells to the site of injury. (Lam et al. 2015) As previously mentioned, platelets play a dynamic role with both the innate and adaptive immune systems in mammals and thrombocytes show similar dynamic parallels in fish. Thrombocytes like platelets have receptors that communicate to other innate immune cells along with molecular machinery for classical and non-classical functions found in mammalian platelets (Table 1.1). Due to their versatile role, platelets and thrombocytes can contribute to both multiple stages of tissue repair, including the induction and resolution of inflammation. Nonetheless, little is known about the role of temperature on the function of this cell type in teleost.

1.9 THE ROLE OF THERMOREGULATION ON THROMBOCYTES AND TISSUE REPAIR

1.9.1 The role of temperature on platelet and thrombocyte activation and function

Although platelets are found to play a multitude of general and specialized functions throughout the mammalian host, little is known about the effects of temperature on platelet function. Limited studies have shown an increase in platelet activation and onset of coagulation pathways in response to increased temperature (Windberger et al. 2020). Similar effects of

temperature can be found in fish where higher rearing temperature of rainbow trout increases thrombocyte count but does not impact their aggregation functions. Another study in channel catfish showed that immunized fish held at a low temperature compared to higher temperatures had lower numbers of critical hematological cell populations including leukocytes and thrombocytes (Martins et al. 2011). While limited, these investigations suggest that an organism's temperature may play a role in thrombocyte count, activation, and function.

1.9.2 The role of temperature on tissue repair

Commonly when one undergoes the swelling (inflammation) of a tissue, they are advised to alternate between cooling and warming the area with the use of heating and cooling packs. This long-standing practice is supported by multiple studies indicating that at a temperature of 30°C-37°C, there is quicker wound healing in humans compared to lower temperatures (Large and Helnbecker1944). Wound temperature was identified as a strong predictor of wound healing outcomes in human patients (Derwin et al. 2023). In two teleost fish, temperature had a greater impact on wound healing than physiological stress (Anderson and Roberts 1975). In salmon, a moderate increase in holding temperature allowed for better outcomes in skin tissue repair (Jensen et al. 2015). Taken together these findings suggest that temperature plays a critical role in tissue repair outcomes in both mammals and teleost suggesting another advantage of the conserved ability to thermoregulate.

1.9.3 Inhibition of the febrile response using anti-pyretics

1.9.3.1 Development of NSAIDs

A long-standing practice in human history has been the search and application of remedies that mitigate maladies such as inflammation, pain, and fever. One of the earliest documentations was in 1763 in which Reverend Edward Stone wrote a letter about the ability of willow bark powder in the treatment of ague (malaria fever) (Wood 2015). After several decades and the improvement of chemical extraction techniques, Raffaele Piria generated salicylic acid from salicin in 1838 and physicians started prescribing these medications for rheumatism (generalized term for inflammation in joints, tendons, ligaments, and bone) (Miner and Hoffhines 2007). In 1897, acetylsalicylic acid, a modified derivative that was more tolerable to the digestive system, became mass produced by the Bayer company (Miner and Hoffhines 2007). After this, aspirin was widely used for pain. Thus, began the industrial production of aspirin and the development of pharmaceutical NSAID (nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs) production (Hawkey 2005).

1.9.3.2 Current Understanding of NSAID mechanism of action

The current understanding of the mechanisms of NSAIDs is that they inhibit the cyclooxygenase enzyme (COX) (Ghlichloo and Gerriets 2023). Following injury, arachidonic acid, a polyunsaturated fatty acid found on the surface of most cell membranes, is released (Higgins and Lees 1984). Arachidonic acid (AA) is produced through two main pathways: from phospholipids by phospholipases A2 (PLA2) and from 2-arachidonicglycerol (2-AG) converted to AA through monoacylglycerol lipase (MAGL) (Pils et al. 2021). Released arachidonic acid is converted to prostanoids: thromboxanes, prostaglandins and prostacyclin.

Thromboxanes are lipids that allow production of clots via platelet aggregation and vasoconstriction of vessels, prostaglandins (PGE₂) play a role in regulating immune responses, blood pressure, pain and fever, and prostacyclin (PGI₂), which functions as a vasodilator, inhibitor of platelet aggregation and leukocyte adhesion that is partly responsible (in combination with PGE₂) in pain symptoms (Ricciotti and FitzGerald 2011).

The two distinct isoforms of the cyclooxygenase enzyme include COX1 and COX2 (Smith et al. 2000). While both are involved in production of prostaglandins, COX1 is primarily involved in tissue maintenance functions throughout the body, neuroinflammatory functions within the brain, and maintenance of gastric mucosal integrity (Ricciotti and FitzGerald 2011). Interestingly, COX-1 has also been shown to affect platelet aggregation. In contrast, COX2, unlike COX1, is induced by inflammatory stimuli, and results in the downstream mediation of pain, and promotion of acute inflammation (Choi et al. 2009). From the distinct differences between the two isoforms came the development of selective and nonselective NSAIDs, where non-selective NSAIDs inhibit both COX-1 and COX-2 while selective NSAIDs inhibit either COX-1 or COX-2 (Ghlichloo and Gerriets 2023). The selective inhibition of COX-2 was brought on as a response to mitigate symptoms of swelling, redness, and pain.

Frequently utilized non-selective NSAIDs include ibuprofen, diclofenac, naproxen and ketorolac and the most frequently utilized COX-2 selective NSAIDs include celecoxib, rofecoxib, and valdecoxib (Ghlichloo and Gerriets 2023).

1.9.3.3 Ketorolac as the representative NSAID

Unlike ibuprofen and naproxen, ketorolac is an NSAID that is not available over the counter and is often used within hospital inpatient and outpatient settings for pain management in deep muscle pain (Litvak and McEvoy 1990). Unlike other NSAIDs, ketorolac has multiple options for administration including IV (intravenous), IM (intramuscular), oral, and intranasal (Vacha et al. 2015). While it functions the same as other non-selective NSAIDs in inhibiting COX-1 and COX-2, a much smaller dose of ketorolac is just as functional in pain management and fever reduction compared to other non-selective NSAIDs (Ghlichloo and Gerriets 2023).

The recommended IV and IM dose for ketorolac is 0.5mg/kg every 6 hours, after which the circulating medication is below the therapeutic dose (Mahmoodi and Kim 2020). This dosing regimen has previously been used in rainbow trout and goldfish and was well tolerated (Chatigny et al. 2018; Haddad et a.1 2023). After IM injection, ketorolac takes roughly 20 minutes to accumulate in the circulation and function at the therapeutic dose, however, the pharmacokinetic diffusion of ketorolac is subject to change depending on the route of administration and patient specific factors such as blood pressure, heart rate and muscle density. Within the 6 hour therapeutic window, the peak analgesic effects of ketorolac are seen between 1.25 and 4 hours post injection (Mahmoodi and Kim 2020).

1.9.3.4 Known effects of antipyretics on immune system and wound healing

The overwhelming use of antipyretics in response to pain from tissue injury has allowed for some investigation on the effects of antipyretics on the immune system and tissue repair. Numerous fundings indicate the potential detrimental effects of NSAID usage in the tissue repair process. NSAIDs have been demonstrated to have an anti-proliferative effect on fibroblasts, a key cell population in tissue repair (Krischak et al. 2007). The decreased fibroblast population and altered fibroblast function has been shown to result in hypertrophic scar formation, an indication of improper tissue remodelling (Su et al. 2010). The anti-proliferative effect of NSAIDs results in delayed epithelialization and angiogenesis within the early phases of tissue repair and has been studied in multiple commonly used NSAIDs. Additionally, there are indications of dysregulation of key cytokines such as TGF- β , which plays a prominent role in multiple stages of tissue repair (Su et al. 2010).

Furthermore, key anti-microbial functions such as NO release by innate immune cells is altered by NSAIDs (Schwentker et al. 2002). Nitric oxide plays roles in inflammation, angiogenesis and cell proliferation, all critical phases of tissue repair. Patients administered NSAIDs have shown a marked decrease in NO production, resulting in delayed or improper wound healing (Zhao-Fleming et al. 2018). Chronic administration of ketorolac to wounded rats during tissue repair resulted in decreased tensile strength of wounds and decreased collagen concentration (Haws et al. 1996).

While NSAIDs provide substantial relief from pain and swelling post injury, there are indications of NSAID interference with critical components of the tissue repair process. Furthermore, fever may allow for improved outcomes in tissue repair on the cellular and molecular level, and inhibition of fever may be detrimental in the tissue repair process.

1.9.4 Summary

Acute inflammation is a critical process in host defense against internal and external pathogens. Inflammation has been studied since ancient times and heat is considered a cardinal sign. However, there is still standing debate on if the rising of core body temperature, fever, has net negative or net positive effects on host health and immune responses. My lab has worked in developing an ectothermic model of fever in which a goldfish can exert a natural behavioral febrile response and has characterized changes in effector cell recruitment and function in response to immune challenge. Furthermore, we have previously demonstrated the altered recruitment and function of key effector cells in response to a natural fever after immune challenge. Not only were effector cell phenotypes and functions different before and after the peak of leukocyte infiltration, but these functions were significantly altered when a fish was allowed to exert a febrile response.

As changes in leukocyte kinetics and function were reported in response to a zymosaninduced acute inflammatory response in response to fever, I was curious to determine the impact on a dynamic cell population, thrombocytes, whose mammalian equivalent (platelets) have been demonstrated to have immunomodulatory effects in response to various stimuli, including temperature. Therefore, my project involved the characterization of goldfish thrombocytes in acute inflammation. While thrombocytes have been reported in many teleost models, including goldfish, thrombocytes within the site of immune challenge have not been quantified. In the limited studies on goldfish thrombocytes, thrombocytes show capacity to preferentially phagocytose smaller particles. Multiple other studies in teleost show thrombocyte capacity to act as antigen presenting cells and detect PAMPs with the use of MHCII and TLRs. These findings and others indicate that the immunomodulatory functions of platelets may be long conserved from thrombocytes. However, due to limited available reagents in the quantification of thrombocytes, and thrombocyte proliferation and activation have not been well established. Therefore, an aim of my project was the characterization of thrombocytes within the site of thrombocytes within the site of challenge with the use of cytochemical staining, molecular quantification, and high throughput flow cytometry. As a natural febrile response allowed for an earlier and greater thrombocyte recruitment as well.

Platelets are classically known to be involved in hemostasis and thrombus formation. Over the last three decades platelets have been observed to play roles within other processes in restoring hemostasis, namely, tissue repair. My lab has utilized a cutaneous infection model using *A. veronii* and examined pathogen clearance and tissue repair in multiple temperature conditions. Using this model, my lab has demonstrated a greater pathogen clearance at higher temperatures and at dynamic temperatures. Furthermore, goldfish hypothalamic increase of critical pro-inflammatory genes and anti-inflammatory genes are heightened in dynamic temperature conditions. Dynamic temperature conditions have also allowed for faster wound closure compared to static temperature conditions. As fever was demonstrated to have enhancing effects on tissue repair and pathogen clearance, I was curious to examine the impact of fever and fever-inhibition on thrombocyte proliferation and activation. I hypothesized that there would be greater recruitment of thrombocytes in dynamic temperature conditions compared to fever-inhibited conditions and static temperature conditions. However, because goldfish thrombocyte functions aren't well established, the implications of a greater thrombocyte count versus a lower thrombocyte count were unknown. Therefore, to address this, I aimed to quantify thrombocyte proliferation and activation, and then contextualize this by examining the pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in furuncles. Furthermore, I examined the tissue histology of furuncles to then determine the impact of fever and fever-inhibition on tissue repair at the molecular and tissue level.

In summary, my thesis focusses on the impact of fever on thrombocytes in acute inflammation and restoration of homeostasis. Using a self resolving peritonitis model and a cutaneous wound model, I examined thrombocytes and the effects of ketorolac induced feverinhibition. These findings shed some light on the potential immune enhancing benefits of the febrile response and show altered kinetics of a dynamic cell population, thrombocytes.

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

2.1 Animals

2.1.1 Goldfish

The goldfish (*Carassius auratus*) used in all studies were acquired from aquatic imports. The fish were 15cm in length and weighed roughly 20 grams. The goldfish were housed in the aquatics facility in the Biological Sciences Building at the University of Alberta. The goldfish were held at 16°C in opaque tanks in dechlorinated and oxygenated water. Goldfish were given at least 14 days to acclimatize before use in experiments. When using for experiments, fish were netted and anesthetized using 50mg/L tricaine methane sulfonate (TMS). Once the fish were anesthetized, fish were sacrificed via cervical dislocation to minimize unnecessary stress to the animals. All handling and sacrificing procedures were completed in conjunction with the Animal Care and Use Committees' and Science and Animal Support Services' procedures and protocols.

2.2 Immune Challenges

2.2.1 Intraperitoneal Injections with Zymosan

Goldfish that were 15-20cm were anesthetized in a TMS solution. Fish were injected using 21G needles loaded with 100μ L of Zymosan A (Cayman Chemicals) solution at 25μ g/mL. Zymosan was isolated from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Fish were injected 1-2cm below the pectoral fins in the soft tissue above the anus at a 45° angle. After injection, fish were returned to their original aesthetic-free water which was actively oxygenated and placed in either the ATPT tank or the fixed 16°C tanks once awake.

2.2.2 Peritonitis Infection with Aeromonas veronii

2.2.2.1 Culturing Aeromonas veronii

Aeromonas Veronii biovar sobria cultures were prepared by the addition of previous stock solution of *A. veronii bv sobria* to sterile, autoclaved tryptic soy broth (TSB) and left overnight on a shaker at room temperature until the Optical Density (600nm) was between 1-1.2 (indicating growth in log phase).

2.2.2.2 Creation of an Aeromonas Veronii infected wound site

Fish were anesthetized in 50mg/L TMS. Fish were placed on a benchkoat surface, and a 4 by 4 patch of scales was removed below the middle of the dorsal fin, 1cm above the midline. Three microincisions were made and 10μ L of actively growing *A. veronii* was swabbed on the microincisions. Fish were then placed in their original anesthesia-free water with a bubbler. Once awake, fish were placed in either the fixed 16°C tanks or the ATPT tank for a period of days.

2.3 Temperature conditions

2.3.1 Static Temperature Tank

As my research required the measurement of a dynamic behavioral fever compared to a static temperature range, two different tanks were used. Fish were housed in static conditions, in tanks where water temperature was held consistently at 16°C. While goldfish have a large thermal range, the fish housed within the Aquatics facility at the University of Alberta were acclimatized at 16°C.

2.3.2 Annular Thermal Preference Tank

To determine the potential benefit of host-driven thermoregulation, in my thesis project, I utilized a behavioral fever model. In order to allow goldfish to exhibit natural behavioral thermoregulation, I used an Annular Thermal Preference Tank (ATPT) (Haddad et al. 2023). The ATPT allows a fish to swim to a preferred temperature zone, and exhibit thermal preference. The temperatures of the ATPT range from 16°C to 26°C with 8 thermal zones from the highest and lowest temperature. Additionally, to limit stress in the behavioral response, there is a stable gradient between each temperature zone. In order to map behaviors such as lethargy, thermal preference and mean zone transitions, we utilize a high-resolution camera and tracking software to record thermoregulatory patterns over long observation times.

2.3 Administration of Ketorolac

2.3.1 Intraperitoneal Injection with Ketorolac

To evaluate the effects of fever inhibition on thrombocyte activation, peritoneal injections of ketorolac were used. Ketorolac tromethamine (Toradol IM) at 10mg/mL solution was diluted to 0.5mg/kg and 100µL are injected using a 21G needle into the peritoneal cavity of goldfish

once fish were anesthetized in TMS. Fish were injected 1-2cm above the anus below the pectoral fins in the soft tissue at a 45° angle. Fish were returned to their anesthetic free tank water and a bubbler was added while fish were transported to the ATPT tank.

2.4 Isolation of Peritoneal Leukocytes

2.4.1 Intraperitoneal Lavage Using Heparinized PBS

After a set number of hours post intraperitoneal injection with zymosan, fish were collected from their tanks and anesthetized in TMS. A cervical dislocation was preformed and any remaining blood on the fish was wiped off. The peritoneal cavity was opened from the dorsal fin to above the midline such that the majority of the peritoneum was visible after opening up the window. The peritoneal cavity was lavaged with 10mL of sterile 1X PBS ^{-/-} mixed with 50U/mL heparin in syringes with a 21G needle and the PBS solution with peritoneal contents was collected in 50mL conical tubes and placed on ice while awaiting further processing.

2.4.2 Enumerating peritoneal leukocytes.

Leukocytes in the peritoneal lavage (10mL) were enumerated using a hemacytometer (Fisher) and visualized on a light microscope (Nikon Eclipse TS100) at 10X. Cell concentration was calculated using the formula below:

Cell concentration = (# of cells counted)/ (# of outer squares counted) x Dilution factor x 10^5

2.5 Leukocyte Bioassays for Imaging Flow Cytometry

2.5.1 Reactive Oxygen Species and Nitric Oxide Assay

Once cells were harvested and enumerated, an aliquot containing 2x10⁶ cells was centrifuged at 1350 RPM for 8 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded, and cells were resuspended 1.5mL of 1X PBS ^{-/-} and washed again (1350 RPM for 8 minutes at 4°C). The supernatant was discarded, and cells were resuspended in 500µL of serum-free MGFL in a 2mL FACS tube. Once resuspended, 0.5µL of CellRoxTM Deep Red Reagent (Invitrogen) and 1µL of 1:10 diluted DAF-FM Diacetate (Invitrogen) in 1X PBS^{-/-} was added to the cells. Cells were then incubated for 30 minutes on ice in the dark. After incubation, 2mL of 1X PBS^{-/-} was added to the cells and cells were washed twice (1350 RPM for 8 minutes at 4°C). After two washes, the supernatant was discarded, and cells were resuspended in 140µL of 2% formaldehyde and incubated at 4°C in the dark for a minimum of 10 minutes. Once ready for use, cells were centrifuged at 1350 RPM for 8 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant was discarded prior to flow cytometric analysis.

Imaging flow cytometry data was acquired on the IS100 Imagestream (Amnis Corporation) and analyzed using the ISX software (Amnis Corporation).

2.5.2 Monoclonal Anti-Thrombocyte Antibody Assay

Leukocytes were collected, enumerated, and placed on ice. An aliquot of $2x10^6$ cells was centrifuged at 350 x g for 8 minutes at 4°C, the supernatant was discarded, and cells were resuspended in 2mL of serum free MGFL media. Resuspended cells were then transferred to a 2mL FACS tube, and 200µL of the anti-thrombocyte monoclonal primary antibody was added to the cells. Cells were incubated on ice and in the dark for 2 hours. After incubation 2mL of 1X PBS^{-/-} was added to the cells and cells were washed (350 x g for 8 minutes at 4°C). The cells were then resuspended in 2mL of serum free MGFL media, 4µL of PE anti-Rat IgG2a (Biolegend) secondary antibody was added and incubated for 2 hours on ice. After incubation in secondary antibody, 2mL of 1X PBS^{-/-} was added to the cells and cells were washed (350 x g for 8 minutes at 4°C). The supernatant was discarded prior to cells being used in imaging flow cytometry.

Imaging flow cytometry data was acquired on the IS100 Imagestream (Amnis Corporation) and analyzed using the ISX software (Amnis Corporation).

2.6 Histological Staining

2.6.1 Cytochemical Staining

2.6.1.1 Sudan Black B Staining

Glutaraldehyde fixative solution was prepared by the addition of 25mL of acetone to 75mL of Glutaraldehyde solution (Sigma Aldrich). One hundred thousand cells from peritoneal lavages were centrifuged at $55 \times g$ for 6 minutes onto microscope slides using a cytocentrifuge (Eppendorf). Cells were then fixed on slides by incubation of cells in Glutaraldehyde Fixative solution for 1 minute at 4°C. Cells were rinsed in distilled water and were incubated in Sudan Black B Solution (Sigma-Aldrich) in a Coplin jar for 5 minutes with agitation. Excess Sudan Black B solution was removed via three washes in ethanol (70%) until there was no black runoff

from slides. Slides were then rinsed in distilled water to remove excess ethanol. Slides were incubated in Hematoxylin Solution Gill No. 3 (Sigma Aldrich) a Coplin jar for five minutes. Excess reagent was rinsed off thoroughly with tap water and slides were left to air dry. After air drying, slides were mounted with Toluene (Sigma Aldrich) and a slide cover was added.

2.6.1.2 Hema 3

One hundred thousand cells were spun onto slides at 55 x g for 6 minutes using a cytocentrifuge. Cells were fixed by Hema3 Fixative (Fisher Scientific). Slides were tapped to remove excess solution and incubated in Hema3 Solution 1(Fisher Scientific) for 1 min and excess was blotted off. Slides were then counterstained with Hema3 Solution II (Fisher Scientific) for 30 seconds, rinsed with tap water, and mounted using Permount (Fisher Scientific) once dry.

2.6.1.3 Periodic Acid Schiff (PAS) Stain

One hundred thousand cells were centrifuged at 55 x g for 6 minutes in a cytocentrifuge. Slides were then fixed in an ethanol-formaldehyde solution. Ethanol-formaldehyde solution was made fresh every use by the addition of 5mL formaldehyde (Fisher Scientific) and 45mL ethanol (95%) . After fixing slides were rinsed in tap water for 1 minute. Slides were then immersed in Periodic Acid Solution (Sigma Aldrich) at room temperature for 5 minutes. After incubation, slides were washed in distilled water five times. Slides were incubated in Schiff's Reagent (Sigma Aldrich) for 15 minutes at room temperature. After incubation, slides were washed in distilled water. Slides were counterstained in Hematoxylin Solution Gill no. 3 (Sigma Aldrich) for 90 seconds at room temperature. Slides were then rinsed in distilled water and left to air-dry. Once dry, cells were mounted with Permount (Fisher Scientific) and left to dry prior to viewing on the DM1000 microscope (Leica).

2.6.2 Histological Staining of Tissues

2.6.2.1 Fixing and Paraffinizing

Furuncles, when collected, were immediately preserved in formalin (Fisher). All samples were dehydrated with serial decreasing concentrations of ethanol and then paraffinized in the Microscopy Facility (Biological Sciences, University of Alberta, Alberta). Samples were all loaded and then dehydrated and paraffinized by an Automatic Benchtop Tissue Processor TP1020 (Leica).

2.6.2.2 Masson's Trichrome stain

After paraffinization, thin sections of samples were acquired on microscope slides, and in the fume hood, slides were immersed in Toluene (Fisher) twice for 5 minutes. Samples were then immersed into serial dilutions (100%, 90%, 70% 50%) of ethanol for 2 mins each. To stain the nuclei, Hematoxylin Gill III (Surgipath) were used for 1.5 minutes. After staining nuclei, slides were washed well in cold running tap water for 10 minutes, and then under distilled water for 1 minute. Slides were then stained for 2 minutes Ponceau-Acid-Fuchsin solution prepared by mixing the components in Table 2.3. Samples were rinsed in distilled water for 1 minute, then differentiated for 5 minutes in 1% phosphomolybdic acid (Fisher) and immediately transferred to Acetic Aniline Blue solution for 3 minutes. Slides were then rinsed in distilled water for 1 min and immersed in fresh phosphomolybdic acid (Fisher) for 5 minutes. Slides were placed in 1% aqueous acetic acid (Fisher) for 3 minutes and serially dehydrated in 95%, 100% and 100% ethanol for 2 minutes each. Slides were then immersed in toluene for 2 minutes and mounted with DPX mounting medium (Electron Microscopy Sciences), covered with coverslips and left to dry before visualizing.

2.6.2.3 Hematoxylin and Eosin Stain

After paraffinizing and thin sectioning samples onto slides, slides were immersed in fresh Toluene (Fisher) for 2 minutes and then 8 minutes. Slides were then serially diluted in ethanol (100%, 100%, 90%, 70% and 50%) for 2 minutes and then placed in distilled water for 2 minutes. Slides were then placed in Hematoxylin Gill no. 3 (Surgipath) for 2 minutes and then rinsed in distilled water followed by cold tap water for 15 minutes. Slides were then washed with ethanol (70%) for 2 minutes prior to a 30 second incubation in Eosin (Surgipath). Slides were then washed with fresh ethanol (100%) twice for 2 minutes and then placed in toluene for 2 minutes. Immediately after removing the slides from toluene they were mounted with coverslips using DPX mounting medium (Electron Microscopy Sciences).

2.7 Quantitative PCR

2.7.1 RNA Extraction

Samples were thawed from -80°C on ice and placed in 12mL round bottom tubes. TRIzol (Ambion) was added based on the tissue (Furuncle 1.5mL, kidney 1mL, peritoneal lavage 1mL).

Tissue was then homogenized and 1mL of the TRIzol mixture was added to a 2mL microcentrifuge tube and left undisturbed for 5 minutes. Two hundred microlitres of 1-bromo-3-chloropropane (BCP) (Sigma Aldrich) was added to TRIzol mixture and vortexed well. Tubes were left undisturbed for 3 minutes at room temperature prior to centrifugation at 12 000 x g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The aqueous phase was placed into a fresh 2mL microcentrifuge tube without disturbing the debris and organic phases. To the aqueous phase, 500µL of ice-cold isopropanol and 1µL of glycogen (Roche) was added and mixed by inversion. Tubes were stored in -80°C for a minimum of 4 hours.

Tubes were removed from -80°C and cooled on ice before centrifugation at 12 000 x g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and 1mL of cold ethanol (75%) was added. Samples were centrifuged at 7500 x g for 5 minutes at 4°C, and the supernatant was discarded. Samples were centrifuged at 7500 x g for 5 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant was discarded. Tubes were blotted on paper towel and left to air dry for 10 minutes. After drying, 11 μ L of nuclease free, RNAse free H₂O was added, and RNA pellet and heat shocked at 56°C for 10 minutes.

The nucleic acid concentration was quantified using a Nanodrop apparatus at an absorbance of 260nm. Samples were read at 230nm and 280nm to determine potential phenolic and protein contaminations from the organic phase.

2.7.2 cDNA generation

RNA concentration determined by the Nanodrop apparatus, was diluted to $1\mu g/10\mu L$ using Nuclease Free H₂O. All cDNA was generated using a High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Biolegend). A 2X RT Master Mix was prepared (Table 2.1) and $10\mu L$ of the RT Mastermix was added to $10\mu L$ of the diluted RNA. Tubes were all kept on ice until they were added to the Mastercycler (Eppendorf). cDNA was then synthesized by running the thermal cycler at the manufacturer's specifications (Table 2.2).

2.7.3 Primers

All cytokine primers utilized in my thesis were previously validated for use in goldfish. The *c-mpl* gene sequence is not yet annotated in the goldfish genome however, a primer sequence has previously been reported by Katakura et al (2015). All other primers listed in Table 2.9 have been previously validated (Haddad et al. 2023; Grayfer et al. 2008; Grayfer & Blosevic2009). All primer sequences are listed in Table 2.9.

Primers were solubilized using Nuclease Free H₂O as per manufacturer's guidelines.

2.7.4 qPCR Assembly

qPCR Mastermix was created (Table 2.10) and added to 384-well qPCR plates on ice prior to cDNA addition. cDNA was added at 1:100 dilutions for reference genes (β-actin) and 1:10 dilutions for target genes (*cmpl, tnfa, tgfb, il10, il1b*). Total volume per well was 10 µL. Samples were run in triplicate and cycled 40 times. Each cycle consisted of 60s at 60°C and 15s at 95°C after an initial 10-minute heating period of 95°C. qPCR was preformed using the QuantStudio 6 Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems) in which RQ values were normalized against baseline gene expression of day 0 untreated fish. β-actin was used as a reference gene and relative fold change was calculated using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ quantification method.

2.8 Medias

2.8.1 Phosphate Buffered Saline (10X)

Multiple protocols in this thesis required the use of 1X PBS, diluted from 10X PBS. The 10X PBS was made by combining the components in their respective quantities described in Table 2.5. After completely dissolving all components to a homogenous mixture, the 10X PBS was filtered using a 22µm filter and autoclaved to remove any additional contaminants.

A 1 in 10 dilution using filter sterile, autoclaved milliQ water, to generate 1X PBS used in protocols.

2.8.2 Resuspension media

During long incubation steps with antibodies and fluorophores, cells were placed in serum-free MGFL medium. MGFL medium was created by combining the components in table 2.6, which required 10X HBSS and Nucleic Acid Precursor solution which were made prior by ingredients and volumes listed in table 2.7 and 2.8 respectively. The media was then filtered through a Steritop Filter unit (Millipore) and stored at 4°C.

2.9 Overall Experimental Design



Figure 2.9.1 Methods Summary for Characterization of Thrombocytes

Cytochemical staining with the Periodic Acid-Schiff stain was used to separate thrombocyte and erythrocyte cell populations. Glycogen within thrombocytes is cleaved to aldehydes using a periodic acid, and aldehydes are stained purple with the Schiff's reagent rendering thrombocytes a purple cytoplasm. Molecular quantification of thrombocytes was achieved through measurement of fold change on thrombopoietin receptor (*cmpl*), a marker for thrombocyte activation and proliferation. RNA was extracted, and qPCR was completed to measure *cmpl* of kidneys and furuncles of fish. Functional characteristics of thrombocytes are assessed with imaging flow-cytometry by staining with a primary monoclonal antibody that binds to the G6F-like component of thrombocyte cell membrane. Further assays can be completed for additional functions such as release of antimicrobial molecules such as ROS and NO.

TABLES

Table 2.1 Composition of RT Mastermix for cDNA

Component	Volume
10X RT Buffer	2.0 μL
25X dNTP Mix (100mM)	0.8 μL
10X RT Random Primers	2.0 μL
MultiScribe Reverse Transcriptase	1.0 µL
Nuclease-free H ₂ O	4.2 μL

Table 2.2 PCR Thermal Cycler Specifications

Settings	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4
Time	10 minutes	120 minutes	5 minutes	HOLD
Temperature	25°C	37°С	85°C	4°C

Table 2.3: Components of Ponceau-Acid-Fuchsin Solution

Component	Amount	Source/Cat#
Acid Fuchsin	0.6 g	Fisher/ F-97
Ponceau de xylidine	1.4 g	Michrome/565
Distilled Water	198 mL	-
Glacial Acetic Acid	2mL	Fisher/A38-212

Table 2.4: Components of Acetic Aniline Blue

Component	Amount	Source/Cat#
Aniline Blue	4g	Fisher/A967
Distilled Water	196mL	-
Glacial Acetic Acid	4mL	Fisher/A38-212

Table 2.5: Components of 10X Phosphate Buffered Saline

Component	Amount	Source/CAS#
KCl	2.0g	Fisher/7447-40-7
KH ₂ PO ₄	2.0g	Fisher/7778-77-0
NaCl	80.0g	Millipore Sigma/7647-14-5
Na ₂ HPO ₄	11.44g	Millipore Sigma/7558-79-4

Table 2.6: Components of MGFL-15 Medium (Serum-free)

Component	Amount	Source/CAS#/Cat#
HEPES	7.0g	Invitrogen/7365-45-9
KH ₂ PO ₄	0.688g	Fisher/7778-77-0

K ₂ HPO ₄	0.570g	Millipore Sigma/7758-11-4
NaOH	0.75g	Invitrogen/1310-73-2
NaHCO ₃	0.34g	Millipore Sigma/144-55-8
10x HBSS *	80mL	
MEM Amino Acid Solution (50X)	25mL	ThermoFisherSci/11130051
MEM Non-essential Amino Acid	25mL	ThermoFisherSci/11140050
Solution (100X, 10mM)		
MEM vitamin solution	20mL	ThermoFisherSci/11120037
Sodium pyruvate solution (100mM)	25mL	ThermoFisherSci/11360070
Nucleic Acid Precursor Solution *	20mL	
L-glutamine (200mM)	0.5844g	ThermoFisherSci/A2916801
Insulin	0.01g	Invitrogen/RP-10908
GFL-15	1L	Invitrogen/31415029
Beta-mercaptoethanol	7μL	Millipore Sigma 60-24-2
Autoclaved Filter Sterile H ₂ O	2L	

Table 2.7: Components of 10X Hanks Solution (HBSS)

Component	Amount	Source/CAS#
KC1	2g	Fisher/7447-40-7
KH ₂ PO ₄	0.3g	Fisher/7778-77-0
NaCl	40g	Millipore Sigma/7647-14-5
Na ₂ HPO ₄ •7H ₂ O	0.45g	Sigma Aldrich/ 7782-85-6
D-glucose	5g	Sigma Aldrich/ 50-99-7
Phenol red	0.05g	Millipore Sigma/ 143-74-8
Autoclaved Filter Sterile H ₂ O	500mL	

Table 2.8: Components of Nucleic Acid Precursor Solution

Component	Amount	Source/Cat#
Adenosine	0.067g	ThermoFisherSci/A10781.09
Cytidine	0.061g	ThermoFisherSci/111810500
Hypoxanthine	0.034g	ThermoFisherSci/A11481.06
Thymidine	0.061g	ThermoFisherSci/A11493.06
Uridine	0.061g	ThermoFisherSci/A15227.06
Autoclaved Filter Sterile H ₂ O	100mL	

Table 2.9 Primer Sequences for Quantitative PCR

Target Gene	Abbreviation	Sequence 5'-3'
Beta Actin	B-actin FW	GAC CAA CCC AAA CCT CTC AA
	B-actin RV	AGT CAA TGC GCC AAA CAG A
Tumor Necrosis	tnfa FW	TCA TTC CTT ACG ACG GCA TTT
Factor alpha	tnfa RV	CAG TCA CGT CAG CCT TGC AG
Interleukin 1 beta	il1b FW	GAT GCG CTG CTC AGC TTC T

	il1b RV	AGT GGG TGC TAC ATT AAC CAT ACG
Transforming	tgfb FW	GTA CAC TAC GGC GGA GGA TTG
Growth Factor Beta	tgfb RV	CGC TTC GAT TCG CTT TCT CT
Interleukin 10	il10 FW	CAA GGA GCT CCG TTC TGC AT
	il10 RV	TCG AGT AAT GGT GCC AAG TCA TCA
Thrombopoietin	cmpl FW	AGA ATG GAG TGA CTG GTC GAA AC
receptor	cmpl RV	GAT GAG CAG AGC CAC TGG AATA

Table 2.10 qPCR Master Mix Ratio per well

Reagent	Quantity
SybrGreen	5 μL
Nuclease-Free	1.5 μL
H ₂ O	
Forward Primer	0.5 μL
Reverse Primer	0.5 μL
cDNA	2.5 μL

Chapter 3: Behavioral fever is a robust regulator of functional innate immune responses.

3.0 Introduction

It has been well established that fever is a hallmark of acute inflammation and acute inflammation is often in response to the host encountering microbial challenges including bacteria, viruses, parasites, and fungi. Fever has been conserved throughout evolution for millions of years, while endotherms partake in a metabolic fever and internally raise core body temperature, ectotherms relocate to alter core body temperature (John Victor Hurley 1972; Kluger 1979; Terrien et al. 2011; Garami et al. 2018). Endotherms also undergo a metabolic fever which includes several metabolic pathways to increase core body temperature including shivering for thermogenesis and reduction of heat loss (Terrien et al. 2011; Roth and Blatteis 2014; Garami et al. 2018). Ectotherms do not undergo shivering or upregulation of the same metabolic pathways in an endothermic metabolic fever, and instead undergo a behavioral fever response via relocation to warmer and cooler environments for thermoregulation (Evans et al. 2015; Kluger 1979). Therefore, the study of behavioral thermoregulation of ectotherms serves as a strong model in comparative biology to understand an alternative mechanism for the induction of fever. As fever and acute inflammation are heavily interlinked, and fever has been shown to alter outcomes of acute inflammation, the functions of immune cells in the acute inflammatory process can provide important insights into this complex process (Serhan et al. 2020).

Therefore, the first objective of my thesis was to investigate the effects of fever on leukocyte populations during acute inflammation. Previous students in the lab reported changes in leukocyte infiltration throughout the acute inflammatory window (Havixbeck et al. 2015). After zymosan challenge, peak leukocyte infiltration of goldfish held at constant temperature was reported at 18 hpi. Additionally, the prominent population of total leukocytes during the peak of infiltration was neutrophils. Interestingly, two distinct phenotypes of neutrophils were present in the acute inflammatory window (48 hours), the first being pro-inflammatory neutrophils present before peak infiltration and during peak infiltration, and the second being pro-resolving neutrophils present hours after peak infiltration (Havixbeck et al. 2015). Neutrophils isolated in the pro-inflammatory phase released potent lipid mediators (LTB₄) that induced significant functional increases in macrophage anti-microbial responses. Neutrophils

isolated in the resolution phase of acute inflammation released high levels of another potent lipid mediator (Lipoxin A4) and induced functional changes in attenuation of macrophage ROS responses. These investigations highlighted the dynamic role of goldfish neutrophils during acute inflammation, and how this cell population can change phenotypes in response to cues during acute inflammation (Havixbeck and Barreda 2015). Furthermore, it established a foundation for the measurement of cell populations within the acute inflammatory window in goldfish. With the development of the ATPT in our lab, other students have measured functional differences in leukocyte recruitment and noted an earlier infiltration in febrile (dynamic) conditions compared to static (Wong 2017). Additionally, they isolated leukocyte subpopulations in static and dynamic conditions (Wong 2017). Interestingly, febrile (dynamic) conditions resulted in a significant drop in neutrophil populations immediately after the peak of infiltration, which was now identified as 16 hours post zymosan challenge. These results demonstrated marked changes in infiltration kinetics in three leukocyte subsets when a fish was allowed to exhibit to natural thermoregulatory response (ie. choose and translocate to preferred temperature).

My next research aim was to determine effector functions resulting from altered cell kinetics in response to fever. Others have shown altering lipid mediators during the acute inflammatory profile in response to zymosan challenge at static temperature and noted marked differences in antimicrobial response profiles (ROS) of cells isolated during different phases of acute inflammation (Havixbeck et al. 2015). After development of the ATPT, an additional antimicrobial response was assessed, NO species production (Wong 2017; Haddad et al. 2023). Marked differences in antimicrobial profiles were observed in response to febrile and afebrile conditions. These significant differences in antimicrobial profiles were also observed in response to other immune challenges such as A. veronii (Haddad et al. 2023). Using previously applied methods in the lab, I aimed to first characterize leukocyte infiltration and function within the peritoneum in both temperature conditions and apply these techniques in quantifying a cell population that may have potent immunomodulatory effects within acute inflammation, and the effect of fever on thrombocyte population. Previous collaborative investigations between my lab and others demonstrated the isolation of thrombocytes from total peripheral blood leukocytes and showed that thrombocytes possess phagocytic capacity through imaging flow-cytometric assays (Nagasawa et al. 2014). While this study was substantial in showing a novel thrombocyte

function in teleost, these thrombocytes were harvested from total blood and excluded thrombocytes participating in the site of immune challenge (peritoneum). Therefore, my last aim was to investigate the impact of fever on the infiltration kinetics of thrombocytes in the peritoneum which necessitated multiple methods of quantification including cytochemical staining, gene upregulation, and high throughput imaging flow cytometry.

To understand the impact of behavioral fever on acute inflammation, this chapter focusses on the recruitment [1] and function [2] of essential innate immune effector cell populations in response to zymosan induced peritonitis. To expand on the work of others in my laboratory and others in the field, I characterized the morphology [3] and recruitment [3,4] of another dynamic cell population, thrombocytes. Thrombocytes are the closest evolutionary ancestor to human platelets, which demonstrate dynamic interactions with innate and adaptive immune cells, as well as active involvement in inflammation.

3.1 Fever alters the recruitment kinetics of leukocytes in goldfish challenged with zymosan.

Ectothermic animals will seek warmer temperature environments to thermoregulate, and the conserved response of thermoregulation provides a strong argument for the beneficial effects of a fever (Evans et al. 2015; Haddad et al. 2023). Others have previously established that a fever allows for enhanced pathogen clearance but the regulatory mechanisms controlling this process have only recently been examined (Haddad et al. 2023; Havixbeck et al. 2015). Leukocytes are a heterogenous population of cells of the innate immune system that carry out immunomodulatory and effector functions for pathogen clearance. To derive the effect of a natural fever, I began to look at leukocyte recruitment post injection with zymosan, within the first 24 hours of injection when fish were allowed to exhibit a behavioral fever response compared to fish held at a static temperature. The fish allowed to exhibit a natural fever response were placed in the ATPT tank (herein referred to as T_D or dynamic fish), while fish held at a static temperature were placed in a standard holding tank held at 16°C (herein referred to as T_s or static fish) for 24 hours. Fish were collected every 4 hours in the 24-hour observation period. Leukocytes were isolated from the peritoneal cavity via a peritoneal lavage and enumerated for each time point (Figure 3.2.1). The peak of leukocyte infiltration in static and dynamic conditions occurred at 16 hpi with a mean of $92 \times 10^5 \pm 9.01$ leukocytes in T_s fish, and a mean $125 \times 10^5 \pm 9.01$ leukocytes in T_D fish. Infiltration profiles in both static and dynamic conditions showed a curve-like distribution

peaking at 16 hpi, however the number of cells in the peritoneal cavity before and after the peak showed significant differences. In static conditions, T_s at 12 hpi showed lower average total leukocytes ($59.6 \times 10^5 \pm 7.29, p < 0.05$) than T_D fish ($88.8 \times 10^5 \pm 7.29, p < 0.05$). At 20 hpi, T_s fish showed higher total leukocytes ($70.0 \times 10^5 \pm 10.5, p < 0.05$) compared to T_D fish ($24.8 \times 10^5 \pm 10.5, p < 0.05$), and this trend continued for every time point up to 48 hpi. At 20 hpi there is a significant drop in total leukocytes in TD fish and by 48 hpi, total leukocyte count returns to baseline conditions ($8.40 \times 10^5 \pm 5.89, p < 0.01$). In comparison, in T_s fish, total leukocyte count does not return to baseline levels even up to 48 hpi ($49.6 \times 10^5 \pm 5.89, p < 0.01$). Overall, these findings indicate a difference in recruitment kinetics depending on if the fish was allowed to exhibit a natural behavioral fever post immune challenge with zymosan.

3.2 Fever alters the kinetics of neutrophils, macrophage/monocytes and lymphocytes in acute inflammation.

In murine and mammalian models there is a substantial recruitment of both macrophages and neutrophils to the site of infection, in fish, neutrophils have been identified as the more predominant effector, while circulating macrophages make up a slightly smaller proportion of effector phagocytes (Davies et al. 2011; Havixbeck et al. 2015; Havixbeck and Barreda 2015). While the recruitment of total leukocytes was different between fish allowed to exhibit a natural behavioral fever and fish held at a constant temperature, total leukocyte count does not specifically identify the leukocyte subsets within the peritoneal cavity. Therefore, to identify which cell subsets and their proportion relative to other leukocyte subsets, I visualized and enumerated three cell populations that make up most of the infiltrating innate immune cells in goldfish. These populations are macrophage/monocytes, neutrophils, and lymphocytes. Unlike murine innate immune cells, goldfish macrophages, monocytes, and neutrophils show similar morphologies under the microscope and therefore the Sudan Black B stain was used to distinguish between the neutrophil and macrophage/monocyte populations (Blumenreich 2011). Sudan Black B stains the granules within neutrophils, and the absence of acidic granules in macrophages and monocytes allows for the resolution of both populations (Cornbleet 1998; Haddad et al. 2023). Lymphocytes and macrophages differ in nuclear and cytoplasmic

morphology and therefore a Wright-Giemsa stain allowed for their identification (Witeska et al. 2022).

When total leukocytes were separated and enumerated into subsets, there were key differences in the recruitment of each leukocyte subset between fish held at static and dynamic temperatures. Of the total leukocytes infiltrating the peritoneal cavity, neutrophils made up most of the phagocytosing cells (Fig 3.2.2). The neutrophil population in T_D fish infiltrated as early as 4 hpi (47.1 × $10^5 \pm 5.27$), peaked at 12 hpi (76.7 × $10^5 \pm 7.65$) and showed a stark decline by 20 hpi ($16.0 \times 10^5 \pm 4.76$), returning to baseline conditions by 24 hpi. In T_s fish, neutrophil recruitment was at a significantly lower level from 4-12 hpi, with the highest infiltration at 16 hpi (72.4 \times 10⁵ \pm 10.5) compared to T_D fish. By 24 hpi T_S fish neutrophils had not returned to baseline levels. Although total leukocyte number was not statistically different at 8 hpi in both temperature conditions, the proportion of neutrophils from that total leukocyte population was statistically significant. Macrophage/monocyte recruitment peaked at 16 hpi in both temperature conditions, but macrophage/monocyte count had not returned to baseline by 24 hpi in T_S fish. TD fish macrophage/monocyte counts dropped significantly at 20 hpi $(5.05 \times 10^5 \pm 3.10, p < 10^5 \pm 3.10)$ 0.05) compared to T_s fish ($21.0 \times 10^5 \pm 3.10$, p < 0.05). The lymphocyte population made up the smallest proportion of total leukocytes. At multiple time points within 24 hours, the lymphocyte population of T_D fish was higher than T_S fish (t=4 hpi, 12 hpi, 20 hpi, 24 hpi). Lymphocytes gradually increased in T_D fish, showing highest count at 24 hpi ($25.3 \times 10^5 \pm$ 3.35) while in T_s fish, lymphocytes remained consistently below $2x10^6$ and at 24hpi $(4.55 \times 10^5 \pm 3.35)$ were like the 4 hpi numbers. While behavioral fever altered and accelerated leukocyte recruitment kinetics, for many timepoints (t= 0 hpi, 4 hpi, 8 hpi, and 16 hpi) the cell populations remained similar. Overall, in T_D fish, phagocyte subsets, namely neutrophils and macrophage/monocytes showed a rapid influx and an earlier egress from the peritoneum compared to T_S fish. Furthermore, lymphocytes showed a consistent increase in dynamic conditions compared to static conditions. These results suggest that behavioral fever promotes a rapid infiltration of phagocytic cells followed by a shift to the promotion of inflammation resolution.

While the febrile response altered both infiltration and composition of the leukocyte subset, to assess whether there were functional differences from fever, I examined the antimicrobial responses executed by the leukocytes.

Interestingly, the amount of ROS-positive (referred to as ROS+) cells were greater overall in fish held at static temperatures compared to fish allowed to exhibit a natural behavioral fever (**Figure 3.2.3A**) The highest levels of ROS+ cells were seen at 16 hpi in both temperature conditions however, the T_s fish had significantly higher numbers of ROS producing cells($T_s =$ $1.33 \times 10^5 \pm 9.31$, $T_D = 15.9 \pm 9.31$, p < 0.05). This data suggests that while T_D fish had a faster leukocyte infiltration post immune challenge, which was predominantly a neutrophil population, the ability to behaviorally thermoregulate does not induce an increase in their antimicrobial activity.

When I examined the NO producing cells in both temperature conditions, T_D fish exhibited significantly higher levels of NO-positive (NO+) cells compared to T_S fish at 12 hpi $(T_S = 6.83 \times 10^5 \pm 6.39, T_D = 18.8 \pm 6.39, p < 0.05)$ and 16 hpi $T_S = 5.23 \times 10^5 \pm$ $3.02, T_D = 30.5 \pm 3.02, p < 0.05)$ (Figure 3.2.3B). Furthermore, T_D fish were able to resolve inflammation more efficiently, as demonstrated by the sharp decline of NO+ cells as early as 20 hpi. Comparatively, NO+ cells in T_S fish did not return to 0 hpi conditions even up to 48 hpi. Taken together, while the ability to exhibit a natural fever alters leukocyte recruitment kinetics, behavioral thermoregulation changes the antimicrobial responses utilized by leukocytes in pathogen clearance.

3.3 Identification of thrombocytes using cytochemical staining, flow cytometry, and gene expression

3.3.1 Cytochemical Staining of Thrombocytes

The morphology of thrombocytes changes upon activation in both humans (platelets) and teleost (Gear 1984; Hasegawa et al. 1998). Moreover, the nucleated morphology of thrombocytes and erythrocytes add difficulty in enumeration if standard Wright-Giemsa cytochemical stains are used. In other teleost models, the Periodic Acid Schiff (PAS) stain was utilized to identify

thrombocytes in peripheral blood cultures (Ksenija Aksentijević et al. 2023). The PAS stain allowed for the distinguishing of thrombocytes from other cell types due to a high glycogen content in thrombocytes compared to other cell types. Therefore, to identify thrombocytes within the peritoneum during acute inflammation, I utilized the PAS staining approach.

While using Wright-Giemsa nuclear stains for neutrophils, macrophages, monocytes, and lymphocytes allows for the identification of the different cell types, **Figure 3.3.1A** highlights the visible similarities between thrombocytes and erythrocytes in goldfish. However, due to distinct differences in glycogen content of thrombocytes and erythrocytes, thrombocytes appear with a dark pink and purple cytoplasm while erythrocyte cytoplasm remains unstained (**Figure 3.3.1A**). After validating the distinguishing capacity of the PAS stain, I enumerated the thrombocytes within the peritoneum in both dynamic and static conditions.

While the number of thrombocytes was significantly lower than other cell populations, like my previous findings, thrombocyte recruitment was altered when fish were allowed to exhibit a febrile response. In T_D fish, there was an early increase of thrombocytes at 8 hpi which subsequently returned to baseline levels at 24 hpi (**Figure 3.3.1B**). While a slight increase in thrombocytes is observed at 16 hpi, it is not statistically significant. In T_S fish, thrombocytes were significantly upregulated at 8 hpi, 16 hpi and 20 hpi. Further, between both static and dynamic conditions, thrombocyte populations were significantly different at 12 hpi($T_S =$ $2.99 \times 10^5 \pm 0.191$, $T_D = 1.37 \pm 0.191$, p < 0.05) and 20 hpi($T_S = 9.66 \times 10^5 \pm 1.22$, $T_D =$ 0.978 ± 1.22 , p < 0.05). To ensure that the thrombocyte infiltration was not in response to tissue injury from injection requiring thrombocytic hemostasis, I injected additional fish with 1X PBS ^{-/-} and enumerated any cells that infiltrated the peritoneum. In all controls, there were no thrombocytes detected after injection with 1X PBS ^{-/-}.

3.3.2 Goldfish thrombocytes can be detected using imaging cytometry after staining with a monoclonal antibody.

Thrombocytes and thromboid lineage cells contain a G6F-like transmembrane molecule (Ohashi et al. 2010) which can be detected via monoclonal antibodies. I utilized the 5H2 monoclonal antibody that binds to G6F-like transmembrane domains found on thrombocytes and occasionally erythrocytes. After optimizing the antibody assay, I was able to capture images of

thrombocytes isolated from the peritoneal cavity of goldfish during acute inflammation (**Figure 3.3.2**). However, the authors that designed this hybridoma cell line mentioned occasional binding to erythrocytes. To ensure that this antibody stained only thrombocytes, I collected blood from these goldfish and clotted it. Assuming most, if not all thrombocytes participated in the clot, I collected the remaining non-coagulated blood fraction and stained it using this antibody. Additionally, I stained an aliquot of this non-coagulated blood fraction with both Wright-Giemsa and PAS stains, to confirm that this fraction contained only erythrocytes. The cytochemical stains confirmed that there were no thrombocytes in the blood fraction and when stained with the monoclonal antibody, there was less than 1% binding. Therefore, **Figure 3.3.2** includes three representative cells that are positive (indicated by POS) for the primary monoclonal antibody and secondary PE antibody, presumed to be thrombocytes and one erythrocyte from the coagulated blood fraction, negative for the primary monoclonal antibody and secondary PE antibody (indicated by NEG).

3.3.3 Alterations in peritoneal thrombocytes are reflected in the hematopoietic compartment by molecular quantification of *c-mpl*.

While *c-mpl* has been identified as a critical marker for thrombocyte proliferation and activation, I was curious to determine if it was primarily a marker for proliferation or activation (Hitchcock et al. 2021). In thrombocytes, the *c-mpl* gene encodes for the thrombopoietin receptor located on the surface of thrombocytes (**Figure 3.3.3A**). Thrombocytes originate from a myeloid early progenitor, housed in the hematopoietic compartment of goldfish, the kidneys (Katzenback et al. 2016). In the kidneys, an upregulation of *c-mpl* is indicative of an increase in commitment to differentiate into thrombocytes rather than erythrocytes. To determine whether there was greater proliferation of thrombocytes in the kidneys, I quantified *c-mpl* in the kidneys before (12 hpi), during (16 hpi) and after (20 hpi, 24 hpi) the peak of infiltration.

Overall, in T_S fish, there is a greater number of thrombocytes in the peritoneal cavity (**Figure 3.3.1B**). In the kidneys of these T_S fish, there is also a greater upregulation of *c-mpl* compared to kidneys of T_D fish (**Figure 3.3.3**). The first significant upregulation of *c-mpl* occurs at 12 hpi, while the second and greatest upregulation of *c-mpl* occurs at 20 hpi in T_S fish. At 12 hpi $T_S = 3.99 \times 10^5 \pm 0.447$, $T_D = 1.76 \pm 0.447$, p < 0.05) and 20 hpi $T_S = 12.2 \times 10^5 \pm$

1.49, $T_D = 1.67 \pm 1.49$, p < 0.01) within the peritoneum there is a significantly higher thrombocyte population (**Figure 3.3.1B**) indicating that the there may be an increase in commitment to thrombocyte differentiation in the hematopoietic compartment, and these differentiated thrombocytes are subsequently recruited to the peritoneum to participate in acute inflammation. Interestingly, there is only minor upregulation of *c-mpl* in the kidneys overall, however this small upregulation results in the influx of up to 1 million thrombocytes in the peritoneum.

In contrast to static conditions, when a fish is allowed to exhibit a natural febrile response, there is no significant upregulation of *c-mpl*. However, it is worth noting that the maximum thrombocytes in the peritoneum were outside of the peak cell infiltration window (i.e., 12 hpi to 20 hpi). Therefore, there may be early upregulation of thrombocytes prior to peak infiltration window when the host is inducing inflammatory pathways rather than during the peak of inflammation. While not statistically significant from baseline, it is important to note that in Ts fish, *c-mpl* upregulation is not fully attenuated by 24 hpi and there is a sustained upregulation of *c-mpl* in the kidneys up to 24hpi ($T_s = 6.33 \times 10^5 \pm 2.06$, p = 0.357).

3.4 Discussion

To understand the impact of thermoregulation in ectotherms and the potential advantages of a febrile response, my first aim was to characterize total leukocyte populations within the acute inflammatory timeline in both dynamic and static temperature conditions.

In quantifying total leukocytes in dynamic and static temperature conditions, I found that there is an earlier leukocyte infiltration in dynamic temperature conditions compared to static conditions. In dynamic conditions there was significant leukocyte infiltration as early as 8 hpi compared to baseline 0 hpi, and significantly higher leukocyte infiltration by 12 hpi in dynamic conditions compared to static. The peak of infiltration was observed to be at 16 hpi in both static and dynamic conditions post zymosan injection, which differs from the 18 hpi peak reported by Havixbeck et al (2015). Furthermore, there was rapid egress of the infiltrated leukocytes by 20 hpi in dynamic conditions compared to static, and within static conditions the leukocytes was observed in dynamic conditions as early as 20 hpi. While similar data was obtained by Wong
(2017), I did not observe the same degree of decrease in leukocyte count at 20 hpi. However, both my data and previously acquired data indicated a significant drop in leukocyte counts at 20 hpi in dynamic conditions compared to static. In simply examining leukocyte recruitment, the differences caused by allowing a natural febrile response versus keeping goldfish at static temperatures, the role of thermoregulation and temperature is highlighted.

However, the infiltrating leukocytes are a heterogenous population of innate and adaptive immune cells that participate in effector functions for both the onset and resolution of inflammation. This can include a vast array of responses such as phagocytosis, antimicrobial responses (ROS and NO production) and subsequent release of anti-inflammatory cytokines for the resolution of inflammation. To delineate the significance of thermoregulation, my second aim was to identify the subpopulations of infiltrating leukocytes. Like the reports of Havixbeck et al (2015), the total leukocyte population in static conditions predominantly consisted of neutrophils, followed by macrophages and monocytes. I found that these proportions of cellular subpopulations were accurate for both static and dynamic conditions. Specifically, as reported by previous students from my lab, there is an earlier infiltration of neutrophils and macrophage/monocytes within dynamic conditions compared to static conditions (Havixbeck et al 2015; Wong 2017). Lymphocyte recruitment to the peritoneum is greater overall in dynamic conditions and increases beyond 24 hpi.

The earlier recruitment of neutrophils and macrophages in warmer temperatures has been observed in many ectothermic fever models including lizards, Atlantic salmon, and goldfish (Pettersen et al. 2005; Bernheim et al. 1978; Havixbeck et al 2015). In mammals, several studies have shown that the elevation of body temperature results in increased neutrophil populations through the increased temperature-dependent release of G-CSF (granulocyte colony stimulating factor; Ellis et al. 2005; Capitano et al. 2012). In mice, hyperthermia also increased G-CSF concentrations, thereby increasing accumulation of neutrophils resulting in significant tumor reduction mediated by neutrophil generated reactive oxygen species (Ellis et al. 2005). In comparison, my results show that fish in febrile conditions generating lower amounts of ROS compared to afebrile (static) conditions post injection with zymosan. Alternatively, there was significantly greater amounts of NO positive cells in febrile conditions. A potential explanation for the attenuated ROS response in T_D fish could be that the greater efficiency in recruitment

kinetics of neutrophils and macrophage/monocyte populations allowed for overall increase in other pathogen clearing strategies such as phagocytosis and NETosis by neutrophils (Monteith et al. 2021). While there were fewer ROS producing cells in T_D fish, T_D fish showed faster pathogen clearance suggesting an alternative antimicrobial killing mechanism. Similar results in goldfish were observed by Wong (2017) in response to zymosan induced peritonitis and Haddad et al (2023) in dynamic conditions in response to furuncle infection with *A. veronii*. Overall, these data suggest that febrile conditions alter anti-microbial responses of leukocytes and drive these anti-microbial responses towards NO mediated killing.

Despite that many pathogenic bacteria have optimal growth temperatures in the febrile range of mammalian hosts, studies show increased amounts of pro-inflammatory cytokines released by macrophages and neutrophils including TNFa, IL-6 and IFNy in the peritoneum of febrile hosts compared to afebrile ones (Jiang et al. 2000). Brief heat-treatment of mice prior to endotoxin exposure resulted in stronger upregulation of TNFa by macrophages and increased pro-inflammatory macrophages up to 48 hours post exposure compared to non-heat-treated controls (Lee et al. 2012). Furthermore, macrophages of heat-treated mice released significantly greater amounts of TNF α , IL1 β , IFN γ and IL-6 after restimulation with endotoxin, mounting a considerably greater pro-inflammatory response compared to non-heat-treated controls (Lee et al. 2012). Mammalian studies have shown that increased temperatures have allowed for an enhancement of lymphocyte trafficking within the endothelial venules of lymph nodes. For example, heat treatment allowed for increased L-selectin-dependent adherence of naïve T lymphocytes, increased intracellular density of ICAM-1, and increased number and duration of T cell-antigen presenting cell (APC) interactions (Evans et al. 2015). These studies indicate that fever and external heat can contribute to increased pro-inflammatory responses, and overall better pathogen clearance.

Despite the benefits of mounting a stronger pro-inflammatory response and enhanced pathogen clearance, increased temperatures may also result in increased tissue injury and lead to potential pathophysiology related to chronic inflammation. Febrile-range hyperthermia accelerated pathogen clearance in murine models infected with *Klebsiella pneumoniae* but increased mouse mortality due to significant vascular endothelial injury within pulmonary tissues (Rice et al. 2005). The damage in pulmonary tissues was attributed to increased ROS release by

the neutrophil population resulting in tissue damage. However, studies have shown that a downregulation of ROS and increase in NO mediated anti-microbial killing enhanced post infection outcomes against opportunistic pathogens (Li et al. 2015). My data and data obtained by others in the lab indicated an upregulation of NO rather than ROS in febrile conditions in two infection models (Wong 2017; Haddad et al. 2023). Therefore, fever may favor alternate antimicrobial responses, thereby reducing the damaging effects of unhindered ROS-mediated pathogen clearance.

Increases in high-mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1) often released by macrophages in inflammatory sites can exacerbate inflammatory pathology in hosts. In vitro studies found that HMGB1 release is attenuated at higher temperatures resulting in decreased release of proinflammatory cytokines in RAW264.7 macrophages (Hagiwara et al. 2007). This was partly attributed to heat treatment resulting in increased macrophage intracellular heat shock proteins (HSP), which attenuated pro-inflammatory responses by macrophages (Hagiwara et al. 2007). Heat treatment in rheumatoid arthritis murine models showed the induction of HSP70 and subsequent decrease in pro-inflammatory macrophage recruitment and function in chronically inflamed sites (Lee et al. 2015). These studies indicated that heat may provide protective benefits in innate immune pathogen clearance, however, the inability of an organism to attenuate the proinflammatory response and promote the resolution of inflammation can result in long term pathologies. The administration of heat may also result in a greater capacity for resolving inflammation and an efficient switch between pro-inflammatory to pro-resolving agendas within organisms. In goldfish, after infection with Aeromonas veronii, fish in dynamic (febrile) conditions were able to mount a greater hypothalamic upregulation of HSP70 and HSP90 compared to fish held at constant 16°C temperatures. Furthermore, like mammalian studies, febrile condition fish had significantly greater hypothalamic upregulation of IL1 β , TNF α , and IL-6 earlier on in the acute inflammatory response compared to in afebrile (static 16°C) conditions (Haddad et al. 2023). The enhanced pathogen clearance and acute inflammatory outcomes may be due to fever altering the kinetics of recruited leukocytes and their functions. These alterations are seen in the significant differences in leukocyte recruitment in my data and previously acquired results from my lab (Havixbeck et al 2015; Wong 2017).

As fever plays an important role in altering the recruitment and function of leukocytes, I was curious to determine the impact of fever on thrombocytes. Thrombocytes are often referred to as the evolutionary ancestor of platelets. Platelets have been characterized to have several functions beyond hemostasis, including recruitment of leukocytes, release of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines, modulating antigen presentation, and enhancing adaptive immune responses. As platelets play a diverse role in inflammation, I was curious to examine the effects of thermoregulation on thrombocyte populations. However, while there are studies that have identified thrombocytes in teleost, techniques for the isolation, and quantification of primary thrombocytes from the site of immune challenge are limited. To date, isolation methods included cytochemical stains, specific binding with monoclonal antibodies to detect via flow cytometry, and molecular quantification of thrombocyte specific receptors via qPCR.

To identify thrombocytes within the peritoneal cavity of goldfish, I utilized a monoclonal antibody that bound to the G6F-like transmembrane domain of thrombocytes (Ohashi et al. 2010). This antibody was previously reported to partially bind to erythrocytes and therefore, one of my first steps involved stimulating thrombus formation in whole blood and testing the unclotted fraction for antibody binding. Using imaging flow-cytometry I was able to determine less than 1% binding of the mAb to erythrocytes. There have been several reports of thrombocytes in teleost having phagocytic capacities along with other immune activities. With the ability to detect thrombocytes using the imaging flow cytometer, I was curious to see whether thrombocytes contributed to the antimicrobial ROS and NO responses seen before and after acute inflammation. However, due to the limited quantity of thrombocytes within the peritoneum, after sorting the thrombocytes using a Cell Sorter and gating for cells positive for antibody binding, there were not enough thrombocytes in the fraction to preform and execute the ROS and NO assays.

The PAS stain takes advantage of the high glycogen content in thrombocytes and not erythrocytes and is therefore an important tool for distinguishing populations of erythrocytes from thrombocytes (Ksenija Aksentijević et al. 2023). Using the PAS stain I was able to enumerate thrombocytes during the window of acute inflammation. In febrile conditions the highest number of thrombocytes were present at 8 hpi, however they were not significantly different from fish held at static temperatures. Thrombocyte count remained low in febrile

conditions while at 20 hpi in static conditions, thrombocytes were significantly greater than dynamic conditions. Studies on human platelets report morphological changes in platelets in response to storage temperature changes. Storage of platelets at room temperature (20°C) resulted in increased platelet activation whereas mild heat shock of platelets at 42°C revealed little to no changes in activation states compared to 37°C controls (Maurer-Spurej et al. 2001). Several other differences in activation were detected in human blood platelets in response to temperature via flow cytometry including increased activation of aIIb₃ in response to 10minute storage at room temperature (Huskens et al. 2018). These findings indicate that platelets are sensitive to temperature and lower temperatures may result in increased activation and recruitment of platelets. These studies concur with my data as fish allowed to exhibit a natural febrile response (dynamic) showed overall lower numbers of thrombocytes compared to fish held at constant 16°C temperatures (static). Furthermore, activation and proliferation of thrombocytes at the hematopoietic site, measured via *c-mpl* reflects thrombocytes in the peritoneum and further suggests that afebrile (static) conditions result in increased thrombocyte activation. The hypothermic sensitivity of platelets may be a conserved feature from ancestral thrombocytes, however more studies are required to determine the conservation of cold sensitivity amongst thrombocytes and platelets.

In summary, I have determined the role of fever in acute inflammation by examining the effects of fever on classical effector cell (neutrophils, macrophages, lymphocytes) recruitment and function. Subsequently, I also showed the effect of fever on thrombocytes, the ancestors of platelets, which have significant immunomodulatory capacities. Finally, I was able to quantify thrombocytes using imaging flow cytometry, cytochemical staining, and transcriptional changes and found notable differences in febrile versus afebrile conditions.



Figure 3.2.1: Total leukocyte infiltration throughout acute inflammation in static and dynamic temperature conditions.

Goldfish were challenged with an intraperitoneal injection of zymosan and housed in static 16°C water (blue) or within the dynamic ATPT (red) before isolation via peritoneal lavage and quantification via hemacytometer. The lavages were preformed over 0, 4, 8, 12, 16, 20, 24 and 48 hpi in static and dynamic temperature conditions. Each point represents one fish with a n=5 per timepoint and a total n=40 per temperature condition. Data was analysed using an ordinary one way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's post-hoc test. Significance between groups of p<0.05 is denoted with (*), p<0.001 is denoted with (**) and significance from baseline is denoted with (+)







Figure 3.2.2 Behavioral fever altered recruitment kinetics of specific innate immune cell subpopulations.

Goldfish were challenged with an intraperitoneal zymosan injection and placed in either an ATPT (blue) or static (red) holding tanks where temperature was held constant at 16°C. A: At respective timepoints, total leukocytes were extracted by peritoneal lavage and subpopulations were further isolated using cytohistochemical staining. Each point represents one fish with a n=4 per timepoint and a total n=28 per temperature condition. Data was analysed using an ordinary one way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's post-hoc test. Significance between groups of p<0.05 is denoted with (*), p<0.001 is denoted with (**) and significance from baseline is denoted with (+) **B** Cytochemical stains of macrophage/monocyte, neutrophil and lymphocyte populations. Macrophage/Monocyte populations stained negative for Sudan Black B while neutrophil populations stained positive, allowing quantification. Lymphocytes and macrophage/monocytes were distinguished by morphological differences visualized after staining with a Wright-Giemsa stain.



Figure 3.2.3: Behavioral fever allows for the selectivity in ROS and NO antimicrobial responses of leukocytes.

Goldfish were challenged with an intraperitoneal zymosan injection and placed in either an ATPT (blue) or static (red) holding tanks where temperature was held constant at 16°C. A: Cells were stained using CellRox for the detection of ROS-positive cells. B: Cells were stained using DAF-FM for detection of NO-positive cells. Positive cells were quantified using an Imaging Flow Cytometer. Data was analysed using an ordinary one way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's post-hoc test. Significance between groups of p<0.05 is denoted with (*), p<0.001 is denoted with (**) and significance from baseline is denoted with (+). Each point represents one fish with a n=4 per timepoint and a total n=32 per temperature condition. Error bars represent standard error of the mean (SEM).



Figure 3.3.1 Behavioral thermoregulation altered recruitment kinetics of goldfish thrombocytes in-vivo.

Goldfish were challenged with an intraperitoneal zymosan injection and placed in either an ATPT (blue) or static (red) holding tanks where temperature was held constant at 16°C. A: Peritoneal lavages were stained with Wright-Geimsa and Periodic Acid-Schiff (PAS) cytochemical stains. Orange arrows highlight erythrocytes and green arrows highlight thrombocytes in both cytochemical stains. B: Thrombocytes in the peritoneum were enumerated using PAS staining in both temperature conditions across a 24-hour period post zymosan challenge. Data was analysed using an ordinary one way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's post-hoc test. Significance between groups of p<0.05 is denoted with (*), p<0.001 is denoted with (**) and significance from baseline is denoted with (+). Each point represents one fish with a n=4 per timepoint and a total n=32 per temperature condition.



Figure 3.3.2 Specialized mucosal immunoglobulins allow for isolation and detection of thrombocytes within the peritoneum during acute inflammation.

Total blood was isolated from goldfish held at static 16°C temperature 16 hours post injection with zymosan. Blood was coagulated via cooling and the clot was discarded. Remaining cells were stained with a primary monoclonal antibody that selectively binds to the G6F-like transmembrane domain of thrombocytes. Cells were stained with a PE secondary antibody and detected via an imaging flow cytometer. PE-positive cells are labelled POS. Erythrocytes as a morphologically similar PE-negative control are labelled as negative.



Figure 3.3.3 Molecular detection of thrombocyte proliferation in the kidney of goldfish post zymosan challenge

A: Thrombocytes proliferate through the binding of thrombopoietin (protein) to the thrombopoietin receptor, named *cmpl* found on the surface of thrombocytes. Upregulation of c-mpl in the kidneys is an indication of an increase in proliferation of thrombocytes. **B**: Goldfish were challenged with an intraperitoneal zymosan injection and placed in either an ATPT (blue) or static (red) holding tanks where temperature was held constant at 16°C. Goldfish kidneys were harvested at 0, 12, 16, 20, and 24 hours post injection with zymosan. RNA from kidneys was extracted and fold-change of c-mpl was detected via qPCR. Beta-actin was used as a reference gene with three technical replicates of 5 samples per timepoint. Data was analyzed using an ordinary two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey's post-hoc test and alphabetical letters denote significance with at least p<0.05.

Chapter 4: Inhibition of fever dysregulates thrombocytes and overall tissue repair processes.

4.0 Introduction

In response to tissue injury related pain in humans, we often ingest NSAIDs. However, while NSAIDs contribute to the reduction of pain, most function as anti-pyretics within organisms (Hawkey 2005). With the advancement of pharmaceutical drug development and the allopathic medical practices, fever is often inhibited with the use of common antipyretic medication. Anti-pyretic medications most commonly are NSAIDs that have anti-inflammatory effects, thereby affecting the acute inflammatory process (Hawkey 2005). In endotherms research of the effect of anti-pyretics has been hampered by the inability in experimental settings to separate the effects of physiological stress of altering thermoregulation of the body, or by off-target side effects of systemic circulation of NSAIDs within the body (Doyle and Schortgen 2016).

The findings of others and the results of the previous chapter confirmed that thermoregulation allows for a more efficient immune response to an immune challenge in fish (Haddad et al 2023). The lack of an opportunity to exhibit a natural febrile response result in alterations of not only the immune response but impacts thrombocyte proliferation at the site of immune challenge (peritoneum) and hematopoiesis (kidney). This led me to question whether the inhibition of thermoregulation (via anti-pyretic administration) had impacts on a process that platelets and thrombocytes are canonically known to be involved in, tissue repair.

Within my lab, tissue repair experiments show greater leukocyte infiltration in *A. veronii* infected wounds of fish held at higher static temperatures (26°C) and dynamic temperatures compared to fish held at lower static temperatures (16°C) (Haddad et al. 2023). The increased early leukocyte infiltration was concomitant with greater wound closure and tissue remodelling. These enhanced tissue repair outcomes were supported by critical cytokine and HSP upregulation at higher temperatures in the hypothalamus of wounded goldfish. These findings demonstrated that temperature plays a substantial role in tissue repair processes.

Tissue repair is a complex process involving an inflammatory phase and multiple effector cells for pathogen clearance and restoration of tissue homeostasis (Soliman et al. 2021). Other studies have shown the impact of heat treatment on neutrophil, macrophage and lymphocyte

recruitment and function as discussed in the previous chapter (Evans et al. 2015). Through cytokine analysis, one can infer the involvement of innate effectors within the site of tissue damage and the role of multiple effector cells have been thoroughly outlined in mammalian studies. However, the role of thrombocytes beyond hemostasis and their involvement in tissue repair is lacking in teleost studies. Platelets are known to be an essential cell population involved in multiple phases of the tissue repair timeline, and platelet activation is a temperature sensitive process (Maurer-Spurej et al. 2001; Huskens et al. 2018). However, the role of thrombocytes in tissue repair, and the effect of fever on thrombocytes in the tissue repair process is still to be determined. Furthermore, the inhibition of a fever via NSAID administration and the consequences on tissue repair are yet to be established.

To determine the impact of fever inhibition on the fundamental process of tissue repair, I examined the impact of ketorolac (an NSAID) on tissue repair of fish wounded subcutaneously and infected with *A. veronii*. Moreover, I examined the impact of fever inhibition on thrombocytes within the tissue repair site by examining the upregulation of *c-mpl* at the site of tissue injury. This chapter focusses on the effect of thermoregulation on tissue repair through examination of tissue histopathology [1], thrombocyte involvement [2], and cytokine analysis [3] in static, dynamic and fever-inhibited conditions of fish subcutaneously infected with *A. veronii* over a 21-day period.

4.1 Inhibition of behavioral fever with ketorolac delays tissue repair

4.1.1 Histological analysis

Collagen deposition, stained as blue in **Figure 4.1**, appeared as mature stacked collagen as early as 7 dpi in dynamic conditions. Whereas disorganized collagen deposition was seen at 7 dpi in the static and ketorolac conditions. Mature stacked collagen later appears in static conditions at 14 dpi and in ketorolac conditions at 21 dpi.

Following hemostasis and acute inflammation, an integral component of tissue healing is regeneration of tissue integrity. The development of tissue integrity can be visualized via increased cell stratification. This return of tissue structure can be seen as early as 7 dpi (**Figure 4.1A**) in the dynamic condition. Comparatively, tissues in the static condition at 7 dpi are only transitionally stratified. Further, there was no stratification seen by 7 dpi in ketorolac conditions (T_{ket}). Tissue stratification in ketorolac conditions was observed at 21 dpi (**Figure 4.1A**). Tissue integrity is complemented by the formation of the outer epidermis. Formation of a full epidermal layer is first seen in dynamic conditions at 7 dpi, in static conditions by 14 dpi and in ketorolac conditions by 21dpi (**Figure 4.1A**).

Histological analysis allowed for visualization of two particular cell types involved in tissue homeostasis, keratinocytes and adipocytes. Keratinocytes appear as early as 7dpi in dynamic conditions, visualized best at 200 μ m as the small circular cells on the surface of the epidermis. Keratinocytes are sparsely seen by 21 dpi in ketorolac conditions, compared to static conditions that have a greater number on the outer epidermis (**Figure 4.1A**). Similar patterns are seen with adipocytes for all the conditions and timepoints.

To address whether the administration of ketorolac, wounding patterns and *A. veronii* infection was causing changes in collagen deposition and maturity and tissue integrity, several control groups were utilized (**Figure 4.1B-C**). In the absence of wounding, after injection with ketorolac and exposure to our pathogen, there was no loss of collagen structure or maturity in the furuncles of goldfish (**Figure 4.1B**). In the absence of *A. veronii*, after injection with ketorolac and creation of a wound, collagen structure was initially lost due to wounding, but quickly regained by 14dpi and no lack of collagen maturation was observed (**Figure 4.1C**).

4.2 Ketorolac treatment dysregulates expression of thrombopoietin receptor in furuncle and hematopoietic site.

Upregulation of the thrombopoietin receptor (*c-mpl*) at the kidney is suggestive of thrombocyte proliferation. *c-mpl* was significantly upregulated in the kidney by 7 dpi in T_D fish $(T_D = 29.9 \pm 4.62, p < 0.05)$, however the same significant upregulation is not visible in T_s and ketorolac conditions at 7 dpi (**Figure 4.2A**). An upregulation of *c-mpl* is seen in ketorolac treatment at 7 dpi compared to static conditions at 7 dpi ($T_{ket} = 10.8 \pm 4.62, T_S = 5.04 \pm$ 4.62). Significant upregulation of *c-mpl* is observed at 14 dpi in T_{ket} ($T_{ket} = 18.0 \pm 4.62$)while static and dynamic temperature conditions at 14 dpi and 21 dpi are not statistically significant from baseline (0 dpi). The combination of these results indicates an early and significant

upregulation of *c-mpl* in dynamic condition fish. This is contrary to a later upregulation of *c-mpl* when fever is inhibited through ketorolac, suggesting altered thrombocyte proliferation compared to static and dynamic conditions.

Upregulation of *c-mpl* at the site of the furuncle can be indicative of activated thrombocytes or proliferating thrombocytes. There is no significant upregulation of *c-mpl* in both static and dynamic conditions compared to Day 0 (**Figure 4.2B**). At the site of injury in T_{ket} fish, by 21dpi, there is a substantial upregulation of *c-mpl*, indicating either thrombocyte activation or proliferation as late as 21 dpi ($T_{ket} = 264 \pm 11.5$, p < 0.05). Upon examination of earlier timepoints, the difference between fever and fever-inhibited conditions appears as early as 4 dpi, with ketorolac conditions do not show a significant upregulation of *c-mpl* from baseline (0 dpi), at 7 dpi the dynamic conditions show a greater upregulation of *c-mpl* at the furuncle than static conditions($T_D = 29.9 \pm 9.85$, p < 0.05).

4.3 Treatment with ketorolac results in dysregulated cytokine gene expression 4.3.1 TNFα

Tumor necrosis factor alpha (*tnfa*) is a potent pro-inflammatory mediator. At the furuncle site, in static conditions, *tnfa* is not significantly upregulated (**Figure 4.3A**). In dynamic fever conditions *tnfa* is significantly upregulated at 14 dpi ($T_D = 12.3 \pm 2.68, p < 0.01$) compared to both 0 dpi and 7 dpi. Downregulation of *tnfa* occurs by 21 dpi in the dynamic conditions($T_D = 9.96 \pm 2.85, p < 0.01$), whereas, in ketorolac conditions *tnfa* is not upregulated until 21dpi ($T_{ket} = 15.1 \pm 2.68, p < 0.001$).

4.3.2 IL-1β

Interleukin 1-beta is conserved mediator of the inflammatory response. At the furuncle site, *il1b* shows a nonsignificant increase at 7 dpi and a return to baseline by 21 dpi (**Figure 4.3B**). A similar trend is observed in dynamic conditions. Further, in the ketorolac conditions, *il1b* is significantly upregulated at 7 dpi($T_{ket} = 40.7 \pm 9.25$, p < 0.01) and is downregulated by

14 dpi ($T_{ket} = 16.9 \pm 9.25$). Interestingly, there is a significant increase at 21 dpi for the ketorolac conditions($T_{ket} = 51.9 \pm 9.25, p < 0.0001$).

4.3.3 TGF-β

Transforming growth factor beta (*tgfb*) is a pleiotropic cytokine that can be indicative of pro- and anti-inflammatory phenotypes, dependent on the tissue. In the case of the wound site, *tgfb* is indicative of a pro-resolution agenda. In static conditions, *tgfb* is significantly upregulated 14 dpi $T_s = 150.6 \pm 25.34$, p < 0.0001 and 21 dpi $T_s = 107 \pm 23.9$, p < 0.0001 (Figure 4.3C). In dynamic conditions, *tgfb* is upregulated 14 dpi $T_D = 190 \pm 23.9$, p < 0.0001 and 21 dpi $T_D = 153 \pm 23.9$, p < 0.0001, with a significantly greater fold change at 21 dpi compared to static treatment at 21 dpi. In ketorolac conditions, *tgfb* is upregulated at 7 dpi ($T_{ket} = 196 \pm 23.9$, p < 0.0001) to a similar degree in both static and dynamic conditions. In stark contrast, at 7 dpi in ketorolac conditions, *tgfb* is significantly greater than static and dynamic conditions at 7 dpi ($T_{ket} = 123 \pm 25.3$, p < 0.001) in the ketorolac treatment, *tgfb* is downregulated, followed by a significant increase in 21 dpi ($T_{ket} = 160 \pm 25.3$, p < 0.0001).

4.3.4 IL-10

Interleukin 10 (*il10*) is indicative of a pro-resolution agenda. Interestingly, *il10* at the furuncle site does not significantly increase in static or dynamic conditions (**Figure 4.3D**). However, in ketorolac conditions, there is a significant upregulation of *il10* at day 14dpi ($T_{ket} = 11.7 \pm 2.96$, p < 0.05) followed by a decrease by 21dpi ($T_{ket} = 7.14 \pm 2.96$, p = ns).

4.4 Discussion

Histopathological analysis showed structural changes within furuncles in fever inhibited fish up to 21 dpi with *A.veronii*. Mature collagen deposition is a distinct indication of tissue healing, visualized by continuous neat stacks of collagen. The earliest appearance of mature collagen is observed in dynamic conditions when a fish is allowed to exhibit a natural fever in response to a pathogen infection. While there was collagen deposition, the maturity of the collagen in static and ketorolac treatment conditions appeared at 14 dpi and 21 dpi respectively. Collagen degradation at the time of injury leads to fibroblast proliferation and the synthesis of growth factors involved in the proliferation and remodeling steps of tissue repair (Mathew-Steiner et al. 2021). These fibroblasts in-turn produce collagen in the latter stages of tissue remodeling and contribute to collagen maturity. The delayed appearance of mature collagen in static and ketorolac treatments may involve altered kinetics and function of fibroblasts. Proinflammatory cytokines have been shown to affect fibroblast migration patterns and previous studies have shown a delayed upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines in fixed temperature (16°C) compared to dynamic temperature conditions (Haddad et al. 2023). Furthermore, inhibition of a febrile response via ibuprofen administration in mammalian studies showed evidence of an anti-proliferative effect on fibroblasts and delayed re-epithelialization in wound healing (Landén et al. 2016). The absence of mature collagen early on in fever-inhibited conditions may be the result of a dysregulation of key pro-inflammatory cytokines which in turn affect fibroblast cell proliferation and function.

Adipocytes are present in the subcutaneous layers of mammalian and teleost skin. Classically, adipocytes have chemokine and cytokine functions in mammals, and adipocytes have been shown to impact the immune system (Zhang et al. 2023). The presence of healthy adipocytes and keratinocytes indicates properly functioning, fully remodeled tissues. The detection of adipocytes and keratinocytes by 7 dpi in febrile conditions, and the lack thereof in static and fever-inhibited conditions is a strong indicator of more efficient tissue repair in febrile conditions. Impaired wound healing occurs when an organism cannot progress through the four programmed steps in a timely manner. Inhibition of a febrile response via NSAID administration may contribute to the delay of this tightly controlled process as visualized through the lack of mature collagen and delayed detection of regulatory cells, keratinocytes, and adipocytes.

Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNFa) is a well characterized pleiotropic proinflammatory cytokine released by macrophages and monocytes that triggers signaling cascades for other inflammatory molecules including other chemokines and cytokines. The presence of upregulated TNFa gene expression is indicative of a pro-inflammation agenda in a particular tissue (Parameswaran and Patial 2010). TNFa peaked at 14 dpi in febrile conditions and by 21 dpi returned to baseline conditions. In comparison, TNFa was significantly upregulated at 21 dpi in fever-inhibited conditions indicating that at 21 dpi, the furuncle tissue is a site of pro-inflammation. TNFa has been shown to impact platelets by promoting a pro-thrombotic

effect(Pircher et al. 2012). Therefore, the upregulation of TNFa and *c-mpl* in fever-inhibited conditions at 21 dpi may be indicative of improper wound healing, resulting in a necessary upregulation of thrombocyte thrombus formation, potentially mediated by TNFa. In contrast, TNFa can stimulate platelet activation through the AA and PGE2 pathway and therefore, a dysregulation of TNFa can cause increased platelet activation at 21 dpi (Yun et al. 2016). Whether TNFa impacts thrombocytes via the AA pathway or if TNFa upregulation causes subsequent thrombocyte thrombus formation was not in the scope of this study, however high levels of TNFa are indicative of pro-inflammation present in the latter stages of wound healing, indicating that the inhibition of fever dysregulates the shutdown of pro-inflammation. Taken together with concurrent upregulation of *c-mpl*, there may be an interaction between this potent pro-inflammatory cytokine and thrombocytes.

To provide additional context about the furuncles in each treatment condition, I examined the IL1-B expression levels. IL1B is a potent proinflammatory cytokine, primarily released by activated macrophages and monocytes. Within tissue repair models, the shutdown of IL1B production is indicative of the ending of the inflammation phase (Landén et al. 2016). While in febrile conditions, IL1B gene expression peaks 7 dpi followed by a decline signaling the end of the pro-inflammation phase of tissue repair, multiple peaks are observed in fever-inhibited conditions up to 21 dpi. Multiple peaks in levels of IL1B are indicative of an active inflammatory site within those time points suggesting that fever inhibition impacts the shutdown of the pro-inflammation phase in tissue repair, potentially impacting transition to the latter stages of tissue repair. Thrombocytes may be contributing to this inflammatory site as others have demonstrated platelets participating in inflammasome activation through interactions with other leukocytes via IL1B (Kral et al. 2016). Furthermore, while there are no current investigations that indicate a thrombocyte sensitivity to IL1B in goldfish, IL1B has been characterized in multiple other teleost species and determined to have a stimulatory effect post infection (Zou and Secombes 2016).

To end the inflammation phase in tissue repair and progress further to proliferation and tissue remodeling, certain potent anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution cytokines must be upregulated. One of these includes TGFB, a pleiotropic cytokine that antagonizes pro-inflammatory cytokines in the wound sight and promotes proliferation. Post wounding in dorsal

skin of seabream resulted in an initial increase in TGFB at 1 dpi and 7 dpi signaling a modulatory role in inflammatory processes. While other tissue repair analysis provides excellent context on the role of key cytokines within the first week of wounding, there are no studies completed in teleost species that examine the wound site up to three weeks post infection in vivo. From in vitro studies, TGFB has been shown to stimulate collagen synthesis, a significant component of the ECM that is necessary for tissue remodeling, in rainbow trout fibroblast cultures (Johnston 2019). Additionally, from mammalian studies, it is well established that the dysregulation of TGFB results in tissue fibrosis due the lack of a seamless transition through each of the tissue repair phases (Duffield et al. 2013). Within a 21-day window, I observed the peak of TGFB in both static and natural fever conditions to be at 14 dpi followed by a decline by 21 dpi. However, in the fever-inhibited conditions, we see an early peak at 7dpi followed by a decline, and subsequent increase in TGFB gene expression. The absence of a clear upregulation and subsequent resolution indicates a dysregulation of TGFB at the wound site. The dysregulation is paralleled with a delayed appearance of mature collagen in the histology of furuncle cross sections. Therefore, fever inhibition results in the dysregulation of a key cytokine involved in the resolution of inflammation and promotion of proliferation and tissue remodeling phases within tissue repair.

Interleukin-10 (IL10) is a cytokine highly conserved throughout evolution participating in anti-inflammatory and immunoregulatory activities. IL-10 and TNFa antagonize one another as IL-10 plays a role in stimulating B-cell differentiation and proliferation (Clarke et al. 1998). This is visible in the fever inhibited conditions where higher levels of TNFa are concurrent with lower levels of IL-10. Whether the dysregulation of TNFa leads to the dysregulation of IL-10 is currently unknown. The primary effect of IL-10 stimulation is the suppression of an immune response by professional phagocytes (Iyer and Cheng 2012). Compared to both static and natural fever conditions, fever inhibition results in an overall greater level of immunosuppression at 14 dpi. In mammals, platelets contribute to the stimulation of IL-10 production by macrophages and monocytes (Iyer and Cheng 2012). The greater proliferation of thrombocytes in the kidneys at 14 dpi may produce a greater stimulation of IL-10 production via thrombocyte stimulation of macrophages. However, thrombocyte-specific stimulation of IL-10 in teleost has not been established and remains to be further characterized.

Overall, the suppression of fever via ketorolac injection indicates a dysregulation of key pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines. Histopathological data shows a lack of mature collagen, key regulatory cells, and delayed cell stratification in fever inhibited conditions. This may be the product of the activity of key pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines. Inhibition of fever alters thrombocyte proliferation and activation. Due to thrombocyte activities in tissue repair models and interactions with key innate immune cells, thrombocytes may be contributing to the delayed tissue repair and dysregulated cytokine profile in fever inhibited conditions. A 6-to-8-hour bioactivity of ketorolac in the initial stages post wounding results in significant changes in tissue repair and thrombocyte activation, further stressing the benefit of a febrile response in tightly structured processes such as tissue repair.

To determine the role of thrombocytes within the wound healing process, I utilized qPCR quantification of a prominent thrombocyte cell surface receptor, *c-mpl*. Classically, upon platelet activation in response to tissue injury, platelets influence the inflammatory process through membrane receptors and soluble mediators (Eisinger et al. 2018). The receptors and mediators are involved in the promotion of inflammation, angiogenesis, and cell-cell interactions among innate and adaptive immune cells. Therefore, I hypothesized an early thrombocyte upregulation in febrile conditions, and a delayed response in static and fever-inhibited conditions. The early upregulation of *c-mpl* in febrile conditions may be a beneficial process that aids in progression of wound healing. Within 7 dpi, the upregulation of *c-mpl* in kidneys was observed. Upregulation of *c-mpl* in the kidneys may be an indicator of an increase in thrombocyte proliferation. In static and fever-inhibited conditions, the same upregulation was not observed, therefore the lack of a natural febrile response may impact thrombocyte population and subsequent contributions to tissue repair. The consistent upregulation of *c-mpl* in the furuncle may be indicative of thrombocyte activation and contribution to each phase of wound healing. Compared to febrile conditions, which displayed a consistent upregulation up to 21 dpi, ketorolac administration resulted in a significant upregulation at 21 dpi. Taken together with tissue histology, this delayed appearance of thrombocyte activation may be the result of thrombocyte dysregulation due to ketorolac administration. NSAIDs have been shown to have an antiplatelet and anticoagulant effect where administration of NSAIDs in rats and mice has impacted the stimulation of angiogenesis by platelets (Su et al. 2010).. Furthermore, chronic usage of NSAIDs in humans has

resulted in clotting pathologies in multiple long-term studies (Zhao-Fleming et al. 2018; Haws et al. 1996).

In summary, this chapter examines the effects of fever-inhibition on restoration of tissue homeostasis, tissue repair. Multiple cell subsets and cytokines are involved within the phases of the tissue repair process and the dysregulation of the progression through phases of tissue repair results in impaired tissue repair. The inflammatory phase of tissue repair is a critical step, and the administration of NSAIDs to reduce pain and inflammation may result in improper wound healing. The data in this chapter shows delayed tissue repair up to 21 days post infection in ketorolac treated fish, compared to dynamic (T_D) fish. Via histology, significant markers of sufficient tissue remodelling (ie. collagen deposition, cell stratification, adipocyte and keratinocyte proliferation) appear days later in the fever inhibited (T_{ket}) fish compared to T_D fish. Furthermore, a single dose of ketorolac results in the dysregulation of key pro-and anti-inflammatory cytokines. Within these tissue repair processes, there is delayed thrombocyte gene *c-mpl* upregulation in fever-inhibited conditions and greater thrombocyte proliferation at the sites of hematopoiesis suggesting that fever-inhibition may hyperactivate thrombocytes in tissue repair processes. These data highlight the damaging effects of fever inhibition on tissue repair outcomes on the molecular, cellular and tissue level.



MAGNIFICATION



MAGNIFICATION



C

B

MAGNIFICATION



Figure 4.1 Histopathology of goldfish furuncles in static, dynamic and fever-inhibited

conditions Inhibition of fever with Ketorolac causing delayed tissue reconstruction and wound healing up to 21 days post infection. A: Histological staining of furuncle tissue structure and collagen in three temperature conditions (Static 16°C, Dynamic, and Ketorolac-inhibited) along a 21-day infection timeline. Timepoints capture 21 days post infection with magnifications of 400 μ m, 200 μ m, and 100 μ m respectively. B: Histological staining of tissue structure and collagen in fish placed in dynamic temperature conditions after the addition of ketorolac, and *A. veronii* in the absence of a wound. Timepoints capture 7-, 14- and 21-days post infection with magnifications of 400 μ m and 100 μ m. C: Histological staining of tissue structure and collagen in fish placed in dynamic temperature conditions after ketorolac injection with magnifications of 400 μ m and 100 μ m. C: Histological staining of tissue structure and collagen in fish placed in dynamic temperature conditions after ketorolac injection with magnifications of 400 μ m and 100 μ m. C: Histological staining of tissue structure and collagen in fish placed in dynamic temperature conditions after ketorolac injection with magnifications of 400 μ m and 100 μ m.



Figure 4.2: Thrombocyte proliferation and activation is dysregulated at furuncle and hematopoietic site with fever inhibition

Thrombocyte proliferation and activation measured by the thrombopoietin receptor (*cmpl*) in qPCR at the (**a**) hematopoietic and (**b**) furuncle site. Kidneys and furuncle tissue were harvested at 0, 7, 14, and 21 days post cutaneous inoculation with *Aeromonas veronii* where fish were held in three conditions: Static (16°C), Dynamic, and Ketorolac-inhibited. Beta-actin was used as a reference gene with three technical replicates of 5 samples per timepoint. Data was analyzed using an ordinary two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's post-hoc test. With a minimum p<0.05, significance between treatments is denoted with capital alphabetical letters and differences within a treatment between timepoints is denoted with lowercase capital letters.



Figure 4.3 Quantitative PCR of furuncle tissue demonstrating the dysregulation of common pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines of fish placed in three conditions: Static (16°C), Dynamic, and Ketorolac-inhibited.

Pro-inflammatory cytokines include (a) *tnfa* and (b) *il1b*, and anti-inflammatory cytokines include (c) *tgfb* and (d) *il10*. Fish were harvested 0, 7, 14, and 21 days post cutaneous inoculation with *Aeromonas veronii*. Beta-actin was used as a reference gene with three technical replicates of 5 samples per timepoint. Data was analyzed using an ordinary two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey's post-hoc test. With a minimum p<0.05, significance between treatments is denoted with capital alphabetical letters and significant differences within a treatment between timepoints is denoted with lowercase capital letters.

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

5.1 Discussion

Increased body temperature is often seen as a symptom of infection; however fever is hallmark of acute inflammation and only in the last few decades has it been proposed to be a mechanism in modulating acute inflammation (John Victor Hurley 1972). Due to fever being regarded as a symptom of infection, NSAIDs are often utilized to reduce elevated body temperature (Prajitha et al. 2019; Wrotek 2020). However, fever has been conserved for over 500 million years in evolution and therefore begs the question, is fever "good" or "bad"? Many scientists using various infection and disease models have argued for both the protective and the detrimental effects of a raised core-body temperature and therefore there is continued debate if fever has net-negative or net-positive effects.

In answering this age-old question, both endothermic and ectothermic organisms have been utilized as they both have the capacity to thermoregulate. While endothermic organisms have provided insights on the impact of temperature increase on immune cell function and activation, earlier endothermic models often utilized application of external heat to model a fever(Prajitha et al. 2019). However, application of external heat involves activation of HSPs and induction of thermal stress responses which can confound our understanding of an internally activated regulation of core body temperature (Hagiwara et al. 2007; Lee et al. 2015). Furthermore, thermal stress can alter an organism's immune response, therefore impeding our ability to delineate the effect of fever on acute inflammation. While more recent studies have attempted to model a natural fever, endothermic upregulation of PGE2 in response to pathogenic pyrogens or pyrogenic cytokines results in peripheral vasoconstriction and shivering for thermogenesis, creating variation in core body temperatures within the same cohort of organisms (Coceani et al. 1986; Evans et al. 2015). These differences can further confound the investigation of fever on acute inflammation and therefore highlight an advantage of using an ectothermic model of fever. Ectotherms contain and are sensitive to PGE2 changes within the body, but they do not possess the same capacity to metabolically increase core body temperature and thus rely on external sources of heat to raise their core body temperature (Lee et al. 2012). Ectothermic

fever models have provided incredible insights into fever mechanisms and highlighted specific contributions of fever to the innate and adaptive immune systems.

Previously in my lab, leukocytes have been shown to have pleiotropic functions. Neutrophils for example isolated before and after the peak of infiltration show pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory functions and regulate macrophage antimicrobial responses accordingly (Havixbeck et al. 2015). Our lab utilizes an ATPT temperature system to allow a goldfish to exhibit a natural thermal preference after immune challenge. Using this, our lab has shown that temperature alters the kinetics of leukocyte infiltration (Wong 2017). With the use of cutaneous wounds infected with A. veronii, leukocyte infiltration in the furuncles was greater at higher static temperatures and dynamic temperature conditions compared to colder static temperatures (Haddad et al. 2023). In response to fungal mimic injections, previous students noted key differences in leukocyte subpopulations when a fish is allowed to exhibit a natural fever response compared to static temperature conditions (Wong 2017). These marked differences in leukocyte infiltration kinetics also impact overall antimicrobial responses of the total leukocyte population. Taken together, these studies have highlighted the effects of fever, and demonstrated an enhanced immune response in febrile fish. Therefore, the aim of my thesis research was to examine the impact of fever on cell populations previously studied in the lab including neutrophils, macrophage/monocytes and lymphocytes, along with examining a new population, thrombocytes.

Thrombocytes are often referred to as the ancestors of platelets and the functional equivalent of mammalian platelets (Nagasawa et al. 2014). While mammalian platelets are well studied, knowledge of teleost thrombocytes is still emerging. Thrombocytes have been identified in many fish, amphibian, and avian species and show a remarkable degree of similarity in morphology amongst these species (Jagadeeswaran et al. 1999; Ferdous and Scott 2023; Ferdous 2014; Stosik et al. 2019). Significant morphological differences are present in thrombocytes and platelets, a major difference being thrombocytes contain a nucleus while mammalian platelets are anucleate. Other similarities and differences continue to be highlighted but it is becoming increasingly evident that platelets and thrombocytes serve many important functions beyond hemostasis.

Thrombocytes, like platelets, have the molecular machinery to participate in pathogen capture, antigen presentation, and other immunomodulatory functions via cytokine production (Table 1.6). Further, platelets are known to be sensitive to temperature changes (Huskens et al. 2018). Therefore, this understudied cell type may provide additional context on the effect of thermoregulation in acute inflammation. Thus, my project involved the quantification of various cell subpopulations and their functions, in dynamic and static conditions in response to immune challenge. In this project, I quantified thrombocytes using multiple parameters, including cytochemical staining, flow cytometry and molecular qPCR quantification. Building on previous studies from my lab, I noticed several differences in cell subpopulations including the early infiltration of professional phagocytes (neutrophils and macrophage/monocytes) along with greater engagement of adaptive leukocytes (lymphocytes) in dynamic temperature conditions. Furthermore, there was a preferential upregulation of NO-mediated antimicrobial killing in dynamic conditions compared to the ROS dominated antimicrobial response in static conditions. Thrombocytes were higher in count in static conditions compared to dynamic conditions, and thrombocytes increased at earlier timepoints in dynamic conditions, but did not significantly peak as static conditions. These trends were also observed at the level of proliferation at the site of hematopoiesis (kidneys), with T_S fish displaying higher fold-change in *c-mpl*, the thrombopoietin receptor, a marker for thrombocyte proliferation and activation. The higher levels of *c-mpl* observed in T_S fish may be due to cold sensitivity of thrombocytes, a property that has been previously identified in platelets, in which cooler temperatures have an activating effect on platelets. Alternatively, thrombocytes may have increased for a brief period in T_D fish between measurement points (between 4-8 hpi) and egressed without being captured. Thrombocytes have also been previously shown to have phagocytic capacities and engulf smaller targets than other leukocytes within blood fractions (Nagasawa et al. 2014). Therefore, another explanation necessitating higher numbers of thrombocytes within the peritoneum could be to clear up remaining pathogens or debris in T_S fish and are not required in T_D fish as T_D fish show an overall faster and efficient progression through acute inflammation. While the reason behind higher numbers of thrombocytes was not within the scope of my project, marked differences between thrombocytes in response to temperature in the site of immune challenge was observed. Taking the context of other leukocyte populations and fever enhancing the immune response in

goldfish, the presence of thrombocytes in the later stages of the acute inflammatory window (>20 hpi) may be indicative of unresolved inflammation.

To further examine the impact of fever on acute inflammatory outcomes, I utilized a wellestablished subcutaneous tissue repair model optimized by previous lab members (Soliman et al. 2021; Haddad et al. 2023). The aim of acute inflammation in response to infection is restoration of homeostasis (Chen et al. 2018). An ideal model to understand restoring homeostasis is the tissue repair process. Restoration of tissue homeostasis involves four key phases: hemostasis, inflammation, proliferation, and tissue remodelling (Wallace et al. 2019). These tightly regulated phases involve a myriad of innate and adaptive effector cells, cytokines, and chemokines as well as other cell populations that contribute to tissue integrity. Chronic inflammatory pathologies and improper wound healing have been attributed to an improper progression between stages of tissue repair, primarily aberrant progression through the inflammatory stage in mammalian studies(Landén et al. 2016). The tissue repair process has been highly conserved throughout evolution and requires tight regulation and coordination of many of the previously discussed components of the immune system. Teleost thrombocytes, in addition to their hemostatic capacities, have phagocytic capacities and the molecular capacity to modulate several key pathways in tissue repair(Nagasawa et al. 2014). Therefore, one of my aims was to quantify thrombocytes in the tissue repair process. Further, I examined the impact of fever inhibition through NSAID administration on tissue repair outcomes.

Fever is often regarded as a symptom rather than a tool or aspect of acute inflammation. Therefore, to mitigate cases of hyperpyrexia (uncontrolled increase in body temperature), antipyretics such as NSAIDs are used in the treatment of fevers. NSAIDs reduce inflammatory symptoms through inhibition of COX1 and/or COX2 enzymes, limiting the effects of PGE2 on various bodily tissues (Gunaydin and Bilge 2018). Molecular quantification of thrombocyte marker *c-mpl* showed significant differences between dynamic (T_D) and fever-inhibited (T_{ket}) fish. T_D fish showed higher levels of thrombocyte proliferation at 7 dpi in the kidneys while T_{ket} fish showed greater levels of thrombocyte proliferation at 14 dpi. The inhibition of fever resulted in later upregulation of *cmpl* and a significantly greater level of *cmpl* in furuncles compared to T_D fish and T_S fish. T_D fish demonstrated an upregulation of *cmpl* that was downregulated by 21 dpi while T_S fish showed lower levels of *cmpl* overall. To determine whether high levels of

thrombocyte activation and proliferation were beneficial or harmful, I examined the tissue histology of furuncles and quantified key pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines within furuncles in all temperature conditions over 21 days. Tissue histology showed T_D fish regaining structural components (collagen, adipocytes, keratinocytes, cell stratification) faster than T_S and T_{ket} fish. T_D fish showed complete tissue remodelling by 14 dpi while T_{ket} fish showed tissue remodelling by 21 dpi. When cytokines within the furuncle tissues were examined, T_{ket} fish displayed high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines that did not reduce to baseline conditions by 21 days, while pro-inflammatory cytokines in T_D fish returned to baseline conditions. Anti-inflammatory cytokines rose significantly in T_D fish and T_S fish at 14 dpi and decreased by 21 dpi, while T_{ket} fish showed varying levels of anti-inflammatory cytokines at 7-21 dpi. Overall, T_{ket} fish showed dysregulation of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines. Coupled with the histological images of furuncles, my data showed fever inhibition resulted in poor tissue repair outcomes and altered thrombocyte proliferation and activation.

Taken together, my results show the impact of thermoregulation on key effector cells within the immune system and outlined the kinetics of thrombocytes within the site of immune challenge. Using a short zymosan induced peritonitis model, and an *A.veronii* infected wound model, my data also supports that fever enhances immune response to pathogens. Furthermore, the inhibition of fever via NSAID administration resulted in delayed tissue repair, and dysregulation of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines and thrombocyte proliferation and activation in wounds. Overall, my data provides another argument for the potential net-positive impact of fever in acute inflammatory processes.

5.2 Future Directions and Limitations

5.2.1 Assessing thrombocyte function in the site of immune challenge.

Using the dynamic fever model (ATPT), I was able to demonstrate a change in thrombocyte count within static and dynamic conditions after zymosan challenge. Further, thrombocytes in teleost have been shown to have potent immunomodulatory capacities and communicate with cells of the innate and adaptive immune system (Table 1.6). Additionally, temperature has been shown to have an activating effect on human blood platelets (Huskens et al. 2018;Windberger et al. 2020). Therefore, truly gain an understanding of the effects of the febrile response on thrombocytes, further isolation and functional assays are required to determine if there are alterations to thrombocyte function within the host in response to fever. Thrombocytes have previously been examined using highly specific antibodies in flow cytometry and shown to have phagocytic capacities (Nagasawa et al. 2014; Ohashi et al. 2010). In my study, I was able to utilize a monoclonal antibody that binds to thrombocytes with high specificity. However, due to the limited number of thrombocytes, I was not able to run additional assays assessing thrombocyte function. With developed assays in my lab, future experiments assessing the ROS and NO profiles of thrombocytes in static and dynamic temperature conditions can allow for determining if thrombocytes can release reactive oxygen species and reactive nitrogen intermediates for pathogen clearance. Furthermore, thrombocytes preferentially phagocytose smaller particles compared to other leukocyte populations (Nagasawa et al. 2014). In dynamic conditions, there is an earlier leukocyte infiltration, a preferential upregulation of NO-mediating pathogen clearance, and an earlier shift to the resolution of inflammation (Wong 2017). The dynamic conditions show an overall more efficient pathogen clearance and an earlier acute inflammatory response. The earlier increase in thrombocytes in dynamic conditions followed by lower thrombocyte count may be due to the enhanced pathogen clearance by professional phagocytes in dynamic conditions. Within my study however, I was able to assess overall count and not function. This study was limited by the lack of annotated thrombocyte genes within the goldfish genome and may be better approached through the examination of functional molecular markers of thrombocytes in the future. Other teleost models such as zebrafish have a greater number of annotated thrombocyte genes that may allow for better quantification of thrombocyte function in response to static and dynamic temperature conditions (Katzenback et al. 2016).

Thrombopoietin acting on the receptor c-mpl is an indicator of platelet count as, in mammals, it has been shown to influence megakaryocyte proliferation and differentiation, which in turn results in greater platelet production (Vianello et al. 2014). In carp, thrombocytes have been identified as cells gated positive for both c-mpl and CD41, and the addition of recombinant thrombopoietin produced thrombocytic colonies suggesting that both thrombopoietin (TPO) and it's receptor c-mpl are highly conserved molecular regulators of thrombopoiesis (differentiation into thrombocytes and proliferation of thrombocytes) (Katakura et al. 2015). Many studies have indicated that quantification of c-mpl can be used to identify thrombocytes however, it remains unclear if c-mpl levels at a particular tissue indicate thrombocyte proliferation or activation.

While measurement of cell-surface c-mpl can indicate the presence of a thrombocyte, thrombocytes will upregulate c-mpl on their surface when activated and therefore the level of cmpl in the total mRNA of a tissue may due to high numbers of thrombocytes and or high activation of thrombocytes. Within the kidney, the high levels of *cmpl* can be attributed to proliferation, as the kidney was not the site of immune challenge and is rather the site of differentiation for many cell types in goldfish, a more accurate representation of proliferating cells and activated cells can be achieved through Bromodeoxyuridine assays. Therefore, with collection of thrombocytes from both the kidneys and peritoneum, and staining with BrdU, thrombocyte proliferation and activation can be quantified at all timepoints and conditions.

5.2.2 Assessment of leukocyte function in response to fever-inhibition

In previous studies conducted examining tissue repair outcomes in response to temperature conditions, altered leukocyte infiltration was observed when fish were placed at higher static temperatures and dynamic temperatures (Haddad et al. 2023). Furthermore, the fastest tissue repair occurred when a fish was allowed to exhibit a natural febrile response. Tissue histology showed earlier cell stratification, appearance of keratinocytes and astrocytes and maturation of collagen in dynamic conditions and 26°C static conditions. These large-scale observations were concurrent with enhanced pro-inflammatory cytokine and HSP upregulation in the hypothalamus of fish. While increases in pro-inflammatory cytokines are indicative of subsequent recruitment and activation of leukocytes and allow for the initiation of antimicrobial responses by leukocyte subsets such as neutrophils and macrophages, to determine the impact of fever-inhibition on leukocyte function, these subsets and their functions would have to be identified. Further, in my study I examined molecular gene expression of a few pro- and antiinflammatory cytokines involved in inflammation and tissue repair in the site of immune challenge (furuncle). These cytokine profiles could be from effector cell upregulation at the site of immune challenge, or a systemic increase from the hypothalamus to induce effector cell recruitment and functions. Therefore, examination of specific neutrophil gene expression and macrophage gene expression in febrile and fever-inhibited conditions would be a natural next step. Previous experiments showed that a single leukocyte subpopulation such as neutrophils demonstrate phenotypic plasticity and consequently release different soluble factors, cytokines and levels of antimicrobial molecules (ROS/NO) at different points in the acute inflammatory response (Havixbeck et al. 2015). Therefore, I expect that the inhibition of fever attenuates the

earlier responses of leukocytes, resulting in delayed resolution of inflammation, and unsuccessful progression through the phases of tissue repair.

While I was able to quantify the total and subsets of leukocytes at multiple timepoints, another function of immune cells is to increase cell proliferation in order to eliminate a pathogen. In my experiments, I enumerated cell populations at given timepoints in febrile and static conditions however, the use of a BrdU immunohistochemical assay would have allowed for greater resolution on the capacity of fever to alter total immune cell populations through promotion of proliferation. I would expect that the rapid influx of cell infiltration in dynamic conditions is due to an earlier proliferative event compared to static conditions.

5.2.3 Assessment of thrombocyte function within tissue repair

Within this study, I showed the dysregulation of key cytokines in fever-inhibited conditions which was concurrent with delayed tissue repair. Concomitantly, there was an increase in thrombocyte gene expression at later timepoints in fever-inhibited conditions. However, a limitation of this study was that while thrombocyte activation and proliferation were examined, the functional responses of thrombocytes and their role in tissue repair were not examined. This is partly due to the limited thrombocyte function associated genes annotated in the goldfish genome. These limitations can be mitigated by further examination and annotation of thrombocyte genes annotated in other teleost models as many thrombocyte genes show a high degree of homology amongst teleost species. With the examination of thrombocyte functions in goldfish on a molecular level, we may be able to ascertain the effects of fever inhibition on one cell population.

5.3 Relevance

5.3.1 Teleost Health

Fever has been long conserved throughout evolution in endotherms and ectotherms. My work on behavioral fever in a short-term peritonitis model and a long-term tissue repair model contributes another perspective to the ongoing debate. Further study of the febrile response may
not only benefit human health, but also provide an alternative method for reducing inflammation associated die-offs within the aquaculture industry. Expanding our understanding of teleost immunity and the role of fever in teleost health may bring about alternative mechanisms to improve fish health beyond administration of antibiotics.

5.3.2 Strategies in Mitigating Inflammation

Studying febrile responses from an evolutionary perspective and gaining insight into the effects of fever can allow us to harness potential immune enhancing benefits of fever. In human history, it is primarily associated with disease, regarded as a symptom of infection, and subsequently mitigated through the administration of NSAIDs. Within the scientific community, there is ongoing debate on the overall net-positive or net-negative effects of fever. My work highlights the benefits of a natural fever in tissue repair and potential harms in NSAID use in the context of tissue repair. However, currently, there is widespread use of over-the-counter NSAIDs in response to mild or minimal fevers and pain. Expanding our knowledge of the benefits of the febrile response and examining the effects of NSAID use on tissue repair may allow us to gain perspective on pain mitigation strategies that do not delay tissue repair or lead to tissue pathology. Furthermore, the exploration of the impact of temperature on host health in response to tissue injury may lead to alternative strategies in mitigating unwanted symptoms in inflammation.

REFERENCES

Aibinu IE, Smooker PM, Lopata AL. 2019. Anisakis Nematodes in Fish and Shellfish- from Infection to Allergies. International Journal for Parasitology: Parasites and Wildlife. 9:384–393. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijppaw.2019.04.007. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6626974/.

Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, Raff M, Roberts K, Walter P. 2015. Lymphocytes and the Cellular Basis of Adaptive Immunity. Nihgov. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK26921/.

Anderson CD, Roberts RJ. 1975. A comparison of the effects of temperature on wound healing in a tropical and a temperate teleost. Journal of Fish Biology. 7(2):173–182. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1975.tb04588.x.

Angosto D, López-Castejón G, López-Muñoz A, Sepulcre MP, Arizcun M, Meseguer J, Mulero V. 2012. Evolution of inflammasome functions in vertebrates: Inflammasome and caspase-1 trigger fish macrophage cell death but are dispensable for the processing of IL-1β. Innate Immunity. 18(6):815–824. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/1753425912441956.

Arango Duque G, Descoteaux A. 2014. Macrophage Cytokines: Involvement in Immunity and Infectious Diseases. Frontiers in Immunology. 5(491). doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00491.

Arya P, Kumar N, Bhandari U, Surabhi Thapliyal, Sharma V. 2023. Hidden attributes of zymosan in the pathogenesis of inflammatory diseases: A tale of the fungal agent. PubMed. 26(4):380–387. doi:https://doi.org/10.22038/ijbms.2023.67365.14770. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC10008400

Austermann J, Roth J, Barczyk-Kahlert K. 2022. The Good and the Bad: Monocytes' and Macrophages' Diverse Functions in Inflammation. Cells. 11(12):1979. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11121979.

Austin B, Austin DA, Springerlink (Online Service. 2007. Bacterial Fish Pathogens : Disease of Farmed and Wild Fish. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.

Balli S, Sharan S, Shumway KR. 2022 Sep 11. Physiology, fever. PubMed. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK562334/.

Banerjee M, Huang Y, Ouseph MM, Joshi S, Pokrovskaya I, Storrie B, Zhang J, Whiteheart SW, Wang QJ. 2019. Autophagy in Platelets. Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, NJ). 1880:511–528. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-8873-0_32. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30610718/.

BARREDA D, HANINGTON P, STAFFORD J, BELOSEVIC M. 2005. A novel soluble form of the CSF-1 receptor inhibits proliferation of self-renewing macrophages of goldfish (L.). Developmental & Comparative Immunology. 29(10):879–894. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2005.02.006.

Beaz-Hidalgo R, Figueras MJ. 2013. Aeromonas spp. whole genomes and virulence factors implicated in fish disease. Journal of Fish Diseases. 36(4):371–388. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12025.

Bergmeier W, Hynes RO. 2012. Extracellular Matrix Proteins in Hemostasis and Thrombosis. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology. 4(2). doi:https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a005132. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3281566/.

Bernheim HA, Bodel PT, Askenase PW, Atkins E. 1978. Effects of fever on host defense mechanisms after infection in the lizard Dipsosaurus dorsalis. British journal of experimental pathology. 59(1):76–84. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2041320/.

Bernheimer AW, Avigad LS. 1974. Partial Characterization of Aerolysin, a Lytic Exotoxin from Aeromonas hydrophila. Infection and Immunity. 9(6):1016–1021. doi:https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.9.6.1016-1021.1974.

Blumenreich MS. 2011. The White Blood Cell and Differential Count. Nihgov. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK261/.

Bly JE, Clem LW. 1992. Temperature and teleost immune functions. Fish & Shellfish Immunology. 2(3):159–171. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/s1050-4648(05)80056-7.

Burkhart JM, Vaudel M, Gambaryan S, Radau S, Walter U, Martens L, Geiger J, Sickmann A, Zahedi RP. 2012. The first comprehensive and quantitative analysis of human platelet protein composition allows the comparative analysis of structural and functional pathways. Blood. 120(15):e73–e82. doi:https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-04-416594.

Cai H, Griendling KK, Harrison DG. 2003. The vascular NAD(P)H oxidases as therapeutic targets in cardiovascular diseases. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences. 24(9):471–478. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-6147(03)00233-5.

Capitano ML, Nemeth MP, Mace TA, Salisbury-Ruf CT, Segal BH, McCarthy PL, Singh AK. 2012. Elevating body temperature enhances hematopoiesis and neutrophil recovery after total body irradiation in an IL-1–, IL-17–, and G-CSF–dependent manner. Blood. 120(13):2600–2609. doi:https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-02-409805. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3460682/.

Carow B, Rottenberg ME. 2014. SOCS3, a Major Regulator of Infection and Inflammation. Frontiers in Immunology. 5. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00058. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3928676/.

Castillo-Briceño P, Bihan D, Nilges M, Hamaia S, Meseguer J, García-Ayala A, Farndale RW, Mulero V. 2011. A role for specific collagen motifs during wound healing and inflammatory response of fibroblasts in the teleost fish gilthead seabream. Molecular Immunology. 48(6-7):826–834. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2010.12.004.

Cechin SR, Buchwald P. 2014. Effects of representative glucocorticoids on TNF α - and CD40L-induced NF- κ B activation in sensor cells. Steroids. 85:36–43. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.steroids.2014.04.003.

Chaix G, Roger F, Berthe T, Lamy B, Jumas-Bilak E, Lafite R, Forget-Leray J, Petit F. 2017. Distinct Aeromonas Populations in Water Column and Associated with Copepods from Estuarine Environment (Seine, France). Frontiers in Microbiology. 8. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01259.

Chatigny F, Creighton CM, Stevens ED. 2018. Updated Review of Fish Analgesia. Journal of the American Association for Laboratory Animal Science : JAALAS. 57(1):5–12. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5875091/.

Chen H, Wu X, Xu C, Lin J, Liu Z. 2021. Dichotomous roles of neutrophils in modulating pathogenic and repair processes of inflammatory bowel diseases. Precision Clinical Medicine. 4(4):246–257. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/pcmedi/pbab025.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8982532/.

Chen L, Deng H, Cui H, Fang J, Zuo Z, Deng J, Li Y, Wang X, Zhao L. 2018. Inflammatory Responses and inflammation-associated Diseases in Organs. Oncotarget. 9(6):7204–7218. doi:https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.23208. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5805548/.

Choi S-H, Aid S, Bosetti F. 2009. The distinct roles of cyclooxygenase-1 and -2 in neuroinflammation: implications for translational research. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences. 30(4):174–181. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2009.01.002. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3379810/.

Clarke A, Rothery P. 2007. Scaling of body temperature in mammals and birds. Functional Ecology. 0(0):071029083929001-??? doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2007.01341.x.

Clarke CJ, Hales A, Hunt A, Foxwell BM. 1998. IL-10-mediated suppression of TNF-alpha production is independent of its ability to inhibit NF kappa B activity. European Journal of

Immunology. 28(5):1719–1726. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199805)28:05%3C1719::AID-IMMU1719%3E3.0.CO;2-Q. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9603479/.

Claver JA, Quaglia AIE. 2009. Comparative Morphology, Development, and Function of Blood Cells in Nonmammalian Vertebrates. Journal of Exotic Pet Medicine. 18(2):87–97. doi:https://doi.org/10.1053/j.jepm.2009.04.006.

Coceani F, Bishai I, Lees J, Sirko S. 1986. Prostaglandin E2 and fever: a continuing debate. The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine. 59(2):169–174. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2590134/.

Colleselli K, Stierschneider A, Wiesner C. 2023. An Update on Toll-like Receptor 2, Its Function and Dimerization in Pro- and Anti-Inflammatory Processes. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 24(15):12464. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms241512464. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC10419760/.

Cornbleet PJ. 1998. Wright-Giemsa Cytology of Body Fluids: Criteria for Identification of Malignant Cells. Laboratory Medicine. 29(1):26–31. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/labmed/29.1.26.

Covert JB, Reynolds WW. 1977. Survival value of fever in fish. Nature. 267(5606):43–45. doi:https://doi.org/10.1038/267043a0.

Cutler AJ, Davies KA. 1998 Jan 1. Antigen Clearance. Delves PJ, editor. ScienceDirect.:182–188. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/B0122267656000438.

Davies L, Rosas M, Smith P, Fraser DR, Jones S, Taylor PR. 2011. A quantifiable proliferative burst of tissue macrophages restores homeostatic macrophage populations after acute inflammation. European Journal of Immunology. 41(8):2155–2164. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201141817.

Derwin R, Patton D, Strapp H, Moore Z. 2023. Wound pH and temperature as predictors of healing: an observational study. Journal of Wound Care. 32(5):302–310. doi:https://doi.org/10.12968/jowc.2023.32.5.302.

Doyle JF, Schortgen F. 2016. Should we treat pyrexia? And how do we do it? Critical Care. 20(1). doi:https://doi.org/10.1186/s13054-016-1467-2. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5047044/.

Duffield JS, Lupher M, Thannickal VJ, Wynn TA. 2013. Host Responses in Tissue Repair and Fibrosis. Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease. 8(1):241–276. doi:https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-pathol-020712-163930.

Eisinger F, Patzelt J, Langer HF. 2018. The Platelet Response to Tissue Injury. Frontiers in Medicine. 5. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2018.00317.

El-Radhi ASM. 2012. Fever management: Evidencevscurrent practice. World Journal of Clinical Pediatrics. 1(4):29. doi:https://doi.org/10.5409/wjcp.v1.i4.29.

Elena L, Lopera DE. 2013 Jul 18. Introduction to T and B lymphocytes. Nihgov. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK459471/.

Ellis GS, Carlson DE, Hester L, He J-R, Bagby GJ, Singh IS, Hasday JD. 2005. G-CSF, but not corticosterone, mediates circulating neutrophilia induced by febrile-range hyperthermia. Journal of Applied Physiology (Bethesda, Md: 1985). 98(5):1799–1804. doi:https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.01376.2004. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15829718/.

Evans SS, Repasky EA, Fisher DT. 2015. Fever and the thermal regulation of immunity: the immune system feels the heat. Nature Reviews Immunology. 15(6):335–349. doi:https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3843. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4786079/.

Ezenwa VO. 2004. Host social behavior and parasitic infection: a multifactorial approach. Behavioral Ecology. 15(3):446–454. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/arh028.

Faisal M, Shavalier M, Kim RK, Millard EV, Gunn MR, Winters AD, Schulz CA, Eissa A, Thomas MV, Wolgamood M, et al. 2012. Spread of the Emerging Viral Hemorrhagic Septicemia Virus Strain, Genotype IVb, in Michigan, USA. Viruses. 4(5):734–760. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/v4050734. https://www.mdpi.com/1999-4915/4/5/734/htm.

Fang X, Hu X, Zheng Z, Tao K, Wang H, Guan H, Shi J, Ji P, Cai W, Bai X, et al. 2019. Smad interacting protein 1 influences transforming growth factor-β1/Smad signaling in extracellular matrix protein production and hypertrophic scar formation. Journal of Molecular Histology. 50(6):503–514. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10735-019-09844-w.

Ferdous F. 2014. The avian thrombocyte is a specialized immune cell. https://tigerprints.clemson.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2290&context=all_dissertations.

Ferdous F, Scott T. 2023. The Immunological Capacity of Thrombocytes. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 24(16):12950. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms241612950. https://www.mdpi.com/1422-0067/24/16/12950#B1-ijms-24-12950.

Fernández-Bravo A, Figueras MJ. 2020. An Update on the Genus Aeromonas: Taxonomy, Epidemiology, and Pathogenicity. Microorganisms. 8(1):129. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8010129.

Fisher MC, Gurr SJ, Cuomo CA, Blehert DS, Jin H, Stukenbrock EH, Stajich JE, Kahmann R, Boone C, Denning DW, et al. 2020. Threats Posed by the Fungal Kingdom to Humans, Wildlife, and Agriculture. Chowdhary A, editor. mBio. 11(3). doi:https://doi.org/10.1128/mbio.00449-20.

Flajnik MF. 1996. The immune system of ectothermic vertebrates. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology. 54(1-4):145–150. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-2427(96)05685-1.

Flajnik MF. 2018. A cold-blooded view of adaptive immunity. Nature Reviews Immunology. 18(7):438–453. doi:https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-018-0003-9. https://www.nature.com/articles/s41577-018-0003-9.

Franchi L, Eigenbrod T, Muñoz-Planillo R, Nuñez G. 2009. The inflammasome: a caspase-1activation platform that regulates immune responses and disease pathogenesis. Nature Immunology. 10(3):241–247. doi:https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1703. https://www.nature.com/articles/ni.1703.

Fujii Y, Nomura T, Yokoyama R, Shinoda S, Okamoto K. 2003. Studies of the mechanism of action of the aerolysin-like hemolysin of Aeromonas sobria in stimulating T84 cells to produce cyclic AMP. Infection and Immunity. 71(3):1557–1560. doi:https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.71.3.1557-1560.2003. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12595476/.

Garami A, Steiner AA, Romanovsky AA. 2018. Fever and hypothermia in systemic inflammation. Handbook of Clinical Neurology. 157:565–597. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-64074-1.00034-3. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30459026/.

Gear AR. 1984. Rapid platelet morphological changes visualized by scanning-electron microscopy: kinetics derived from a quenched-flow approach. British Journal of Haematology. 56(3):387–398. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.1984.tb03969.x. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/6421308/.

Ghlichloo I, Gerriets V. 2023. Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs (NSAIDs). PubMed. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK547742/.

Gierlikowska B, Stachura A, Gierlikowski W, Demkow U. 2021. Phagocytosis, Degranulation and Extracellular Traps Release by Neutrophils—The Current Knowledge, Pharmacological Modulation and Future Prospects. Frontiers in Pharmacology. 12:666732. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.666732.

Gong D, Shi W, Yi S, Chen H, Groffen J, Heisterkamp N. 2012. TGFβ signaling plays a critical role in promoting alternative macrophage activation. BMC Immunology. 13:31. doi:https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2172-13-31. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3406960/.

Gonzalez AC de O, Costa TF, Andrade Z de A, Medrado ARAP. 2016. Wound healing - A literature review. Anais Brasileiros de Dermatologia. 91(5):614–620. doi:https://doi.org/10.1590/abd1806-4841.20164741.

Gough P, Myles IA. 2020. Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptors: Pleiotropic Signaling Complexes and Their Differential Effects. Frontiers in Immunology. 11. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.585880.

Gowert NS, Donner L, Chatterjee M, Eisele YS, Towhid ST, Münzer P, Walker B, Ogorek I, Borst O, Grandoch M, et al. 2014. Blood Platelets in the Progression of Alzheimer's Disease. PLoS ONE. 9(2). doi:https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0090523. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3938776/#pone.0090523-Gawaz1.

Gozlan RE, Marshall WL, Lilje O, Jessop CN, Gleason FH, Andreou D. 2014. Current ecological understanding of fungal-like pathogens of fish: what lies beneath? Frontiers in Microbiology. 5. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00062.

Grant KR. 2015. Fish Hematology and Associated Disorders. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Exotic Animal Practice. 18(1):83–103. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvex.2014.09.007.

Grayfer L, Baris Kerimoglu, Amulya Yaparla, Hodgkinson JW, Xie J, Miodrag Belosevic. 2018. Mechanisms of Fish Macrophage Antimicrobial Immunity. Frontiers in Immunology. 9. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01105. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5985312/.

Grayfer L, Hodgkinson JW, Hitchen SJ, Belosevic M. 2011. Characterization and functional analysis of goldfish (Carassius auratus L.) interleukin-10. Molecular Immunology. 48(4):563–571. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2010.10.013.

Grayfer L, Walsh JG, Belosevic M. 2008. Characterization and functional analysis of goldfish (Carassius auratus L.) tumor necrosis factor-alpha. Developmental and Comparative Immunology. 32(5):532–543. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2007.09.009. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17988738/.

Grose R, Werner S. 2004. Wound-Healing Studies in Transgenic and Knockout Mice. Molecular Biotechnology. 28(2):147–166. doi:https://doi.org/10.1385/mb:28:2:147.

Gunaydin C, Bilge SS. 2018. Effects of Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs at the Molecular Level. The Eurasian Journal of Medicine. 50(2). doi:https://doi.org/10.5152/eurasianjmed.2018.0010. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6039135/. Guo S, DiPietro LA. 2020. Factors Affecting Wound Healing. Journal of Dental Research. 89(3):219–229. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034509359125. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2903966/.

Gurtner GC, Werner S, Barrandon Y, Longaker MT. 2008. Wound repair and regeneration. Nature. 453(7193):314–21. doi:https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07039. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18480812.

Haddad F, Soliman AM, Wong ME, Albers EH, Semple SL, Torrealba D, Heimroth RD, Nashiry A, Tierney KB, Barreda DR. 2023. Fever integrates antimicrobial defences, inflammation control, and tissue repair in a cold-blooded vertebrate. Medzhitov R, Rothlin CV, Flajnik MF, editors. eLife. 12:e83644. doi:https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.83644. https://elifesciences.org/articles/83644.

Haddad G, Hanington PC, Wilson EC, Grayfer L, Belosevic M. 2008. Molecular and functional characterization of goldfish (Carassius auratus L.) transforming growth factor beta. Developmental & Comparative Immunology. 32(6):654–663. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2007.10.003.

Hagiwara S, Iwasaka H, Matsumoto S, Noguchi T. 2007. Changes in cell culture temperature alter release of inflammatory mediators in murine macrophagic RAW264.7 cells. Inflammation Research. 56(7):297–303. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s00011-007-6161-z.

Hanington PC, Wang T, Secombes CJ, Belosevic M. 2007. Growth Factors of Lower Vertebrates. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 282(44):31865–31872. doi:https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m706278200.

Harden LM, Kent S, Pittman QJ, Roth J. 2015. Fever and sickness behavior: Friend or foe? Brain, Behavior, and Immunity. 50:322–333. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2015.07.012. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0889159115004079?via%3Dihub.

Hasday JD, Thompson C, Singh IS. 2014 Jan 10. Fever, Immunity, and Molecular Adaptations. Comprehensive Physiology.:109–148. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c130019. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/cphy.c130019.

Hasegawa S, Nakayasu C, Yoshitomi T, Nakanishi T, Okamoto N. 1998. Specific cell-mediated cytotoxicity against an allogeneic target cell line in isogeneic ginbuna crucian carp. Fish & Shellfish Immunology. 8(4):303–313. doi:https://doi.org/10.1006/fsim.1998.0138.

Havixbeck J, Barreda D. 2015. Neutrophil Development, Migration, and Function in Teleost Fish. Biology. 4(4):715–734. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/biology4040715.

Havixbeck JJ, Rieger AM, Wong ME, Hodgkinson JW, Barreda DR. 2015. Neutrophil contributions to the induction and regulation of the acute inflammatory response in teleost fish. Journal of Leukocyte Biology. 99(2):241–252. doi:https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.3hi0215-064r.

Hawkey CJ. 2005. COX-2 chronology. Gut. 54(11):1509–1514. doi:https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2005.065003. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1774747/.

Haws MJ, Kucan JO, Roth AC, Suchy H, Brown RE. 1996. The Effects of Chronic Ketorolac Tromethamine (Toradol) on Wound Healing. Annals of Plastic Surgery. 37(2):147. https://journals.lww.com/annalsplasticsurgery/abstract/1996/08000/the_effects_of_chronic_ketor olac_tromethamine.5.aspx.

Higgins AJ, Lees P. 1984. The acute inflammatory process, arachidonic acid metabolism and the mode of action of anti-inflammatory drugs. Equine Veterinary Journal. 16(3):163–175. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2042-3306.1984.tb01893.x.

Hitchcock IS, Hafer M, Sangkhae V, Tucker JA. 2021. The thrombopoietin receptor: revisiting the master regulator of platelet production. Platelets. 32(6):770–778. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/09537104.2021.1925102. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34097561/.

Hogan RJ, Stuge TB, L. William Clem, Miller NW, V. Gregory Chinchar. 1996. Anti-viral cytotoxic cells in the channel catfish (Ictalurus punctatus). Developmental and Comparative Immunology. 20(2):115–127. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0145-305x(95)00043-s.

Hong S, Li R, Xu Q, Secombes CJ, Wang T. 2013. Two Types of TNF-α Exist in Teleost Fish: Phylogeny, Expression, and Bioactivity Analysis of Type-II TNF-α3 in Rainbow Trout Oncorhynchus mykiss. The Journal of Immunology. 191(12):5959–5972. doi:https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1301584.

Huskens D, Sang Y, Konings J, van der Vorm L, de Laat B, Kelchtermans H, Roest M. 2018. Standardization and reference ranges for whole blood platelet function measurements using a flow cytometric platelet activation test. Cox D, editor. PLOS ONE. 13(2):e0192079. doi:https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0192079.

Igbinosa IH, Beshiru A, Odjadjare EE, Ateba CN, Igbinosa EO. 2017. Pathogenic potentials of Aeromonas species isolated from aquaculture and abattoir environments. Microbial Pathogenesis. 107:185–192. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2017.03.037.

Ikuo Hirono, Nam B-H, Tomofumi Kurobe, Aoki T. 2000. Molecular Cloning, Characterization, and Expression of TNF cDNA and Gene from Japanese Flounder *Paralychthys olivaceus*. Journal of Immunology. 165(8):4423–4427. doi:https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.165.8.4423.

Irshath AA, Rajan AP, Vimal S, Prabhakaran V-S, Ganesan R. 2023. Bacterial Pathogenesis in Various Fish Diseases: Recent Advances and Specific Challenges in Vaccine Development. Vaccines. 11(2):470. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines11020470.

Italiani P, Boraschi D. 2014. From Monocytes to M1/M2 Macrophages: Phenotypical vs. Functional Differentiation. Frontiers in Immunology. 5. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00514.

Iyer SS, Cheng G. 2012. Role of Interleukin 10 Transcriptional Regulation in Inflammation and Autoimmune Disease. Critical Reviews in Immunology. 32(1):23–63. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3410706/.

Jagadeeswaran P, Lin S, Weinstein B, Hutson A, Kim S. 2010. Loss of GATA1 and gain of FLI1 expression during thrombocyte maturation. Blood Cells, Molecules, and Diseases. 44(3):175–180. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcmd.2009.12.012.

Jagadeeswaran P, Sheehan JP, Craig FE, Troyer D. 1999. Identification and characterization of zebrafish thrombocytes. British Journal of Haematology. 107(4):731–738. doi:https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2141.1999.01763.x.

Janda JM, Abbott SL. 1998. Evolving Concepts Regarding the GenusAeromonas: An Expanding Panorama of Species, Disease Presentations, and Unanswered Questions. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 27(2):332–344. doi:https://doi.org/10.1086/514652.

Janda JM, Abbott SL. 2010. The Genus Aeromonas: Taxonomy, Pathogenicity, and Infection. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. 23(1):35–73. doi:https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00039-09. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2806660/.

Janda JM, Duffey PS. 1988. Mesophilic Aeromonads in Human Disease: Current Taxonomy, Laboratory Identification, and Infectious Disease Spectrum. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 10(5):980–997. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/clinids/10.5.980.

Jang D, Lee A-Hyeon, Shin H-Y, Song H-R, Park J-H, Kang T-B, Lee S-R, Yang S-H. 2021. The Role of Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha (TNF-α) in Autoimmune Disease and Current TNF-α Inhibitors in Therapeutics. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 22(5). doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22052719. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7962638/.

Jensen LL, Wahli T, McGurk C, Tommy Berger Eriksen, Obach A, Rune Waagbø, Handler A, Tafalla C. 2015. Effect of temperature and diet on wound healing in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). Fish Physiology and Biochemistry. 41(6):1527–1543. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-015-0105-2.

Jiang Q, Cross AS, Singh IS, Chen TT, Viscardi RM, Hasday JD. 2000. Febrile Core Temperature Is Essential for Optimal Host Defense in Bacterial Peritonitis. Clements JD, editor. Infection and Immunity. 68(3):1265–1270. doi:https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.68.3.1265-1270.2000.

John Victor Hurley. 1972. Acute Inflammation.

Johnston E. 2019. Molecular Regulation of Collagen Deposition in the Extracellular Matrix of Cultured Ventricular Fibroblasts From Rainbow Trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. [University of Guelph].

Joseph SW, Carnahan A. 1994. The isolation, identification, and systematics of the motile Aeromonas species. Annual Review of Fish Diseases. 4:315–343. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0959-8030(94)90033-7.

Kaattari SL, Piganelli JD. 1996 Jan 1. 5 - The Specific Immune System: Humoral Defense. Iwama G, Nakanishi T, editors. ScienceDirect. 15:207–254. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1546509808602757.

Kaehler S, Marsik C, Heinisch B, Thallinger C, Sauermann R, Kazemi-Shirazi L, Wagner O, Joukhadar C. 2007. S-Ibuprofen Effectively Inhibits Thromboxane B2 Levels and Platelet Function in an Experimental Model of Lipopolysaccharide-Stimulated and Non-Stimulated Whole Blood. Pharmacology. 81(2):181–186. doi:https://doi.org/10.1159/000111759. https://karger.com/pha/article-abstract/81/2/181/271646/S-Ibuprofen-Effectively-Inhibits-Thromboxane-B2.

Katakura F, Katzenback BA, Belosevic M. 2015. Recombinant goldfish thrombopoietin upregulates expression of genes involved in thrombocyte development and synergizes with kit ligand A to promote progenitor cell proliferation and colony formation. Developmental & Comparative Immunology. 49(1):157–169. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2014.11.001.

Katzenback BA, Belosevic M. 2009. Isolation and functional characterization of neutrophil-like cells, from goldfish (Carassius auratus L.) kidney. Developmental & Comparative Immunology. 33(4):601–611. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2008.10.011.

Katzenback BA, Katakura F, Belosevic M. 2012. Regulation of Teleost Macrophage and Neutrophil Cell Development by Growth Factors and Transcription Factors. https://www.intechopen.com/chapters/41565.

Katzenback BA, Katakura F, Belosevic M. 2016. Goldfish (Carassius auratus L.) as a model system to study the growth factors, receptors and transcription factors that govern myelopoiesis in fish. Developmental & Comparative Immunology. 58:68–85. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2015.10.024.

Kaushansky K. 2005. The molecular mechanisms that control thrombopoiesis. Journal of Clinical Investigation. 115(12):3339–3347. doi:https://doi.org/10.1172/jci26674.

Kelemen E, Cserhati I, Tanos B. 1958. Demonstration and some properties of human thrombopoietin in thrombocythaemic sera. Acta Haematologica. 20(6):350–355. doi:https://doi.org/10.1159/000205503. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/13616931/.

Khandekar G, Kim S, Jagadeeswaran P. 2012. Zebrafish Thrombocytes: Functions and Origins. Advances in Hematology. 2012:1–9. doi:https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/857058.

Kim CH, Leong J-A. 1999. Fish Viruses. Encyclopedia of Virology.:558–568. doi:https://doi.org/10.1006/rwvi.1999.0100. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7150153/.

Kirov SM, Tassell BC, Semmler ABT, O'Donovan LA, Rabaan AA, Shaw JG. 2002. Lateral Flagella and Swarming Motility in Aeromonas Species. Journal of Bacteriology. 184(2):547–555. doi:https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.184.2.547-555.2002.

Klein U, Dalla-Favera R. 2008. Germinal centres: role in B-cell physiology and malignancy. Nature Reviews Immunology. 8(1):22–33. doi:https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2217.

Kluger MJ. 1979. Phylogeny of fever. Federation Proceedings. 38(1):30–34. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/759235/.

Köllner B, Kotterba G. 2002. Temperature dependent activation of leucocyte populations of rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss, after intraperitoneal immunisation with Aeromonas salmonicida. Fish & Shellfish Immunology. 12(1):35–48. doi:https://doi.org/10.1006/fsim.2001.0352.

Kordon AO, Karsi A, Pinchuk L. 2018. Innate Immune Responses in Fish: Antigen Presenting Cells and Professional Phagocytes. Turkish Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 18(9):1123–1139. https://www.trjfas.org/abstract.php?lang=en&id=1318.

Krafts KP. 2010. Tissue repair. Organogenesis. 6(4):225–233. doi:https://doi.org/10.4161/org.6.4.12555. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3055648/.

Kral JB, Schrottmaier WC, Salzmann M, Assinger A. 2016. Platelet Interaction with Innate Immune Cells. Transfusion Medicine and Hemotherapy. 43(2):78–88. doi:https://doi.org/10.1159/000444807. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4872052/ Krischak GD, Augat P, Claes L, Kinzl L, Beck A. 2007. The effects of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drug application on incisional wound healing in rats. Journal of Wound Care. 16(2):76–78. doi:https://doi.org/10.12968/jowc.2007.16.2.27001. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17319622/.

Ksenija Aksentijević, Radalj A, Maja Markovič, Miloš Lazarević, Dušan Palić. 2023. Effects of Transport and Holding Stress on Prussian Carp (*Carassius gibelio*, Bloch, 1782.) Leukogram Pattern. Acta Veterinaria-beograd. 73(2):179–194. doi:https://doi.org/10.2478/acve-2023-0014.

Labocha MK, Hayes JP. 2008 Jan 1. Endotherm. Jørgensen SE, Fath BD, editors. ScienceDirect.:1270–1276. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/B9780080454054004882.

Laing KJ, Wang T, Zou J, Holland J, Hong S, Bols N, Hirono I, Aoki T, Secombes CJ. 2001. Cloning and expression analysis of rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* tumour necrosis factorα. European Journal of Biochemistry. 268(5):1315–1322. doi:https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1432-1327.2001.01996.x.

Lam FW, Vijayan KV, Rumbaut RE. 2015. Platelets and their interactions with other immune cells. Comprehensive Physiology. 5(3):1265–1280. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c140074. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4510953

Lambeth JD, Kawahara T, Diebold B. 2007. Regulation of Nox and Duox enzymatic activity and expression. Free Radical Biology and Medicine. 43(3):319–331. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2007.03.028. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0891584907002237.

Landén NX, Li D, Ståhle M. 2016. Transition from inflammation to proliferation: a critical step during wound healing. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences. 73(20):3861–3885. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-016-2268-0. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5021733

Large A, Helnbecker P. 1944. The effect of cooling on wound healing. Annals of Surgery. 120(5):727–741. doi:https://doi.org/10.1097/00000658-194411000-00005.

Lee C-T, Kokolus KM, Leigh ND, Capitano ML, Hylander BL, Repasky EA. 2015. Defining Immunological Impact and Therapeutic Benefit of Mild Heating in a Murine Model of Arthritis. PLOS ONE. 10(3):e0120327–e0120327. doi:https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0120327.

Lee C-T, Zhong L, Mace TA, Repasky EA. 2012. Elevation in Body Temperature to Fever Range Enhances and Prolongs Subsequent Responsiveness of Macrophages to Endotoxin Challenge. PLoS ONE. 7(1). doi:https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0030077. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3254634/.

Levin J. 2019 Jan 1. 1 - The Evolution of Mammalian Platelets. Michelson AD, editor. ScienceDirect.:1–23. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/B9780128134566000011.

Li X, Yan Y, Zhou X, Huang C, Wu M. 2015. Atg7 Enhances Host Defense against Infection via Downregulation of Superoxide but Upregulation of Nitric Oxide. Journal of Immunology. 194(3):1112–1121. doi:https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1401958.

Lievens D, Kramp B, Hundelshausen P von, Lutgens E, Weber C, Döring Y, Hartwig H, Drechsler M, Soehnlein O. 2014. Platelet-derived PF4 reduces neutrophil apoptosis following arterial occlusion. Thrombosis and Haemostasis. 111(03):562–564. doi:https://doi.org/10.1160/th13-08-0699.

Litvak KM, McEvoy GK. 1990. Ketorolac, an injectable nonnarcotic analgesic. Clinical pharmacy. 9(12):921–935. https://europepmc.org/article/med/2292174.

Lopez-Castejon G, Brough D. 2011. Understanding the mechanism of IL-1β secretion. Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews. 22(4):189–195. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cytogfr.2011.10.001. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3714593/.

Lu X-J, Chen J. 2019. Specific function and modulation of teleost monocytes/macrophages: polarization and phagocytosis. Zoological Research. 40(3):146–150. doi:https://doi.org/10.24272/j.issn.2095-8137.2019.035.

Luo J, Chen AF. 2005. Nitric oxide: a newly discovered function on wound healing. Acta Pharmacologica Sinica. 26(3):259–264. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-7254.2005.00058.x. https://www.nature.com/articles/aps200541.

Mahmoodi AN, Kim PY. 2020. Ketorolac. PubMed. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK545172/.

Martins ML, Xu DH, Shoemaker CA, Klesius PH. 2011. Temperature effects on immune response and hematological parameters of channel catfish Ictalurus punctatus vaccinated with live theronts of Ichthyophthirius multifiliis. Fish & Shellfish Immunology. 31(6):774–780. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2011.07.015.

Mathew-Steiner SS, Roy S, Sen CK. 2021. Collagen in Wound Healing. Bioengineering. 8(5):63. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/bioengineering8050063. https://www.mdpi.com/2306-5354/8/5/63.

Maurer-Spurej E, Pfeiler G, Maurer N, Lindner H, Glatter O, Devine DV. 2001. Room Temperature Activates Human Blood Platelets. Laboratory Investigation. 81(4):581–592. doi:https://doi.org/10.1038/labinvest.3780267. Mawdesley-Thomas LE. 1969. Furunculosis in the Goldfish Carassius auratus (L.). Journal of Fish Biology. 1(1):19–23. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1969.tb03840.x.

Medzhitov R. 2010. Inflammation 2010: New Adventures of an Old Flame. Cell. 140(6):771–776. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.03.006. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0092867410002424.

Mendonca H, Arkush K. 2004. Development of PCR-based methods for detection of Sphaerothecum destruens in fish tissues. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms. 61:187–197. doi:https://doi.org/10.3354/dao061187.

Merck & Co. 2024. Parasitic Diseases of Fish - Exotic and Laboratory Animals. Merck Veterinary Manual. https://www.merckvetmanual.com/exotic-and-laboratory-animals/aquarium-fish/parasitic-diseases-of-fish.

Michèle Souyri, Vigon I, Jean-François Penciolelli, Heard J-M, Tambourin P, Wendling F. 1990. A putative truncated cytokine receptor gene transduced by the myeloproliferative leukemia virus immortalizes hematopoietic progenitors. Cell. 63(6):1137–1147. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(90)90410-g.

Miner J, Hoffhines A. 2007. The discovery of aspirin's antithrombotic effects. Texas Heart Institute journal. 34(2):179–86. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1894700

Monteith AJ, Miller JM, Maxwell CN, Chazin WJ, Skaar EP. 2021. Neutrophil extracellular traps enhance macrophage killing of bacterial pathogens. Science Advances. 7(37). doi:https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abj2101. https://doi.org/10.1126%2Fsciadv.abj2101.

Morel F, Doussiere J, Vignais PV. 1991. The superoxide-generating oxidase of phagocytic cells. Physiological, molecular and pathological aspects. European Journal of Biochemistry. 201(3):523–546. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-1033.1991.tb16312.x.

Mulia DS, Pratiwi R, Asmara W, Azzam-Sayuti M, Yasin ISM, Isnansetyo A. 2023. Isolation, genetic characterization, and virulence profiling of different Aeromonas species recovered from moribund hybrid catfish (Clarias spp.). Veterinary World. 16(9):1974–1984. doi:https://doi.org/10.14202/vetworld.2023.1974-1984. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37859968/.

Naeim F, Nagesh Rao P, Song SX, Phan RT. 2018 Jan 1. Chapter 2 - Principles of Immunophenotyping. Naeim F, Nagesh Rao P, Song SX, Phan RT, editors. ScienceDirect.:29– 56. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/B9780128098431000024. Nagasawa T, Chihaya Nakayasu, Rieger AM, Barreda DR, Tomonori Somamoto, Nakao M. 2014. Phagocytosis by Thrombocytes is a Conserved Innate Immune Mechanism in Lower Vertebrates. Frontiers in Immunology. 5. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00445.

Nathan C, Ding A. 2010. Nonresolving Inflammation. Cell. 140(6):871–882. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.029.

Neumann NF, Barreda D, Belosevic M. 1998. Production of a macrophage growth factor(s) by a goldfish macrophage cell line and macrophages derived from goldfish kidney leukocytes. Developmental & Comparative Immunology. 22(4):417–432. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/s0145-305x(98)00023-8.

Neumann NF, Barreda DR, Belosevic M. 2000. Generation and functional analysis of distinct macrophage sub-populations from goldfish (Carassius auratus L.) kidney leukocyte cultures. Fish & Shellfish Immunology. 10(1):1–20. doi:https://doi.org/10.1006/fsim.1999.0221.

Nieswandt B, Pleines I, Bender M. 2011. Platelet adhesion and activation mechanisms in arterial thrombosis and ischaemic stroke. Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis. 9:92–104. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1538-7836.2011.04361.x.

Novoa B, Bowman TV, Zon L, Figueras A. 2009. LPS response and tolerance in the zebrafish (Danio rerio). Fish & Shellfish Immunology. 26(2):326–331. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2008.12.004.

Ohashi K, Takizawa F, Tokumaru N, Nakayasu C, Toda H, Fischer U, Moritomo T, Hashimoto K, Nakanishi T, Dijkstra JM. 2010. A molecule in teleost fish, related with human MHCencoded G6F, has a cytoplasmic tail with ITAM and marks the surface of thrombocytes and in some fishes also of erythrocytes. Immunogenetics. 62(8):543–559. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s00251-010-0460-1.

Ohno N. 2007 Jan 1. 2.17 - Yeast and Fungal Polysaccharides. Kamerling H, editor. ScienceDirect.:559–577. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/B978044451967200132X?via%3Dihub.

Parameswaran N, Patial S. 2010. Tumor necrosis factor-α signaling in macrophages. Critical reviews in eukaryotic gene expression. 20(2):87–103. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3066460/.

Parihar A, Eubank TD, Doseff AI. 2010. Monocytes and Macrophages Regulate Immunity through Dynamic Networks of Survival and Cell Death. Journal of Innate Immunity. 2(3):204–215. doi:https://doi.org/10.1159/000296507.

Peddie S, Zou J, Cunningham C, Secombes CJ. 2001. Rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) recombinant IL-1β and derived peptides induce migration of head-kidney leucocytes in vitro. Fish & Shellfish Immunology. 11(8):697–709. doi:https://doi.org/10.1006/fsim.2001.0348.

Pendyala S, Natarajan V. 2010. Redox regulation of Nox proteins. Respiratory Physiology & Neurobiology. 174(3):265–271. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resp.2010.09.016.

Periayah MH, Halim AS, Mat Saad AZ. 2017. Mechanism Action of Platelets and Crucial Blood Coagulation Pathways in Hemostasis. International Journal of hematology-oncology and Stem Cell Research. 11(4):319–327. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5767294/.

Pettersen EF, Bjørløw I, Hagland TJ, Wergeland HI. 2005. Effect of seawater temperature on leucocyte populations in Atlantic salmon post-smolts. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology. 106(1-2):65–76. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2005.01.001.

Piccioli P, Rubartelli A. 2013. The secretion of IL-1 β and options for release. Seminars in Immunology. 25(6):425–429. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smim.2013.10.007.

Pietretti D, Vera-Jimenez NI, Hoole D, Wiegertjes GF. 2013. Oxidative burst and nitric oxide responses in carp macrophages induced by zymosan, MacroGard® and selective dectin-1 agonists suggest recognition by multiple pattern recognition receptors. Fish & Shellfish Immunology. 35(3):847–857. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2013.06.022.

Pils V, Terlecki-Zaniewicz L, Schosserer M, Grillari J, Lämmermann I. 2021. The role of lipidbased signalling in wound healing and senescence. Mechanisms of Ageing and Development. 198:111527. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mad.2021.111527.

Pircher J, Merkle M, Wörnle M, Ribeiro A, Czermak T, Stampnik Y, Mannell H, Niemeyer M, Vielhauer V, Krötz F. 2012. Prothrombotic effects of tumor necrosis factor alpha in vivo are amplified by the absence of TNF-alpha receptor subtype 1 and require TNF-alpha receptor subtype 2. Arthritis Research & Therapy. 14(5):R225. doi:https://doi.org/10.1186/ar4064.

Pitchford SC, Yano H, Lever R, Riffo-Vasquez Y, Ciferri S, Rose MJ, Giannini S, Momi S, Spina D, O'Connor B, et al. 2003. Platelets are essential for leukocyte recruitment in allergic inflammation. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. 112(1):109–118. doi:https://doi.org/10.1067/mai.2003.1514.

Plikus MV, Wang X, Sinha S, Forte E, Thompson SM, Herzog EL, Driskell RR, Rosenthal N, Biernaskie J, Horsley V. 2021. Fibroblasts: Origins, definitions, and functions in health and disease. Cell. 184(15):3852–3872. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2021.06.024.

Pogorelov VM, Beskorovainova VJu, Chanieva MI, Dyagileva OA, Naumova IN, Skedina MA. 2011. Periodic acid-Schiff (PAS) staining of immature platelets in donors. Platelets. 23(1):51–59. doi:https://doi.org/10.3109/09537104.2011.589015.

Prajitha N, Athira S, Mohanan P. 2019. Comprehensive biology of antipyretic pathways. Cytokine. 116:120–127. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2019.01.008.

Prasad K, Winter J, Bhat UM, Acharya RV, Prabhu GK. 2012. Image Analysis Approach for Development of a Decision Support System for Detection of Malaria Parasites in Thin Blood Smear Images. Journal of Digital Imaging. 25(4):542–549. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s10278-011-9442-6. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3389088/.

Raineri-Gerber I, von Felten A. 1991. [Inhibition of thrombocyte function by non-steroidal antirheumatic agents: a comparative study between diclofenac, acemetacin, mefenamic acid and ibuprofen]. Schweizerische medizinische Wochenschrift. 121(21):783–787. https://europepmc.org/article/med/1905422.

Rakus K, Ronsmans M, Vanderplasschen A. 2017. Behavioral fever in ectothermic vertebrates. Developmental & Comparative Immunology. 66:84–91. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2016.06.027. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0145305X16302178.

Reynolds WW. 1977. Fever and antipyresis in the bluegill sunfish, Lepomis Macrochirus. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Comparative Pharmacology. 57(2):165–167. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4492(77)90065-x.

Ribatti D, Crivellato E. 2007. Giulio Bizzozero and the discovery of platelets. Leukemia Research. 31(10):1339–1341. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leukres.2007.02.008. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17383722.

Ricciotti E, FitzGerald GA. 2011. Prostaglandins and Inflammation. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology. 31(5):986–1000. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3081099/.

Rice P, Martin E, He J-R, Frank M, DeTolla L, Hester L, O'Neill T, Manka C, Benjamin I, Nagarsekar A, et al. 2005. Febrile-Range Hyperthermia Augments Neutrophil Accumulation and Enhances Lung Injury in Experimental Gram-Negative Bacterial Pneumonia. The Journal of Immunology. 174(6):3676–3685. doi:https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.174.6.3676.

Rieger AM, Hanington PC, Belosevic M, Barreda DR. 2014. Control of CSF-1 induced inflammation in teleost fish by a soluble form of the CSF-1 receptor. Fish & Shellfish Immunology. 41(1):45–51. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2014.03.035. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1050464814001053.

Rieger AM, Konowalchuk JD, Grayfer L, Katzenback BA, Havixbeck JJ, Kiemele MD, Belosevic M, Barreda DR. 2012. Fish and Mammalian Phagocytes Differentially Regulate Pro-Inflammatory and Homeostatic Responses In Vivo. Bereswill S, editor. PLoS ONE. 7(10):e47070. doi:https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0047070.

Roth J, Blatteis CM. 2014. Mechanisms of fever production and lysis: lessons from experimental LPS fever. Comprehensive Physiology. 4(4):1563–604. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c130033. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25428854.

Rumbaut RE, Thiagarajan P. 2010. Platelet Aggregation. Morgan & Claypool Life Sciences. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK53449/.

Ryter SW, Kim HP, Hoetzel A, Park JW, Nakahira K, Wang X, Choi AMK. 2007. Mechanisms of cell death in oxidative stress. Antioxidants & Redox Signaling. 9(1):49–89. doi:https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2007.9.49. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17115887.

Sadik CD, Kim ND, Luster AD. 2011. Neutrophils cascading their way to inflammation. Trends in Immunology. 32(10):452–460. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2011.06.008.

Saeij JPJ, Stet RJM, de Vries BJ, van Muiswinkel WB, Wiegertjes GF. 2003. Molecular and functional characterization of carp TNF: a link between TNF polymorphism and trypanotolerance? Developmental and Comparative Immunology. 27(1):29–41. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/s0145-305x(02)00064-2. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12477499/.

Sajadi MM, Bonabi R, Sajadi M-R . M, Mackowiak PA. 2012. Akhawayni and the First Fever Curve. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 55(7):976–980. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cis596.

Sanjay Kumar Jain. 1994. Ibuprofen-induced thrombocytopenia. International Journal of Clinical Practice. 48(1):51–51. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-1241.1994.tb09745.x.

Sato M, Sano H, Iwaki D, Kudo K, Konishi M, Takahashi H, Takahashi T, Imaizumi H, Asai Y, Kuroki Y. 2003. Direct Binding of Toll-Like Receptor 2 to Zymosan, and Zymosan-Induced NF- κ B Activation and TNF- α Secretion Are Down-Regulated by Lung Collectin Surfactant Protein A. The Journal of Immunology. 171(1):417–425. doi:https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.171.1.417.

Scharsack JP, Franke F. 2022. Temperature effects on teleost immunity in the light of climate change. Journal of Fish Biology. 101(4):780–796. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.15163.

Schultz GS, Chin GA, Moldawer L, Diegelmann RF. 2011. Principles of Wound Healing. Fitridge R, Thompson M, editors. PubMed. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK534261/. Schwentker A, Vodovotz Y, Weller R, Billiar TR. 2002. Nitric oxide and wound repair: role of cytokines? Nitric Oxide. 7(1):1–10. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/s1089-8603(02)00002-2.

Serhan CN, Gupta SK, Perretti M, Godson C, Brennan E, Li Y, Soehnlein O, Shimizu T, Werz O, Chiurchiù V, et al. 2020. The Atlas of Inflammation Resolution (AIR). Molecular Aspects of Medicine. 74:100894. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2020.100894.

Sha J, Kozlova EV, Chopra AK. 2002. Role of Various Enterotoxins in *Aeromonas hydrophila*-Induced Gastroenteritis: Generation of Enterotoxin Gene-Deficient Mutants and Evaluation of Their Enterotoxic Activity. Infection and Immunity. 70(4):1924–1935. doi:https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.70.4.1924-1935.2002.

Shi C, Pamer EG. 2011. Monocyte recruitment during infection and inflammation. Nature Reviews Immunology. 11(11):762–774. doi:https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3070.

Shouval DS, Ouahed J, Biswas A, Goettel JA, Horwitz BH, Klein C, Muise AM, Snapper SB. 2014. Interleukin 10 Receptor Signaling: Master Regulator of Intestinal Mucosal Homeostasis in Mice and Humans. Advances in immunology. 122:177–210. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800267-4.00005-5. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4741283/.

Smith WL, DeWitt DL, Garavito RM. 2000. Cyclooxygenases: Structural, Cellular, and Molecular Biology. Annual Review of Biochemistry. 69(1):145–182. doi:https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.69.1.145. https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/752c/9501216b9514bf24e7cf09e9657fdb550b94.pdf.

Soliman AM, Barreda DR. 2023. The acute inflammatory response of teleost fish. Developmental & Comparative Immunology. 146:104731. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2023.104731. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0145305X23001015?via%3Dihub.

Soliman AM, Yoon T, Wang J, Stafford JL, Barreda DR. 2021. Isolation of Skin Leukocytes Uncovers Phagocyte Inflammatory Responses During Induction and Resolution of Cutaneous Inflammation in Fish. Frontiers in Immunology. 12. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.725063.

Søren Saxmose Nielsen, Álvarez J, Bicout D, Paolo Calistri, Canali E, Julian Ashley Drewe, Garin-Bastuji B, Gonzales L, Smith C, Herskin MS, et al. 2023. Species which may act as vectors or reservoirs of diseases covered by the Animal Health Law: Listed pathogens of fish. EFSA Journal. 21(8). doi:https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2023.8174. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC10392593/.

Sorrentino S, Studt J-D, Horev MB, Medalia O, Sapra KT. 2016. Toward correlating structure and mechanics of platelets. Cell Adhesion & Migration. 10(5):568–575. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/19336918.2016.1173803.

Stosik M, Tokarz-Deptuła B, Deptuła W. 2019. Characterisation of thrombocytes in Osteichthyes. Journal of Veterinary Research. 63(1):123–131. doi:https://doi.org/10.2478/jvetres-2019-0017.

Su W-H, Cheng M-H, Lee W-L, Tsou T-S, Chang W-H, Chen C-S, Wang P-H. 2010. Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs for Wounds: Pain Relief or Excessive Scar Formation? Mediators of Inflammation. 2010:1–8. doi:https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/413238.

Sugimoto MA, Sousa LP, Pinho V, Perretti M, Teixeira MM. 2016. Resolution of Inflammation: What Controls Its Onset? Frontiers in Immunology. 7(160). doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2016.00160. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4845539/.

Takada Y, Sato EF, Nakajima T, Hosono M, Tsumura M, Inoue M, Yamada R. 2000. Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor enhances anti-tumour effect of hyperthermia. International Journal of Hyperthermia: The Official Journal of European Society for Hyperthermic Oncology, North American Hyperthermia Group. 16(3):275–286. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/026567300285286. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10830589/.

Tauber AI. 2003. Metchnikoff and the phagocytosis theory. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology. 4(11):897–901. doi:https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm1244. https://www.nature.com/articles/nrm1244.

Tavares-Dias M, Ragonha S. 2009. A review of the blood coagulation system of fish. Revista Brasileira de Biociências. 7(2).

Tavares-Dias M, Ruas F. 2007. Leukocyte and thrombocyte reference values for channel catfish (Ictalurus punctatus Raf), with an assessment of morphologic, cytochemical, and ultrastructural features. Veterinary Clinical Pathology. 36(1):49–54. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-165x.2007.tb00181.x.

Terrien J, Perret M, Aujard F. 2011. Behavioral thermoregulation in mammals: a review. Frontiers in bioscience (Landmark edition). 16:1428–44. doi:https://doi.org/10.2741/3797. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21196240.

Thattaliyath B, Cykowski M, Jagadeeswaran P. 2005. Young thrombocytes initiate the formation of arterial thrombi in zebrafish. Blood. 106(1):118–124. doi:https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2004-10-4118.

Thompson MR, Kaminski JJ, Kurt-Jones EA, Fitzgerald KA. 2011. Pattern Recognition Receptors and the Innate Immune Response to Viral Infection. Viruses. 3(6):920–940. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/v3060920.

Tomaiuolo M, Brass LF, Stalker TJ. 2017. Regulation of Platelet Activation and Coagulation and Its Role in Vascular Injury and Arterial Thrombosis. Interventional Cardiology Clinics. 6(1):1–12. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iccl.2016.08.001. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5154246/.

Tomás JM. 2012. The Main Aeromonas Pathogenic Factors. ISRN Microbiology. 2012:1–22. doi:https://doi.org/10.5402/2012/256261.

Tzavlaki K, Moustakas A. 2020. TGF-β Signaling. Biomolecules. 10(3):487. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10030487.

Umashankar T, Thomas BM, Sahana P. 2014. Estimation of platelet count in unstained peripheral blood smears in comparison with stained smears and evaluation of its efficacy. The Malaysian Journal of Pathology. 36(3):195–199. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25500519/.

Underhill DM, Rossnagle E, Lowell CA, Simmons RM. 2005. Dectin-1 activates Syk tyrosine kinase in a dynamic subset of macrophages for reactive oxygen production. 106(7):2543–2550. doi:https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-03-1239.

Uribe C, Folch H, Enriquez R, Moran G. 2011. Innate and adaptive immunity in teleost fish: a review. Veterinární Medicína. 56(No. 10):486–503. doi:https://doi.org/10.17221/3294-vetmed.

Vacha ME, Huang W, Mando-Vandrick J. 2015. The Role of Subcutaneous Ketorolac for Pain Management. Hospital Pharmacy. 50(2):108–112. doi:https://doi.org/10.1310/hpj5002-108.

van Staveren S, ten Haaf T, Klöpping M, Hilvering B, Tinnevelt GH, de Ruiter K, Piacentini MF, Roelands B, Meeusen R, de Koning JJ, et al. 2018. Multi-dimensional flow cytometry analysis reveals increasing changes in the systemic neutrophil compartment during seven consecutive days of endurance exercise. Gaggar A, editor. Plos One. 13(10):e0206175. doi:https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0206175.

Vianello F, Vettore S, Tezza F, De Toni L, Scandellari R, Sambado L, Treleani M, Fabris F. 2014. Serum thrombopoietin and cMpl expression in thrombocytopenia of different etiologies. Hematology Reports. 6(1). doi:https://doi.org/10.4081/hr.2014.4996.

Vigon I, Mornon JP, Cocault L, Mitjavila MT, Tambourin P, Gisselbrecht S, Souyri M. 1992. Molecular cloning and characterization of MPL, the human homolog of the v-mpl oncogene: identification of a member of the hematopoietic growth factor receptor superfamily. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 89(12):5640–5644. doi:https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.89.12.5640.

Voßhenrich CAJ, Di Santo JP. 2002. Interleukin signaling. Current Biology. 12(22):R760–R763. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/s0960-9822(02)01286-1.

Wafer LN, Whitney JC, Jensen VB. 2015. Fish Lice (Argulus japonicus) in Goldfish (Carassius auratus). Comparative medicine. 65(2):93–5. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4408894

Wallace HA, Zito PM, Basehore BM. 2019 Jan 19. Wound Healing Phases. Nihgov. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK470443/.

Walter EJ, Hanna-Jumma S, Carraretto M, Forni L. 2016. The Pathophysiological Basis and Consequences of Fever. Critical Care. 20(1). https://ccforum.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s13054-016-1375-5.

Wang X, Wu Z, Wu S, Chen X, Hanif M, Zhang S. 2021. Hematological and cytochemical characteristics of peripheral blood cells in the argus snakehead (*Ophiocephalus argus* Cantor). PeerJ. 9:e11234. doi:https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.11234.

Wang X, Yang X, Wen C, Gao Y, Qin L, Zhang S, Zhang A, Yang K, Zhou H. 2016. Grass carp TGF-β1 impairs IL-1β signaling in the inflammatory responses: Evidence for the potential of TGF-β1 to antagonize inflammation in fish. Developmental & Comparative Immunology. 59:121–127. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2016.01.018.

Watanabe S, Alexander M, Misharin AV, Budinger GRS. 2019. The role of macrophages in the resolution of inflammation. The Journal of Clinical Investigation. 129(7):2619–2628. doi:https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI124615. https://www.jci.org/articles/view/124615.

Watson LJ, Shechmeister IL, Jackson LL. 1963. The Hematology of Goldfish, Carassius auratus. Cytologia. 28(2):118–130. doi:https://doi.org/10.1508/cytologia.28.118. https://www.jstage.jst.go.jp/article/cytologia1929/28/2/28_2_118/_pdf.

Weitzman Matthew D, Weitzman Jonathan B. 2014. What's the Damage? The Impact of Pathogens on Pathways that Maintain Host Genome Integrity. Cell Host & Microbe. 15(3):283–294. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2014.02.010.

Windberger U, Dibiasi C, Lotz EM, Scharbert G, Reinbacher-Koestinger A, Ivanov I, Ploszczanski L, Antonova N, Lichtenegger H. 2020. The effect of hematocrit, fibrinogen concentration and temperature on the kinetics of clot formation of whole blood. Clinical Hemorheology and Microcirculation. 75(4):431–445. doi:https://doi.org/10.3233/CH-190799. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32390608 Witeska M, Kondera E, Ługowska K, Bojarski B. 2022. Hematological methods in fish – Not only for beginners. Aquaculture. 547:737498. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2021.737498.

Witte MB, Barbul A. 2002. Role of nitric oxide in wound repair. The American Journal of Surgery. 183(4):406–412. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/s0002-9610(02)00815-2.

Wong M. 2017. Modulatory Effects of Behavioural Fever on the Inflammatory Reactions of Teleost Fish. [University of Alberta]. https://era.library.ualberta.ca/items/091aa64d-0035-424c-9bcc-31ce8f1c9656/view/74de9756-0414-45bc-bdaf-9cb04f202b6e/Wong_Michael_E_201709_MSc.pdf.

Wood JN. 2015. From plant extract to molecular panacea: a commentary on Stone (1763) "An account of the success of the bark of the willow in the cure of the agues." Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. 370(1666):20140317. doi:https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2014.0317.

Wrana JL, Attisano L, Wieser R, Ventura F, Massagué J. 1994. Mechanism of activation of the TGF-beta receptor. Nature. 370(6488):341–347. doi:https://doi.org/10.1038/370341a0. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8047140/.

Wrotek S. 2020. Let fever do its job. Evolution, Medicine, and Public Health. 9(1). doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/emph/eoaa044.

Xue M, Jackson CJ. 2015. Extracellular Matrix Reorganization During Wound Healing and Its Impact on Abnormal Scarring. Advances in wound care. 4(3):119–136. doi:https://doi.org/10.1089/wound.2013.0485. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25785236.

Yang M, Wang X, Chen D, Wang Y, Zhang A, Zhou H. 2012. TGF-β1 Exerts Opposing Effects on Grass Carp Leukocytes: Implication in Teleost Immunity, Receptor Signaling and Potential Self-Regulatory Mechanisms. Lenz LL, editor. PLoS ONE. 7(4):e35011. doi:https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0035011.

Yun S-H, Sim E-H, Goh R-Y, Park J-I, Han J-Y. 2016. Platelet Activation: The Mechanisms and Potential Biomarkers. BioMed Research International. 2016:1–5. doi:https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/9060143. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4925965/.

Zarbock A, Polanowska-Grabowska RK, Ley K. 2007. Platelet-neutrophil-interactions: Linking hemostasis and inflammation. Blood Reviews. 21(2):99–111. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.blre.2006.06.001.

Zhang Y, Ou M-Y, Yang Z, Sun Y, Li Q, Zhou S-B. 2023. Adipose tissue aging is regulated by an altered immune system. Frontiers in Immunology. 14. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1125395.

Zhao-Fleming H, Hand A, Zhang K, Polak R, Northcut A, Jacob D, Dissanaike S, Rumbaugh KP. 2018. Effect of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs on post-surgical complications against the backdrop of the opioid crisis. Burns & Trauma. 6(1). doi:https://doi.org/10.1186/s41038-018-0128-x. https://burnstrauma.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s41038-018-0128-x.

Zheng S, Long J, Liu Z, Tao W, Wang D. 2018. Identification and Evolution of TGF-β Signaling Pathway Members in Twenty-Four Animal Species and Expression in Tilapia. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 19(4):1154–1154. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19041154. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5979292/.

Zou J, Secombes C. 2016. The Function of Fish Cytokines. Biology. 5(2):23. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/biology5020023.